
 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



                                  UNITED STATES
                       SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
                             Washington, D.C. 20549

                                    FORM 8-K

                                 CURRENT REPORT
                       PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
                       THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

       Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): December 29, 2005

                                    Digicorp
             (Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

            Utah                      000-33067             87-0398271
(State or Other Jurisdiction       (Commission File      (I.R.S. Employer
  of Incorporation)                    Number)        Identification Number)

                  4143 Glencoe Avenue, Marina Del Rey, CA 90292
                  (Address of principal executive offices) (zip code)

                                 (310) 728-1450
              (Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

              100 Wilshire Blvd., Ste. 1750, Santa Monica, CA 90401
          (Former name or former address, if changed since last report)

                                   Copies to:
                               Marc J. Ross, Esq.
                       Sichenzia Ross Friedman Ference LLP
                           1065 Avenue of the Americas
                            New York, New York 10018
                              Phone: (212) 930-9700
                               Fax: (212) 930-9725

Check  the  appropriate  box  below  if the  Form  8-K  filing  is  intended  to
simultaneously  satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the
following provisions (see General Instruction A.2. below):

|_|   Written  communications  pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17
      CFR 230.425)
|_|   Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR
      240.14a-12)
|_|   Pre-commencement  communications  pursuant  to  Rule  14d-2(b)  under  the
      Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))
|_|   Pre-commencement  communications  pursuant  to  Rule  13e-4(c)  under  the
      Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))

This Current Report responds to the following items on Form 8-K:

Item 1.01  Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.
Item 2.01  Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets.
Item 2.03 Creation of a Direct Financial Obligation or an Obligation under an
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangement of a Registrant. Item 3.02 Unregistered Sales of
Equity Securities.
Item 5.01  Changes in Control of Registrant.
Item 5.02 Departure of Directors or Principal  Officers;  Election of Directors;
Appointment of Principal Officers.
Item 5.03 Amendments to Articles of  Incorporation  or Bylaws;  Change in Fiscal
Year.
Item 5.06  Change in Shell Company Status.
Item 9.01  Financial Statements and Exhibits.

ENTRY IN A MATERIAL DEFINITIVE  AGREEMENT;  COMPLETION OF ACQUISITION OF ASSETS;
CREATION  OF  A  DIRECT  FINANCIAL  OBLIGATION;  UNREGISTERED  SALES  OF  EQUITY
SECURITIES;  CHANGE IN CONTROL OF REGISTRANT;  CHANGE IN FISCAL YEAR;  CHANGE IN
SHELL COMPANY STATUS

      In a Form 8-K of Digicorp (the  "Company")  dated  December 20, 2005,  the
Company reported that it entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement to acquire (the
"Acquisition")  all of the issued and  outstanding  capital  stock of Rebel Crew
Films, Inc. a California corporation ("Rebel Crew Films"). On December 29, 2005,
the transaction  closed and the Company  completed the acquisition of Rebel Crew
Films. In connection with the  Acquisition,  the Company changed its fiscal year
from June 30 to December 31.

      The  Company  issued  21,207,080  shares of common  stock  (the  "Purchase
Price") to the  shareholders of Rebel Crew Films as compensation  for the issued
and  outstanding  capital  stock of Rebel Crew Films.  From the Purchase  Price,
4,000,000 shares are held in escrow pending  satisfaction of certain performance
milestones.  In addition, from the Purchase Price, 16,666,667 shares are subject
to lock up  agreements as follows:  (a)  3,333,333  shares are subject to lockup
agreements for one year; (b) 6,666,667  shares are subject to lockup  agreements
for two years; and (c) 6,666,667 shares, of which the 4,000,000  escrowed shares
are a component,  are subject to lockup agreements for three years. The issuance
of  the  foregoing   shares  of  common  stock  was  exempt  from   registration
requirements  pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the "Securities Act"), and Rule 506 promulgated thereunder.

      In addition,  on December  29, 2005 the Company  entered into a Securities
Purchase  Agreement  with one of the  shareholders  of Rebel Crew  Films,  Rebel
Holdings,  LLC, pursuant to which the Company purchased a $556,306.53  principal
amount  loan  receivable  owed by Rebel  Crew  Films to Rebel  Holdings,  LLC in
exchange for the issuance of a $556,306.53  principal amount secured convertible
note to Rebel  Holdings,  LLC.  The  secured  convertible  note  accrues  simple



interest at the rate of 4.5%, matures on December 29, 2010 and is secured by all
of the Company's assets now owned or hereafter acquired. The secured convertible
note is  convertible  into 500,000  shares of common stock of the Company at the
rate of $1.112614 per share. Jay Rifkin,  the Company's  present Chief Executive
Officer and a Director  Nominee of the Company,  is the sole managing  member of
Rebel Holdings,  LLC. The issuance of the foregoing secured convertible note was
exempt from registration requirements pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities
Act and Rule 506 promulgated thereunder.

      The Company agreed to prepare and file a  registration  statement with the
Securities  and  Exchange  Commission  registering  the  resale  of  the  shares
comprising  the Purchase  Price and the shares  issuable upon  conversion of the
secured convertible note no later than March 29, 2006.

      In  connection  with  the  Acquisition,   Jay  Rifkin  and  certain  other
shareholders  of the Company  entered into a voting  agreement  authorizing  Mr.
Rifkin to vote the shares of the Company's common stock owned by such parties to
designate or elect a simple majority of the Company's Board of Directors, one of
whom will be Mr.  Rifkin,  and to  designate  or elect the  remaining  directors
chosen by Milton "Todd" Ault, III,  former Chairman and Chief Executive  Officer
of the Company.
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      DEPARTURE OF DIRECTORS OR PRINCIPAL OFFICERS; ELECTION OF DIRECTORS;
                        APPOINTMENT OF PRINCIPAL OFFICERS

      Effective  December 29, 2005,  the  following  persons  resigned  from the
indicated  positions as executive officers and/or directors of the Company:  (1)
William B. Horne, Chief Executive Officer; (2) Kathryn Macenzie Queen, President
of  Operations;  (3) Lynne  Silverstein,  Secretary  and  Director;  (4) Melanie
Glazer,  Director and Vice Chairman of the Board of  Directors;  and (5) Darrell
Grimsley,  Jr.,  Director.  Ms.  Glazer  was a  member  of the  Company's  Audit
Committee  at the time of her  resignation.  No other  resigning  director was a
member of any  committee of the  Company's  Board of Directors at the time he or
she resigned.

      The  Company's  Board of Directors  appointed  Jay Rifkin Chief  Executive
Officer of the Company effective as of September 30, 2005, which is the date Mr.
Rifkin began acting as interim President of the Company.

      The Board of Directors  also  nominated  the  following  directors to fill
vacancies  created by the  resignations of Ms.  Silverstein,  Ms. Glazer and Mr.
Grimsley:  Jay  Rifkin,  Alan  Morelli and David M. Kaye.  The Company  plans to
appoint Messrs. Rifkin, Morelli and Kaye to its Board of Directors approximately
ten days after the date the  Company  transmits  to all holders of record of the
Company's  common  stock  information  required by Rule 14f-1 under the Exchange
Act, at which time Mr. Rifkin will serve as Chairman of the  Company's  Board of
Directors.

      Except as described under "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions"
beginning on page 13 of this report,  there has been no  transaction  during the
last two years, or any proposed  transaction,  to which the Company was or is to
be a party,  and in which any of  Messrs.  Rifkin,  Morelli or Kaye had or is to
have a direct or indirect material interest.

      Below  are the names  and  certain  information  regarding  the  Company's
executive officers, directors and director nominees following the Acquisition.

- ----------------------- ------- ------------------------------------------------
Name                    Age     Position
- ----------------------- ------- ------------------------------------------------
Jay Rifkin              50      Chief Executive Officer, Director Nominee
- ----------------------- ------- ------------------------------------------------
William B. Horne        37      Chief Financial Officer and Director
- ----------------------- ------- ------------------------------------------------
Philip Gatch            41      Chief Technology Officer
- ----------------------- ------- ------------------------------------------------
Alice M. Campbell       55      Director
- ----------------------- ------- ------------------------------------------------
Alan Morelli            44      Director Nominee
- ----------------------- ------- ------------------------------------------------
David M. Kaye           51      Director Nominee
- ----------------------- ------- ------------------------------------------------

      Officers are elected  annually by the Board of  Directors  (subject to the
terms of any  employment  agreement),  to hold such  office  until an  officer's
successor has been duly appointed and qualified,  unless an officer sooner dies,
resigns or is removed by the Board.  Some of the Company's  directors,  director
nominees  and  executive  officers  also  serve in various  capacities  with the
Company's  subsidiaries.  There  are no  family  relationships  among any of the
Company's directors, director nominees and executive officers.

Background of Executive Officers and Directors

      Jay Rifkin,  Chief  Executive  Officer  and  Director  Nominee.  Effective
September 30, 2005,  the Board of Directors of the Company  appointed Mr. Rifkin
interim President of the Company pending closing of the Acquisition. On December
29,  2005,  Mr.  Rifkin's  title was changed to Chief  Executive  Officer of the
Company effective as of September 30, 2005. From 2004 to Present, Mr. Rifkin has
been the sole Managing Member of Rebel Holdings,  LLC,  through which he is also
the majority  shareholder of Rebel Crew Films,  Inc. In 1995, Mr. Rifkin founded
Mojo Music, Inc., a music publishing company,  and he has been President of Mojo
Music, Inc. since it was founded.  Mr. Rifkin is Chairman and a founder of Media
Revolution,  a  marketing  agency  founded in 1977 that has  executed  marketing
campaigns  for major  Hollywood  studios.  Mr. Rifkin has served as Producer and
Executive  Producer on various motion  pictures with his most recent  production



"Waiting"  (Lion's Gate) released on October 7, 2005. Mr. Rifkin is also a music
producer,  engineer and songwriter.  Mr. Rifkin received a Grammy Award for Best
Children's Album and an American Music Award for Favorite Pop/Rock Album for his
work on Disney's "The Lion King," and received a Tony  nomination  for "The Lion
King" on Broadway.  From 1988 to 2004,  Mr.  Rifkin,  through Mojo Music,  Inc.,
served as a Managing Member of Media Ventures, LLC, an entertainment cooperative
founded by Mr. Rifkin and composer Hans Zimmer. In 1995, Mr. Rifkin founded Mojo
Records,  LLC, which in 1996 became a joint venture with Universal Records,  and
was  subsequently  sold to Zomba/BMG  Records in 2001. Mr. Rifkin also serves as
President  of  Cyberia  Holdings,  Inc.  which  is the  majority  owner of Media
Revolution. In 2004, Cyberia Holdings, Inc. filed for bankruptcy under Chapter 7
which cased was dismissed in May 2005.
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      William B. Horne, Chief Financial Officer and Director. Mr. Horne has been
the Company's Chief  Financial  Officer and a director since July 20, 2005. From
September  30,  2005 until  December  29,  2005,  Mr.  Horne also  served as the
Company's  Chief  Executive  Officer  and  Chairman  of the  Company's  Board of
Directors.  Since July 5, 2005, Mr. Horne has been the Chief  Financial  Officer
and a director of Ault Glazer  Bodnar & Company,  Inc.  Since July 5, 2005,  Mr.
Horne has also been Chief Financial Officer of Patient Safety Technologies, Inc.
and its  subsidiaries.  From May 2002 to April 2005, Mr. Horne held the position
of Chief Financial Officer of Alaska Wireless  Communications,  a privately held
advanced cellular communications company. Since January 2002, Mr. Horne has also
provided  strategic  financial  consulting  services to both  private and public
companies.  From November 1996 to December  2001, Mr. Horne held the position of
Chief  Financial  Officer of The Phoenix  Partners,  a venture  capital  limited
partnership located in Seattle, Washington.

      Philip Gatch, Chief Technology  Officer.  Mr. Gatch has been the Company's
Chief  Technology  Officer since June 30, 2005. From June 30, 2005 until October
14,  2005,  Mr.  Gatch was also  Chief  Technology  Officer  of  Patient  Safety
Technologies, Inc. Since May 12, 2005, Mr. Gatch has been President and owner of
Cinapse   Digital  Media,   LLC,  a  company  that  operates  a  production  and
post-production  media content  facility.  From September 2003 to June 2005, Mr.
Gatch was Director of Technical  Services of The DR Group. From February 2002 to
April 2003,  Mr. Gatch was Director of Research and  Development  for Media.net.
From 1999 to 2002,  Mr.  Gatch was  Director of  Research  and  Development  for
Digital Entertainment Solutions.

      Alice M.  Campbell,  Director.  Ms.  Campbell  has  been a  member  of the
Company's  Board of  Directors  since July 16, 2005.  Since June 23,  2005,  Ms.
Campbell has been a director of IPEX,  Inc., a public  company quoted on the OTC
Bulletin  Board.  Since  October 22, 2004,  Ms.  Campbell has been a director of
Patient Safety Technologies, Inc., a public company listed on the American Stock
Exchange.  Since 2001, Ms. Campbell has been, and is currently,  an investigator
and  consultant,  specializing  in research and litigation  services,  financial
investigations  and  computer  forensics,  for  major  companies  and law  firms
throughout the United States.  Ms. Campbell is a certified fraud specialist,  as
well as a certified  instructor for the Regional  Training  Center of the United
States Internal Revenue Service and for the National  Business  Institute.  From
1979 to 2001,  Ms.  Campbell  served as a special  agent for the  United  States
Treasury  Department  where she  conducted  criminal  investigations  and worked
closely  with the  United  States  Attorney's  Office and with  several  federal
agencies,   including  the  Internal   Revenue   Service,   Federal   Bureau  of
Investigation,   Secret  Service,   Customs  Service,  State  Department,   Drug
Enforcement  Agency,  Bureau of Alcohol,  Tobacco and Firearms  and U.S.  Postal
Service.

      Alan Morelli, Director Nominee. Mr. Morelli is a consultant who has served
as Managing  Director of Analog  Ventures,  LLC, a  consulting  firm  located in
Pacific Palisades, California, since 1997. Mr. Morelli is also currently serving
as a director of PT Holdings,  Inc.,  RADD Holdings,  Inc. and Precise  Exercise
Equipment.  PT  Holdings,  Inc. is a  development-stage  company in the physical
therapy  industry.  RADD  Holdings  licenses  intellectual  property  to  retail
distributors.  Precise develops innovative  commercial fitness or rehabilitation
technology  currently used in most health clubs today.  Mr.  Morelli  received a
B.S. from Rutgers  University  (1983) and a J.D. from Georgetown  University Law
Center (1986).

      David M. Kaye,  Director  Nominee.  Mr. Kaye is an attorney and has been a
partner  in the law firm of Danzig  Kaye  Cooper  Fiore & Kay,  LLP  located  in
Florham Park, New Jersey,  since the firm's  inception in February  1996.  Since
1980, Mr. Kaye has been a practicing  attorney in the New York City metropolitan
area  specializing  in  corporate  and  securities  matters.  He is  currently a
director of Dionics,  Inc.,  a company  which  designs,  manufactures  and sells
semiconductor  electronic  products.  Mr.  Kaye  received  his B.A.  from George
Washington University (1976) and his J.D. from the Benjamin N. Cardozo School of
Law, Yeshiva University (1979).
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Audit Committee

      The Audit  Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors in  fulfilling
its  responsibilities  to oversee:  (1) the integrity of the Company's financial
statements and disclosure  controls;  (2) the qualifications and independence of
our independent accountants; (3) the performance of our independent accountants;
and (4) compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.  Alice M. Campbell is
presently the only member of the Company's  Audit  Committee and she is Chairman
of the Audit Committee.  The Board has determined that Ms. Campbell is an "audit
committee  financial  expert"  as  defined  under  Item  401 of  Regulation  S-B
promulgated pursuant to the Exchange Act.

Compensation Committee



      The  Compensation  Committee  is  appointed  by the Board of  Directors to
discharge the  responsibilities  of the Board  relating to  compensation  of the
Company's executive officers.  Alice M. Campbell is currently the only member of
the Compensation Committee and she is Chairman of the Compensation Committee.

Employment Agreements

      On September 20, 2005,  the Company  entered into an employment  agreement
with Philip Gatch documenting the terms of his employment as the Company's Chief
Technology  Officer.  The term of the  employment  continues  for 36 months from
September 20, 2005 and automatically renews for successive one-year terms unless
either party  delivers to the other party written notice of termination at least
30 days before the end of the then current term. Mr.  Gatch's base  compensation
under the  agreement  is  $95,000 in cash per year and  $45,000 in a  restricted
stock grants each year. Prior to signing the employment  agreement,  the Company
granted Mr. Gatch  options  entitling him to purchase  250,000  shares of common
stock vesting  annually over three years with a strike price of $0.25 per share,
which stock options are reflected in the employment agreement. Mr. Gatch is also
eligible to receive an annual  performance  bonus  determined  by the  Company's
chief  executive  officer.  In addition,  Mr. Gatch was granted rights for three
years to (a) veto a chief executive officer candidate as a replacement to Milton
"Todd"  Ault,  III,  and (b) veto a decision  to sell the  Company or any of the
Company's core assets or  technologies  related to the iCodemedia  Assets in the
event the Company is sold for less than $50,000,000.  If Mr. Gatch's  employment
is terminated for any reason,  the veto rights will be forfeited.  The agreement
also contains  customary  provisions  for  disability,  death,  confidentiality,
indemnification  and  non-competition.  If Mr. Gatch voluntarily  terminates the
agreement or if the Company  terminates the agreement for cause,  Mr. Gatch will
not be  entitled  to any  compensation  for the  period  between  the  effective
termination date and the end of the employment term and all unvested  restricted
stock and stock options will be forfeited. If the Company voluntarily terminates
the agreement  without cause, the Company must pay Mr. Gatch a cash sum equal to
(a) all accrued  base salary  through the date of  termination  plus all accrued
vacation  pay and cash  bonuses,  if any,  plus (b) as  severance  compensation,
500,000 unrestricted shares of common stock and $250,000 cash. In the event of a
merger,  consolidation,  sale, or change of control,  the surviving or resulting
company is required to honor the terms of the agreement with Mr. Gatch.

      In  connection  with the  Acquisition,  on December 29, 2005,  the Company
entered into an  employment  agreement  with Jay Rifkin as the  Company's  Chief
Executive Officer effective as of September 30, 2005. The term of the employment
continues for three years from September 30, 2005 and  automatically  renews for
successive  one-year  terms  unless  either  party  delivers  to the other party
written  notice  of  termination  at  least 30 days  before  the end of the then
current term. Mr.  Rifkin's base  compensation  in the first year of the term is
$150,000, will increase at least 10% in the second year of the term and at least
10% more in the third  year of the  employment  term.  Mr.  Rifkin  was  granted
options to  purchase  4,400,000  shares of the  Company's  common  stock with an
exercise  price equal to the FMV of the Company's  common stock on September 30,
2005 and vesting  annually  over a period of three years from December 29, 2005.
Mr. Rifkin is also eligible to receive  shares of common stock and stock options
from time to time and an annual bonus as determined  by the  Company's  Board of
Directors.  The agreement also contains  customary  provisions  for  disability,
death,  confidentiality,  indemnification  and  non-competition.  If Mr.  Rifkin
voluntarily  terminates  the  agreement  without  good  reason or if the Company
terminates the agreement for cause,  the Company must pay Mr. Rifkin all accrued
compensation  through the date of  termination  and provide  life,  accident and
disability  insurance,  and health, dental and vision benefits to Mr. Rifkin and
his  dependents for a period of three months after  termination.  If the Company
terminates the agreement  without cause, if Mr. Rifkin  terminates the agreement
for good reason or if the agreement is  terminated  upon the death or disability
of Mr.  Rifkin,  then the Company  must pay Mr.  Rifkin or his estate all unpaid
compensation  through the duration of the  three-year  employment  term and must
provide  insurance and health benefits  through the duration of such term. "Good
Reason" is defined in the agreement as: (i) material  breach of the agreement by
the Company  including,  without  limitation,  any diminution in title,  office,
rights and  privileges of Mr. Rifkin or failure to receive base salary  payments
on a timely basis;  (ii)  relocation  of the  principal  place for Mr. Rifkin to
provide his services to any  location  more than 20 miles away from 100 Wilshire
Boulevard,  Santa  Monica,  California  90401;  (iii)  failure of the Company to
maintain in effect  directors' and officers'  liability  insurance  covering Mr.
Rifkin;  (iv) any  assignment or transfer by the Company of any of its rights or
obligations  under the  agreement;  or (v) any change in control of the  Company
including,  without  limitation,  if Mr. Rifkin shall cease to own a majority of
the voting securities of the Company.
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Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings

      Jay Rifkin  serves as President  of Cyberia  Holdings,  Inc.  which is the
majority owner of Media Revolution.  In 2004,  Cyberia Holdings,  Inc. filed for
bankruptcy under Chapter 7 which cased was dismissed in May 2005.

      Except as  described  above,  no  director,  person  nominated to become a
director, executive officer or control person of the Company:

      (1)   was a general partner or executive  officer of any business  against
            which any bankruptcy  petition was filed,  either at the time of the
            bankruptcy or two years prior to that time;
      (2)   was convicted in a criminal proceeding or named subject to a pending
            criminal  proceeding  (excluding  traffic violations and other minor
            offenses);
      (3)   was  subject to any order,  judgment  or  decree,  not  subsequently
            reversed,   suspended   or  vacated,   of  any  court  of  competent
            jurisdiction,   permanently  or  temporarily   enjoining,   barring,



            suspending  or  otherwise  limiting his  involvement  in any type of
            business, securities or banking activities; or
      (4)   was found by a court of competent  jurisdiction (in a civil action),
            the  Securities  and Exchange  Commission or the  Commodity  Futures
            Trading Commission to have violated a federal or state securities or
            commodities  law, and the judgment has not been reversed,  suspended
            or vacated.

      No director,  officer or 5% or other shareholder of the Company is a party
to any legal proceeding in which such person is adverse to the Company or has an
interest adverse to the Company.

                  BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY AFTER THE ACQUISITION

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

      Except for historical  information,  matters  discussed in this report are
forward-looking  statements  based on  management's  estimates,  assumptions and
projections.   In   addition,   from  time  to  time,   the   Company  may  make
forward-looking  statements  relating to such  matters as  anticipated  business
prospects,  new  products,  research  and  development  activities,   plans  for
expansion,   acquisitions  and  similar   matters.   Words  such  as  "expects,"
"anticipates,"  "targets," "goals," "projects,"  "intends," "plans," "believes,"
"seeks,"  "estimates,"  "continue," or the negatives  thereof,  or variations on
such words,  and similar  expressions  are  intended  to identify  such  forward
looking statements.  The Company notes that a variety of factors could cause the
Company's   actual  results  and  experience  to  differ   materially  from  the
anticipated   results  or  other   expectations   expressed  in  the   Company's
forward-looking   statements.   These   forward-looking   statements   are  mere
predictions and are uncertain. These forward-looking statements speak only as of
the date of this report.  The Company  expressly  disclaims  any  obligation  or
undertaking  to  disseminate  any updates or  revisions  to any  forward-looking
statement contained herein to reflect any change in its expectations with regard
thereto or any change in events,  conditions or  circumstances on which any such
statement is based.

ORGANIZATIONAL HISTORY

      Digicorp was  incorporated on July 19, 1983 under the laws of the State of
Utah for the purpose of developing  and marketing  computer  software  programs.
From 1983 to 1995, the Company's sales and investments were  attributable to the
sale of computer software and investments related to oil, gas and mining.

      On June 30, 1995, the Company became a development  stage  enterprise when
the Company sold its assets and changed its business plan.  Since June 30, 1995,
the Company has been in the developmental stage and until September 19, 2005 has
had no  operations  other than issuing  shares of common stock for financing the
preparation of financial  statements  and for preparing  filings for the SEC. In
August 2001,  the Company  elected to file a Form 10-SB  registration  statement
with the SEC on a voluntary  basis in order to become a reporting  company under
the Exchange Act.
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Acquisition of iCodemedia Assets

      On  September  19,  2005,  the  Company  entered  into an  asset  purchase
agreement with Philip Gatch, the Company's Chief Technology Officer, and thereby
completed  the  purchase of certain  assets  from Mr.  Gatch  consisting  of the
iCodemedia   suite  of  websites  and  internet   properties   and  all  related
intellectual  property  (the  "iCodemedia  Assets").  The  iCodemedia  suite  of
websites  consists  of  the  websites   www.icodemedia.com,   www.iplaylist.com,
www.tunecast.com, www.tunebucks.com, www.podpresskit.com and www.tunespromo.com.
Since completing the Acqusition,  the Company may sell the iCodemedia  Assets or
use the websites to provide applications and services to enable content creators
to publish and deliver content to existing and next  generation  devices such as
the Apple iPod and the Sony PSP. As consideration for the iCodemedia Assets, the
Company  issued Mr.  Gatch  1,000,000  shares of common  stock.  The issuance of
shares of common  stock to Mr. Gatch was exempt from  registration  requirements
pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Acquisition of Rebel Crew Films

      As further  described on page 1 of this report,  on December 29, 2005, the
Company  acquired all of the issued and outstanding  capital stock of Rebel Crew
Films in consideration  for the issuance of 21,207,080 shares of common stock to
the   shareholders  of  Rebel  Crew  Films.  The  Acquisition  was  exempt  from
registration  requirements  pursuant to Section 4(2) of the  Securities  Act and
Rule 506 promulgated  thereunder.  Rebel Crew Films was organized under the laws
of the  State  of  California  on  August  7,  2002 to  distribute  Latino  home
entertainment  products.  Rebel Crew  Films  currently  maintains  more than 200
Spanish  language  films  and  plans to serve the  nation's  largest  wholesale,
retail, catalog, and e-commerce accounts.

      Except as specifically  stated otherwise,  in the remainder of this report
references  to "the  Company"  refer to Digicorp  together with its wholly owned
subsidiary Rebel Crew Films, Inc.

OVERVIEW

      The Company  currently  maintains more than 200 Spanish language films and
serves some of the nation's largest wholesale,  retail,  catalog, and e-commerce
accounts. The Company's titles can be found at Wal-Mart,  Best Buy, Blockbuster,
K-Mart,  and hundreds of  independent  video outlets across the United States of
America and Canada. The Company's diverse  programming  includes:  New Releases,
Classic  Mexican  Cinema,   animation,   cult,  sports,   martial  arts,  family
entertainment, and more.



      The Company  generates  revenue through either  licensing  agreements with
third parties that distribute the Company's  licensed  content or through direct
sales.  The  Company's  typical  licensing  agreements  consist  of a  three  to
five-year  contract  that carries a 15% - 50% royalty on gross sales of licensed
product.  The Company is currently  expanding its sales force to focus on direct
sales of its licensed content.

      The  Company  is  organized  in a  single  operating  segment.  All of the
Company's  revenues are generated in the United  States,  and the Company has no
long-lived assets outside the United States.

CUSTOMERS

      For direct sales,  the Company's  sales  associates  focus on small retail
stores across the country.  Currently, the sales force manages over 1,100 active
retail store customers. For other licensing activities, there are two companies,
BCI Eclipse LLC, which has licensed 20 titles, and VAS Entertainment/Rise  Above
Entertainment  ("VAS/RA")  which has licensed 17 titles from the  Company.  They
function as manufacturers  for the Company's DVD inventory for those titles,  as
well as a distributor  to large  retailers like  Wal-Mart.  The agreements  with
these companies  consist of a term of three to five years granting the companies
the right to manufacture,  promote, and distribute the licensed movies for a 15%
- - 50% royalty on gross sales, depending on title.
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      Besides  its direct  selling  effort  through  telemarketing,  the Company
markets its products by placing print ads in a variety of Latino trade magazines
as well as through its  website.  The  Company  has a dedicated  1-800 toll free
number for sales inquiries.

SUPPLIERS

      The Company has three  categories  of  suppliers  - movie  licensors,  DVD
manufacturers,  and finished goods suppliers. Movie licensors consist of Spanish
language  movie  license  holders  primarily  from  Mexico  who enter  licensing
agreements  with the Company to  manufacture  and distribute  their movies.  The
Company is currently in contract with eight different licensors of content. From
these agreements, the Company has manufactured ten titles. Agreements with these
companies  consist  of either a fixed  license  fee or a 40-60%  royalty  on net
revenues for the right to manufacture, promote and distribute the films for four
to five years, depending on title.

      For the  manufacture  of DVD's,  the  Company's  principal  supplier  is a
company called Reptek.  The Company does not have a written  agreement with this
supplier.  There  is no  dependency  on  this  supplier  as  the  supply  of DVD
manufacturing  companies is broad and there are many potential firms that can be
employed to supply the Company's products.

      For DVD titles not owned or licensed by the Company,  a number of finished
goods vendors are utilized.  Among them are Ventura  Distribution  Inc., Cozumel
Films,  Venevision  International,  and Universal (UMVD).  Ventura  Distribution
currently supplies the Company with 21 movies distributed by Unicine, a division
of  Univision.  Venevision  International  has the  highest  number  of  titles,
providing the Company with 51 films.  Universal  (UMVD)  currently  supplies the
Company with 36 films and Cozumel  Films  provides the Company with three films.
There are no  written  agreements  with any of these  companies  to  supply  the
Company with films.

      The  Company is  currently  expanding  its sales  force to focus on direct
sales of its  licensed  content.  The Company is shifting  its efforts on direct
selling  due to two  primary  reasons:  (1)  poor  reliability  of  third  party
distributors generally to pay royalties on time; and (2) to eliminate dependence
on third party  distributors to distribute the Company's  product as one of many
other products they also sell.

COMPETITION

      Although accurate numbers are difficult to obtain due to the hesitation of
privately owned distribution companies to divulge sales figures, it is generally
estimated by an independent  study by Estrenos  magazine (a Latin  Entertainment
Trade Journal) that the Latino home video distribution  market for the first six
months of 2005 sold over three million  units in the U.S.  According to Estrenos
magazine,  of that number three distributors  accounted for approximately 80% of
those  sales  -  Laguna   Films  (43%),   Ventura/Studio   Latino   (26%),   and
Xenon/Televisa  (13%) (data  provided  by each  distributor  or  source).  Other
players  include Image  Entertainment  (7%),  Latin Vision (5%),  Brentwood Home
Video (3%),  Pro-Active  Entertainment  (2%), and Vanguard  Latino (1%) (Source:
Estros  magazine,  September/October  2005).  Based on these  sales  performance
figures, the Company's monthly sales average currently represents  approximately
1.25%  of  the  monthly  average  of  DVD  sales  volume  in  the  Latino  video
entertainment industry

      Major U.S.  movie  studios have  ventured  into  servicing the Latino home
video market as well, selling  approximately 1.5 million units in the first half
of 2005.  Of that  amount,  approximately  60% of sales were  dominated by three
studios - MGM Home Entertainment  (26%),  Columbia Tri-Star (18%) and Lions Gate
Films (16%). Other such competitors  include  UMVD/Visual  Entertainment  (12%),
BVHE/Disney  (8%),  Warner Home Video  (8%),  and Fox Home  Entertainment  (3%).
(Source: Estros magazine, September/October 2005)

      The Company also competes  with retail music and video  stores,  including
online stores, dominated by large companies such as Netflix, Blockbuster,  Trans
World Entertainment, and Movie Gallery Inc.

      The Company competes in the Latino home video market primarily by offering



competitive  prices on a wide  variety  of  quality  titles  through  its direct
selling efforts targeted at retail stores across the entire United States.
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GOVERNMENT REGULATION

      The  Company  is  not  aware  of any  existing  or  probable  governmental
regulations  that may have a  material  effect on the normal  operations  of the
Company's business.  There also are no relevant  environmental laws that require
compliance  by the  Company  that  may  have a  material  effect  on the  normal
operations of the business.

EMPLOYEES

      As of January 4, 2006, the Company  employed eight full time employees and
three part time  employees.  None of the  Company's  employees  are covered by a
collective  bargaining  agreement.  The Company believes that relations with its
employees are good.

DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

      The Company leases its principal  executive office located at 4143 Glencoe
Avenue,   Marina  Del  Rey,   California  90292.  The  leased  office  space  is
approximately 3,800 rentable square feet. The lease contract term is seven years
and two months  commencing  August 1, 2005 and ending  September 30, 2012.  Base
rent under the lease is $5,890 per month  payable on the first day of each month
commencing  August  15,  2005.  Additionally,  the first two  months  (August to
September  2005) had a base rent of $8,835 and a security  deposit of $5,890 was
required upon signing.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

      The Company is not a party to any  pending  legal  proceeding,  nor is its
property the subject of a pending legal  proceeding  that is not in the ordinary
course of  business or  otherwise  material to the  financial  condition  of the
Company's business.

                     MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
                  FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

      We do not have any off  balance  sheet  arrangements  that are  reasonably
likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition,  revenues,
results of operations, liquidity or capital expenditures.

Critical Accounting Policies

      A  discussion  and  analysis  of our  financial  condition  and results of
operations are based upon our financial statements,  which have been prepared in
accordance with accounting  principles  generally accepted in the United States.
The  preparation  of these  financial  statements  requires  management  to make
estimates  and  assumptions   that  affect  the  reported   amounts  of  assets,
liabilities,  revenues and expenses and related  disclosure of contingent assets
and  liabilities.  Note 2 to our  audited  financial  statements  included as an
exhibit to this Form 8-K  describes  the  significant  accounting  policies  and
methods  used in the  preparation  of the  financial  statements.  On an ongoing
basis, management evaluates its estimates,  the most critical are those that are
both  important to the  presentation  of our financial  condition and results of
operations  and require  management's  most  difficult,  complex,  or subjective
judgments.

Accounting Developments

      In December 2004, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No.
123(R), "Share-Based Payment," which addresses the accounting for employee stock
options, was issued. SFAS 123(R) revises the disclosure  provisions of SFAS 123,
"Accounting for Stock Based Compensation" and supersedes  Accounting  Principles
Board ("APB") Opinion No. 25,  "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees."  SFAS
123(R)  requires that the cost of all employee stock  options,  as well as other
equity-based compensation arrangements, be reflected in the financial statements
based on the estimated fair value of the awards. This statement is effective for
us as of the  beginning  of the first  interim or annual  reporting  period that
begins after December 15, 2005. The impact on our operating results or financial
position based on the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) has not yet been determined.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

      Our total assets were  $519,442 at September  30, 2005 versus  $195,981 at
December 31, 2004.  The change in total assets is primarily  attributable  to an
increase  in our  intangible  assets and  inventory  of  $240,175  and  $36,243,
respectively.  The increases in intangible  assets and inventory  were primarily
financed through monies loaned from related parties in the amount of $552,321.

      At September  30, 2005 and December 30, 2004,  we had $3,404 and $7,856 in
cash and cash equivalents,  respectively. During the nine months ended September
30, 2005, we borrowed  $519,321 from Rebel Holdings,  LLC, a California  limited
liability  company  ("Rebel  Holdings"),  an entity that  during  2005  acquired
approximately  90%  of the  outstanding  shares  of the  our  common  stock.  In
September 2005, we borrowed an additional  $33,000 from the sole member of Rebel
Holdings.  At  September  30,  2005 and  December  31,  2004,  the Company had a
combined  liability of $601,307 and $48,986,  respectively,  due to either Rebel
Holdings or the sole member of Rebel Holdings. On December 29, 2005, we issued a



promissory  note in the amount of $73,000 to the sole  member  (the  "Promissory
Note") of Rebel Holdings. The Promissory Note represented the outstanding amount
borrowed at September 30, 2005 as well as additional  funds borrowed  during the
fourth  quarter of 2005.  The Promissory  Note has a term of  approximately  six
months and bears 5.0% simple interest.  On December 29, 2005, in connection with
the closing of the  Acquisition we also issued a convertible  note in the amount
of $556,307 to Rebel  Holdings (the  "Note").  The Note has a term of five years
from  December 29, 2005,  bears 4.5% simple  interest  and is  convertible  into
shares of our common stock at a conversion price of $1.112614 per share.

      We have  primarily  relied  upon  loans from  related  parties to fund our
operations and, to a lesser extent,  revenues  generated from licensing our film
content,  on a  non-exclusive  basis,  to  other  distributors  of  Latino  home
entertainment  content.  We believe that future  revenues  combined  with either
loans or direct equity  investments  into the Company will be sufficient to fund
our operations for the 12 months  subsequent to September 30, 2005. We expect to
undertake  additional debt or equity  financings to better enable us to grow and
meet  our  future  operating  and  capital  requirements,  however,  there is no
assurance that we will be successful in obtaining such financing.

      Operating  activities  provided $336,762 of cash for the nine months ended
September  30, 2005,  compared to  providing  $161,856 and $62,765 for the years
ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

      Cash used in investing  activities for the nine months ended September 30,
2004 and the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, of $341,214,  $154,000, and
$72,000,  respectively,  resulted  almost  exclusively  from  the  purchases  of
licensed Spanish language film content that was capitalized.

Results of Operations

      Revenues

      We  recognized  revenues of $140,333 and $27,963 for the nine months ended
September 30, 2005 and the year ended  December 31, 2004,  respectively.  During
2004 all of our  revenues  were  generated  through  licensing  agreements.  The
licensing agreements provide for us to receive advance payments as consideration
for rights granted to third parties that  distribute our licensed  content.  The
advance  payments are initially  recorded as deferred  revenue and  subsequently
recognized in income as royalties  are earned upon shipment of licensed  content
to  customers  by the  sub-licensor.  Deferred  revenue  balances of $75,411 and
$162,971 at September  30, 2005 and December 31, 2004,  respectively,  represent
advance  royalty  payments  that are  expected to be earned over the  subsequent
twelve month periods.

      During the nine months  ended  September  30, 2005,  licensing  revenue of
$85,205  accounted for  approximately  61% of our total  revenue.  The remaining
revenue of $55,128  represents revenue generated through the direct sales of our
licensed content. We expect that direct sales, as a percentage of total revenue,
will  significantly  increase  over the next  year as we focus  our  efforts  on
expanding  our existing  sales force.  Further,  we  anticipate  that  licensing
revenues will significantly be reduced or eliminated in future years as we shift
our focus away from licensing agreements with third parties
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      Expenses

      Operating  expenses  were  $247,854  and $80,889 in the nine months  ended
September  30, 2005 and 2004,  respectively  and  $144,434  and  $112,364 in the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.  Operating expenses
in  all  periods  primarily   consisted  of  professional  fees,  rent  expense,
amortization expense and general and administrative expenses.

      Professional  fees were  approximately  $40,000  higher in the nine months
ended  September 30, 2005  compared to the nine months ended  September 30, 2004
due to significant increases in amounts paid to consultants as well as legal and
accounting fees. Amounts paid to various consultants  increased by approximately
$24,000  and  related  to  services  to  locate  Spanish  language  content  for
acquisition,  technical assistance in preparing the content for production,  and
sales and marketing of the titles. Legal fees increased by approximately $12,000
due to the preparation and review of an increased amount of license  agreements.
Accounting  fees,  which  increased  by  approximately  $4,000,  relate to costs
incurred  to update  our  accounting  system to  facilitate  a larger  volume of
transactions.

      Professional  fees were  approximately  $36,000  higher in the year  ended
December  31,  2004  compared  to  the  year  ended  December  31,  2003  due to
significant  increases  in amounts  paid to  consultants  as well as legal fees.
Amounts paid to various  consultants  during 2003 related solely for services to
locate Spanish language content for acquisition  whereas during 2004 we incurred
expenses related not only for services to locate Spanish language  content,  but
also technical assistance in preparing the content for production, and sales and
marketing of the titles. Legal fees increased by approximately $8,000 due to the
preparation and review of an increased amount of license agreements.

      Rent expense  increased by approximately  $15,000 in the nine months ended
September 30, 2005  compared to the nine months ended  September 30, 2004 due in
part to our relocation  into  commercial  office space in August 2005, with base
rent of $5,890 per month  combined  with periods of low rates of rent during the
nine months ended September 30, 2004.

      Rent expense increased by approximately  $4,000 in the year ended December
31, 2004  compared to the year ended  December  31,  2003 and is  attributed  to
periods of low rates of rent during 2003.

      Amortization expense increased by approximately $56,000 in the nine months



ended  September 30, 2005  compared to the nine months ended  September 30, 2004
due to an increased number of license agreements.

      Amortization expense increased by approximately  $26,000 in the year ended
December  31,  2004  compared  to the year  ended  December  31,  2003 due to an
increased number of license agreements.

      General and administrative  expense increased by approximately  $50,000 in
the nine  months  ended  September  30, 2005  compared to the nine months  ended
September 30, 2004 and is  attributed  to the overall  expansion of the business
during the nine months ended  September  30, 2005  combined  with the  financial
constraints  placed on us as a result of limited  amounts of  available  working
capital in the nine months ended September 30, 2004.

      General and administrative  expense decreased by approximately  $15,000 in
the year ended  December 31, 2004  compared to the year ended  December 31, 2003
due to  financial  constraints  placed on us as a result of  limited  amounts of
available  working capital in the year ended December 31, 2004.  During the year
ended  December 31,  2003,  as  reflected  by our  deferred  revenue  balance of
approximately  $40,000 and  licensing  revenues of  approximately  $116,000,  we
received a large amount of advance  payments from our licensing  agreements with
third parties.  These advance payments exceeded the cost of our licensed content
in 2003,  thus,  providing an adequate amount of working capital for general and
administrative purposes. During 2004 the amount of advance payments approximated
the cost of our licensed  content thus eliminating a source of funds for general
and administrative expenses.

                                       10

      Taxes

      We are taxed  under  Title 26,  Chapter 1,  Subchapter  C of the  Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and therefore subject to federal income tax on
the portion of our taxable income.

      At  December  31,  2004,  we  had a net  operating  loss  carryforward  of
approximately  $27,000 to offset future  taxable  income for federal  income tax
purposes.  The utilization of the loss  carryforward to reduce any future income
taxes will depend on our ability to generate  sufficient taxable income prior to
the expiration of the net operating loss carryforwards. The carryforward expires
beginning in 2024.

      A change in the  ownership  of a majority of the fair market  value of our
common stock can delay or limit the  utilization  of existing net operating loss
carryforwards  pursuant to Internal  Revenue  Code  Section 382. We believe that
such a  change  occurred  during  the  year  ended  December  31,  2005  and are
evaluating the amount that our net operating loss carryforward  utilization will
be limited to.

                             EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

      The  following   table  sets  forth   information   concerning  the  total
compensation  that the  Company  has paid or that has  accrued  on behalf of the
Company's  chief  executive  officer and other  executive  officers  with annual
compensation  exceeding  $100,000 during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004
and 2003.

                           SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                                            Long-Term
                                                                                          Compensation
                                                                            ------------------------------------------
                                              Annual Compensation                      Awards               Payouts
                                      ------------------------------------- ------------------------------ -----------
                                                                  Other                       Securities                   All
                                                                 Annual     Restricted        Under-lying     LTIP        Other
         Name and                                                Compen-    Stock Award(s)    Options/     Payouts       Compen-
    Principal Position        Year     Salary ($)   Bonus ($)  sation ($)   ($)               SARs (#)        ($)      sation ($)
- --------------------------- --------- ------------- ---------- ------------ ----------------- ------------ ----------- ------------
<S>                         <C>          <C>          <C>         <C>            <C>         <C>             <C>          <C>
Milton "Todd" Ault III (1)   2005         0            0           0              0           2,000,000       0            0
  CEO and Chairman           2004         0            0           0              0               0           0            0
                             2003         0            0           0              0               0           0            0

William B. Horne (2)         2005         0            0           0              0            500,000        0            0
  CEO, CFO and Chairman      2004         0            0           0              0               0           0            0
                             2003         0            0           0              0               0           0            0

Philip Gatch (3)             2005     $ 23,866         0           0           $ 11,250        250,000        0            0
  CTO                        2004         0            0           0              0               0           0            0
                             2003         0            0           0              0               0           0            0

Jay Rifkin (4)               2005         0            0           0              0           4,400,000       0            0
  CEO and President and      2004         0            0           0              0               0           0            0
  Principal Executive        2003         0            0           0              0               0           0            0
  Officer of Rebel Crew
</TABLE>

      (1)   Mr. Ault was appointed  Chief  Executive  Officer on April 26, 2005,
            and  director  and  Chairman of the Board of  Directors  on July 16,
            2005.  Mr.  Ault  resigned  from the  positions  of Chief  Executive
            Officer  and  director  and  Chairman of the Board of  Directors  on
            September 30, 2005.



      (2)   Mr. Horne was appointed Chief Financial Officer and director on July
            20, 2005, and Chief  Executive  Officer and Chairman of the Board of
            Directors  on  September  30,  2005.  Mr.  Horne  resigned  from the
            position of Chief Executive Officer on December 29, 2005.

      (3)   Mr.  Gatch was hired as Chief  Technology  Officer of the Company on
            September 20, 2005.
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      (4)   Mr. Rifkin was appointed  President on September 30, 2005, and Chief
            Executive Officer and director nominee on December 29, 2005.

                               OPTIONS GRANT TABLE

      The  following  table sets  forth  information  with  respect to the named
executive officers  concerning the grant of stock options during the fiscal year
ended  December 31,  2005.  The Company did not have during such fiscal year any
plans providing for the grant of stock appreciation rights ("SARs").

                      Option/SAR Grants in Last Fiscal Year
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                                    Potential
                                                                               Realizable Value at
                                                                                  Assumed Annual
                                                                                  Rates of Stock      Alternative to
                                                                                Price Appreciation     (f) and (g):
                              Individual Grants                                  for Option Term     Grant Date Value
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------  ----------------     -----------------
<S>        <C>                  <C>          <C>          <C>        <C>         <C>         <C>            <C>
           (a)                  (b)          (c)          (d)        (e)         (f)        (g)            (h)
                                         % of Total
                            Number of    Options/
                            Securities   SARs
                            Underlying   Granted to    Exercise
                            Options/     Employees     or Base                                          Grant Date
                            SARs         in Fiscal     Price      Expiration                             Present
           Name             Granted (#)  Year          ($/Sh)     Date        5% ($)     10% ($)      Value ($) (1)
- --------------------------- ------------ ------------- ---------- ----------- ---------- ---------- -------------------
Milton "Todd" Ault III (2)  2,000,000     2,000,000     $ 0.25   7/20/2015     ---        ---            $ 494,200
William B. Horne (3)          500,000       500,000     $ 0.25   7/20/2015     ---        ---            $ 123,550
Philip Gatch (4)              250,000       250,000     $ 0.25   7/20/2015     ---        ---             $ 61,775
Jay Rifkin (5)              4,400,000     4,400,000     $ 0.85   9/30/2015     ---        ---          $ 3,696,620
- -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
</TABLE>

      (1)   The value shown was calculated  utilizing the  Black-Scholes  option
            pricing  model  and  are   presented   solely  for  the  purpose  of
            comparative disclosure in accordance with certain regulations of the
            Securities  and Exchange  Commission.  This model is a  mathematical
            formula  used to value  traded  stock price  volatility.  The actual
            value that an executive officer may realize, if any, is dependent on
            the amount by which the stock price at the time of exercise  exceeds
            the exercise price. There is no assurance that the value realized by
            an executive  officer will be at or near the value  estimated by the
            Black-Scholes  model.  In calculating the grant date present values,
            the Company used the following assumptions:  (a) expected volatility
            of approximately 155%; (b) risk-free rate of return of approximately
            3.75%; (c) no dividends payable during the relevant period;  and (d)
            exercise at the end of a 10 year period from the date of grant.

      (2)   On July 20, 2005, as  consideration  for service as Chief  Executive
            Officer,  the Company  granted  Milton  "Todd" Ault,  III options to
            purchase  2,000,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of
            $0.25 per share.  These stock  options  would have vested  quarterly
            over two  years,  however,  on  September  30,  2005,  the  Board of
            Directors  accelerated the vesting of such options such that options
            to purchase 475,000 shares of the Company's common stock immediately
            vested and are  exercisable  for a period of 18 months from December
            29, 2005. The remaining options to purchase  1,525,000 shares of the
            Company's common stock were cancelled.

      (3)   On July 20, 2005, as  consideration  for service as Chief  Financial
            Officer and Director,  the Company  granted William B. Horne options
            to purchase 500,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of
            $0.25 per share.  These stock  options  would have vested  quarterly
            over  two  years,  however,  on  December  29,  2005,  the  Board of
            Directors  accelerated the vesting of such options such that options
            to purchase 400,000 shares of the Company's common stock immediately
            vested and are  exercisable  for a period of 18 months from the date
            the  individual  no longer  performs  services to the  Company.  The
            remaining options to purchase 100,000 shares of the Company's common
            stock were cancelled.

      (4)   On July 20, 2005, as  consideration  for service as Chief Technology
            Officer,  the  Company  granted  Philip  Gatch  options to  purchase
            250,000  shares of our common stock with an exercise  price of $0.25
            per share.  These stock options would have vested quarterly over two
            years,  however,  on  December  29,  2005,  the  Board of  Directors
            accelerated  the  vesting  of such  options  such  that  options  to
            purchase  250,000 shares of the Company's  common stock  immediately
            vested and are  exercisable  for a period of 18 months from the date
            the individual no longer performs services to the Company.
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      (5)   On  September  30,  2005,  as  consideration  for service as Interim
            President,  the  Company  granted  Jay Rifkin  options  to  purchase
            4,400,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $0.85 per
            share.  These  stock  options  vest  annually  over three years from
            December 29, 2005.

Aggregate Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year

      No options of the Company were exercised by the named  executive  officers
during the most recent fiscal year ended December 31, 2005.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

      The  following  table  shows  information  with  respect  to  each  equity
compensation  plan under which the  Company's  common  stock is  authorized  for
issuance as of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005.

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                      EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION
- ------------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- ---------------------------
                                                                                         Number of securities
                                      Number of securities                             remaining available for
                                        to be issued upon        Weighted average       future issuance under
                                           exercise of          exercise price of     equity compensation plans
                                      outstanding options,     outstanding options,     (excluding securities
           Plan category               warrants and rights     warrants and rights     reflected in column (a))
- ------------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- ---------------------------
                                               (a) (b) (c)
- ------------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- ---------------------------
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders                             0                       0                         0
- ------------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- ---------------------------

- ------------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- ---------------------------
<S>                                         <C>                       <C>                     <C>
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security
holders                                     8,862,500                 $0.61                   6,687,500
- ------------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- ---------------------------

- ------------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- ---------------------------
Total                                       8,862,500                 $0.61                   6,137,500
- ------------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- ---------------------------
</TABLE>

                 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

      Management of the Company believes that all of the below transactions were
on terms at least as favorable as could have been obtained from unrelated  third
parties.

Relationships with Patient Safety Technologies, Inc.

      On December 29, 2004,  the  Company's  then current  directors  along with
several other  shareholders sold 2,229,527 shares of the Company's common stock,
representing  22.3% of the outstanding  shares of common stock of the Company on
such date, to Patient Safety  Technologies,  Inc.  (formerly,  Franklin  Capital
Corporation)  ("PST"). The Company's directors,  Gregg B. Colton, Don J. Colton,
Norman Sammis and Glenn W. Stewart,  sold 80% of their holdings to PST at $0.135
per share.  Another shareholder who was not a principal  shareholder or director
sold all of his shares to PST at $0.145 per share. The aggregate amount of funds
of PST used to purchase the shares of common stock was  approximately  $301,998.
The  source  for such  funds  was  PST's  working  capital.  The  directors  and
shareholders  agreed to sell an  additional  1,224,000  shares (the  "Additional
Shares") of our common stock of to PST upon the shares being registered with the
SEC by December 29, 2005. In addition,  prior to the  acquisition  and change of
control, PST owned 327,500 shares of the Company's common stock.
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      On December 28, 2005, PST assigned its right to purchase  1,000,000 of the
Additional  Shares to Alan  Morelli  (the  "Assignment  Agreement")  and amended
certain  terms of the stock  purchase  agreement  pursuant to which the Original
Purchase  Transaction  was  completed  (the  "Amendment   Agreement").   In  the
Assignment  Agreement,  the Company granted the parties  piggyback  registration
rights  with  respect to the sale of the  Additional  Shares.  In the  Amendment
Agreement,  the Company  agreed that if it does not  register  the resale of the
Additional  Shares on or before June 30, 2005,  then the Company will redeem the
Additional  Shares at a price of $0.145 per share and the Company will thereupon
sell 224,000 shares of the Company's common stock to PST and 1,000,000 shares of
the Company's  common stock to Mr.  Morelli at a price of $0.145 per share.  Mr.
Morelli is a current Director Nominee of the Company.

      Pursuant to the stock  purchase  agreement  with PST,  Melanie  Glazer was
appointed as Chairman of the Company's  Board of Directors on December 30, 2004,
following the  resignation of Glenn W. Stewart,  Norman Sammis and Don J. Colton
as  directors.  Effective  April 26,  2005,  Gregg B. Colton  resigned  from his
positions as President,  Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. On
April 26,  2005,  the  Company's  Board of  Directors  appointed  the  following
officers:  (a)  Milton C.  Ault,  III - Chief  Executive  Officer;  (b)  Kathryn
Macenzie Queen - President of Operations; and (c) Lynne Silverstein - Secretary.
Mr. Ault  subsequently  resigned  on  September  30, 2005 and Ms.  Queen and Ms.
Silverstein  resigned on December 29, 2005. Upon Mr. Ault's resignation as Chief



Executive  Officer,  William B. Horne was appointed to succeed Mr. Ault as Chief
Executive Officer. Mr. Horne resigned as Chief Executive Officer upon completing
the Acquisition on December 29, 2005.

      On June 30, 2005,  the Company  appointed  Philip  Gatch as the  Company's
Chief  Technology  Officer.  On September 19, 2005, the Company  entered into an
asset purchase  agreement with Mr. Gatch,  and thereby  purchased the iCodemedia
Assets. As consideration for the iCodemedia Assets, the Company issued Mr. Gatch
1,000,000 shares of common stock.

      Effective July 16, 2005,  Gregg B. Colton  resigned from his position as a
director.  Effective  July 16, 2005,  the Company  appointed  Alice M. Campbell,
Milton "Todd" Ault, III and Darrell Grimsley as directors. Upon his appointment,
Mr. Ault was named Chairman of the Company's  Board of Directors.  Ms.  Campbell
was appointed to chair the Company's  Audit Committee and to chair the Company's
Compensation Committee. Mr. Ault resigned as a director on September 30, 2005.

      Effective  July 20, 2005,  the Company  appointed  Lynne  Silverstein  and
William  B. Horne as  directors.  Ms.  Silverstein  subsequently  resigned  as a
director on December 29, 2005.

      Effective  July 20, 2005,  the Company  appointed  William B. Horne as the
Company's Chief Financial Officer.

      Each of Melanie Glazer, Milton C. Ault, III, Kathryn Macenzie Queen, Lynne
Silverstein,  Philip Gatch,  Alice M. Campbell,  Darrell Grimsley and William B.
Horne had and/or currently have employment positions, directorships and/or other
relationships  with Ault Glazer & Company  Investment  Management  LLC,  Patient
Safety Technologies,  Inc. and/or Ault Glazer & Company Investment  Management's
or Patient Safety Technologies' current officers and directors.

Acquisition of Rebel Crew Films

      On  December  29,  2005,  the  Company  acquired  all  of the  issued  and
outstanding  capital stock of Rebel Crew Films in consideration for the issuance
of 21,207,080 shares of common stock to the shareholders of Rebel Crew Films. Of
these shares,  19,086,372  shares were issued or are issuable to Rebel Holdings,
LLC as  consideration  for its 90%  ownership  interest  in Rebel Crew Films and
2,120,708 were issued or are issuable to Cesar Chatel as  consideration  for his
10%  ownership  interest  in Rebel  Crew  Films.  The  Company's  present  Chief
Executive Officer and Director Nominee,  Jay Rifkin, is the sole managing member
of Rebel  Holdings,  LLC.  Mr.  Chatel  is an  employee  of the  Company  and is
President of the Company's now wholly owned subsidiary Rebel Crew Films.

      On December  29,  2005 the  Company  entered  into a  Securities  Purchase
Agreement with Rebel Holdings,  LLC,  pursuant to which the Company  purchased a
$556,306.53  principal  amount loan receivable owed by Rebel Crew Films to Rebel
Holdings,  LLC in exchange for the issuance of a  $556,306.53  principal  amount
secured  convertible note to Rebel Holdings,  LLC. The secured  convertible note
accrues simple interest at the rate of 4.5%, matures on December 29, 2010 and is
secured by all of the  Company's  assets now owned or  hereafter  acquired.  The
secured  convertible  note is convertible into 500,000 shares of common stock of
the Company at the rate of $1.112614 per share. As described  above, Jay Rifkin,
the Company's  present  Chief  Executive  Officer and a Director  Nominee of the
Company, is the sole managing member of Rebel Holdings, LLC.
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      Between  September  2005 and October 2005,  Jay Rifkin loaned an aggregate
total principal amount of $73,000 to Rebel Crew Films. The Company has agreed to
repay  this loan to Mr.  Rifkin  pursuant  to the  terms of a $73,000  principal
amount promissory note due June 30, 2006 which accrues interest at 5% per annum.
In the event of breach of the  promissory  note, the interest rate will increase
to 8% per annum.

      On December  29,  2005,  the Board of  Directors  ratified a grant to Alan
Morelli made on September 15, 2005, as a consultant to the Company,  warrants to
purchase  250,000 shares of the Company's common stock with an exercise price of
$0.145 per share, which warrants vested immediately.  These warrants were issued
to Mr. Morelli as compensation for advisory  services rendered to the Company in
connection with structuring the Acquisition. Mr. Morelli is presently a director
nominee of the Company.

         SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

      The following table sets forth certain information,  as of January 4, 2006
with respect to the beneficial  ownership of the outstanding common stock by (i)
any  holder of more than five  (5%)  percent;  (ii) each of the named  executive
officers and  directors of the Company;  and (iii) the  Company's  directors and
named executive officers as a group. Except as otherwise indicated,  each of the
stockholders  listed below has sole voting and investment  power over the shares
beneficially owned.

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                  Common Stock           Percentage of
  Name of Beneficial Owner (1)               Beneficially Owned (2)     Common Stock (2)
  ----------------------------------------- ------------------------- ---------------------
<S>                                             <C>       <C>                 <C>
  Milton "Todd" Ault, III                       3,728,227 (3)                 10.0%
  Bodnar Capital Management, LLC                 2,941,176                     8.0%
  William B. Horne                                400,000 (4)                  1.1%
  Alice M. Campbell                               350,000 (5)                     *
  Jay Rifkin                                   19,586,372 (6)                 52.6%
  Philip Gatch                                  1,250,000 (7)                  3.4%
  Cesar Chatel                                  2,120,708 (8)                  5.8%



  ----------------------------------------- ------------------------- ---------------------
  All  officers  and  directors as a group      21,586,372                    56.5%
  (4 persons)
</TABLE>

      * Less than 1%

      (1)   Except as otherwise indicated,  the address of each beneficial owner
            is c/o Digicorp, 4143 Glencoe Avenue, Marina Del Rey, CA 90292.
      (2)   Applicable  percentage  ownership is based on  36,721,113  shares of
            common  stock  outstanding  as of  January 4,  2006,  together  with
            securities  exercisable or  convertible  into shares of common stock
            within 60 days of January 4, 2006 for each  stockholder.  Beneficial
            ownership  is  determined  in  accordance  with  the  rules  of  the
            Securities and Exchange  Commission and generally includes voting or
            investment power with respect to securities.  Shares of common stock
            that a person has the right to acquire beneficial  ownership of upon
            the exercise or conversion of options,  convertible stock,  warrants
            or other securities that are currently exercisable or convertible or
            that  will  become  exercisable  or  convertible  within  60 days of
            January  4, 2006 are deemed to be  beneficially  owned by the person
            holding such  securities for the purpose of computing the percentage
            of ownership of such person,  but are not treated as outstanding for
            the  purpose of  computing  the  percentage  ownership  of any other
            person.
      (3)   Includes: (a) 475,000 shares issuable upon exercise of stock options
            with an exercise  price of $0.25 per share and which expire June 29,
            2007;  (b)  512,500  shares  beneficially  owned by certain  private
            investment  funds and individual  accounts  managed by Ault Glazer &
            Company  Investment  Management  LLC,  for which Mr.  Ault serves as
            Chief  Investment  Officer and managing  member;  and (c)  2,792,027
            shares of the  common  stock held by  Patient  Safety  Technologies,
            Inc.,  for which Mr.  Ault serves as  Chairman  and Chief  Executive
            Officer.  Mr. Ault and Patient Safety  Technologies,  Inc. each have
            granted Mr. Rifkin an irrevocable proxy to vote the shares of common
            stock  owned by them  for  certain  directors  of the  Company.
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      (4)   Represents  shares  issuable  upon exercise of stock options with an
            exercise  price of $0.25 per share and an expiration  date 18 months
            from the date Mr.  Horne's  services to the Company  terminate.  Mr.
            Horne has granted Mr. Rifkin an irrevocable proxy to vote the shares
            of common stock  issuable  upon  exercise of such stock  options for
            certain directors of the Company.
      (5)   Represents  shares  issuable  upon exercise of stock options with an
            exercise  price of $0.25 per share and an expiration  date 18 months
            from the date Ms. Campbell's services to the Company terminate.  Ms.
            Campbell  has granted Mr.  Rifkin an  irrevocable  proxy to vote the
            shares of common stock  issuable upon exercise of such stock options
            for certain directors of the Company.
      (6)   Includes:  (a)  3,600,000  shares  which are held in escrow  pending
            satisfaction  of certain  performance  milestones  through March 31,
            2007;  and  (b)  500,000  shares   issuable  upon  conversion  of  a
            $556,306.53   principal  amount  secured  convertible  note  with  a
            conversion price of $1.112614 per share. All of these securities are
            held by Rebel  Crew  Holdings,  LLC of which Mr.  Rifkin is the sole
            managing member. Mr. Rifkin's reported beneficial ownership does not
            include  approximately  8,762,736  shares of common stock issued and
            issuable  by the  Company  for  which  certain  shareholders  of the
            Company have  granted Mr.  Rifkin an  irrevocable  proxy to vote for
            directors of the Company.
      (7)   Includes 250,000 shares issuable upon exercise of stock options with
            an  exercise  price of $0.25  per share  and an  expiration  date 18
            months from the date Mr. Gatch's services to the Company  terminate.
            Mr. Gatch has granted Mr.  Rifkin an  irrevocable  proxy to vote the
            shares of common  stock  owned by him for certain  directors  of the
            Company.

      (8)   Includes   400,000   shares   which  are  held  in  escrow   pending
            satisfaction  of certain  performance  milesontes  through March 31,
            2007. Mr. Chatel has granted Mr. Rifkin an irrevocable proxy to vote
            the shares of common stock owned by Mr. Chatel for certain directors
            of the Company.

                            DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES

      The Company's  authorized  capital stock consists of 50,000,000  shares of
common stock, $.001 par value per share, and no shares of preferred stock.

      The holders of common  stock are  entitled to one vote for each share held
of record on all  matters  to be voted on by the  stockholders.  The  holders of
common stock are entitled to receive dividends ratably, when, as and if declared
by the Board of Directors,  out of funds  legally  available  therefore.  In the
event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company's business, the
holders of common stock are entitled to share  equally and ratably in all assets
remaining available for distribution after payment of liabilities.

      The  holders  of shares  of common  stock,  as such,  have no  conversion,
preemptive,  or other subscription rights and there are no redemption provisions
applicable to the common stock.  All of the  outstanding  shares of common stock
are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.

      The Company has never paid any cash  dividends on its common stock and the
Company does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
The Company  intends to retain future  earnings to fund ongoing  operations  and
future capital  requirements of its business.  Any future  determination  to pay



cash  dividends  will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors and will be
dependent upon the Company's financial condition, results of operations, capital
requirements and such other factors as the Board of Directors deems relevant.

            MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Market Information

      The Company's  common stock is currently  quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board
under the symbol  "DGCO." For the periods  indicated,  the following  table sets
forth the high and low sales prices per share of the Company's common stock.
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<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                   Fiscal 2005                      Fiscal 2004
                                         -------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Fiscal Quarter*                               High             Low             High              Low
- ---------------------------------------- ---------------- --------------- ---------------- ----------------
<S>                       <C>                  <C>             <C>              <C>             <C>
First Quarter Ended March 31                   $0.35           $0.14            $0.13           $0.06
Second Quarter Ended June 30                   $0.45           $0.18            $0.18           $0.07
Third Quarter Ended September 30               $1.37           $0.25            $0.35           $0.06
Fourth Quarter Ended December 31               $1.90           $0.65            $0.35           $0.14
</TABLE>

      *Upon closing the Acquisition, the Company's fiscal year changed from June
30 to December 31.

Holders

      As of January 4, 2006,  the Company's  shares of common stock were held by
approximately 290 stockholders of record.

Dividends

      The Company has not  declared any  dividends  to date.  The Company has no
present  intention  of paying  any cash  dividends  on its  common  stock in the
foreseeable future, as the Company intends to use earnings,  if any, to generate
growth.  The payment by the Company of dividends,  if any, in the future,  rests
within the  discretion  of the Board of Directors  and will depend,  among other
things,  upon the Company's  earnings,  capital  requirements  and our financial
condition,  as well as other relevant factors.  There are no restrictions in the
Company's  articles of  incorporation  or bylaws that  restrict the Company from
declaring dividends.

                     RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

      During  September 2003, the Board of Directors  authorized the issuance of
700,000  restricted  common shares of the Company's  stock at price of $0.01 per
share  (totaling  $7,000) to pay for  expenses  incurred  by the Company for the
audit  of its  financial  statements  and  to  pay  for  costs  associated  with
maintaining  compliance  with the State of Utah along with providing the Company
operating capital for the subsequent year. Of the 700,000 shares issued, 400,000
were issued to Vernal Western Drilling, a company that is owned by Don J. Colton
and Gregg B.  Colton,  former  officers and  directors  of the Company,  150,000
shares were issued to Bonnie Myers and the other  150,000  shares were issued to
Whisper  Investment  Company.  The shares were  issued to the  parties  above on
October 8, 2003 for cash.  The  issuance  of these  securities  was exempt  from
registration requirements pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

      On May 18,  2005,  the Company sold  2,941,176  shares of common stock and
warrants (the "May  Warrants")  to purchase an aggregate of 3,000,000  shares of
common  stock  with  exercise  prices  ranging  from $0.25 to $1.50 per share to
Bodnar  Capital  Management,  LLC ("Bodnar  Capital").  On October 27, 2005, the
Company entered into an agreement with Bodnar Capital to cancel the May Warrants
in exchange  for the  issuance  by the Company of a warrant to purchase  500,000
shares of common stock with a an exercise  price of $0.01 per share  exercisable
for a period of five years.  On November 2, 2005,  Bodnar Capital  exercised its
warrant for cash and the Company issued Bodnar Capital  500,000 shares of common
stock.   The  issuance  of  these   securities  was  exempt  from   registration
requirements  pursuant  to  Section  4(2) of the  Securities  Act and  Rule  506
promulgated thereunder.

      On July 20,  2005,  as  consideration  for  investor  relation  consulting
services,  the Company granted options to Steve  Jafarzadeh to purchase  100,000
shares of common  stock with an  exercise  price of $0.25 per  share.  25,000 of
these options have vested and the  remaining  75,000  options were  cancelled on
December 29, 2005. This grant was exempt from registration  requirement pursuant
to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

      On July 20, 2005, as  consideration  for Business  development  consulting
services,  the Company granted  options to Nicolas  Soichet to purchase  100,000
shares of common  stock with an  exercise  price of $0.25 per  share.  50,000 of
these options have vested and the  remaining  50,000  options were  cancelled on
December 29, 2005. This grant was exempt from registration  requirement pursuant
to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

      On July 20, 2005, as  consideration  for service on the Company's Board of
Directors,  the Company  granted to each of Melanie  Glazer,  Alice M. Campbell,
Darrell  Grimsley,  Lynne  Silverstein  and William B. Horne options to purchase
250,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $0.25 per share. 62,500
of such options vested to Ms. Glazer,  250,000  vested to Ms.  Campbell,  62,500
vested to Mr. Grimsley, 75,000 vested to Ms. Silverstein,  200,000 vested to Mr.
Horne, and the remaining  options of such individuals were cancelled on December
29,  2005.  The  issuance  of these stock  options was exempt from  registration



requirements pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

      On July  20,  2005,  as  consideration  for  service  as  Chairman  of the
Company's Audit Committee,  the Company granted Ms. Campbell options to purchase
100,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $0.25 per share. All of
these stock  options are vested.  The issuance of these stock options was exempt
from registration requirements pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

      On July  20,  2005,  as  consideration  for  service  as a  member  of the
Company's  Audit  Committee,  the Company granted Ms. Glazer options to purchase
50,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $0.25 per share.  12,500
of such options have vested and the remaining  options were  cancelled  upon Ms.
Glazer's resignation from the Company's Board on December 29, 2005. The issuance
of these stock  options was exempt from  registration  requirements  pursuant to
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.
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      On July 20, 2005,  as  consideration  for service as the  Company's  Chief
Executive  Officer,  the Company granted Mr. Ault options to purchase  2,000,000
shares of common  stock with an exercise  price of $0.25 per share.  These stock
options vest quarterly over two years  beginning  September 30, 2005.  Effective
September 30, 2005, the Board of Directors accelerated the vesting of 475,000 of
such  options and fixed the  expiration  date of the options to 18 months  after
completing the Acquisition.  The remaining stock options were cancelled upon Mr.
Ault resigning as an officer and director of the Company.  The issuance of these
stock options was exempt from registration requirements pursuant to Section 4(2)
of the Securities Act.

      On July 20, 2005, as consideration for service as the Company's  President
of Operations,  the Company  granted  Kathryn Queen options to purchase  750,000
shares of common  stock with an  exercise  price of $0.25 per share.  237,500 of
these  options have vested and the  remaining  options were  cancelled  upon Ms.
Queen's resignation on December 29, 2005. Also on July 20, 2005, as an incentive
bonus,  subject to certain milestones being achieved prior to December 31, 2006,
the Company  agreed to grant Ms.  Queen  options to purchase  750,000  shares of
common stock. These stock options were cancelled upon Ms. Queen's resignation on
December  29,  2005.  The  issuance  of these  stock  options  was  exempt  from
registration requirements pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

      On July 20, 2005,  as  consideration  for service as the  Company's  Chief
Technology Officer, the Company granted Philip Gatch options to purchase 250,000
shares of common stock with an exercise  price of $0.25 per share.  All of these
options  are  vested.  Also on July  20,  2005,  the  Company  agreed  to  issue
restricted  stock valued at $12,500  quarterly during the three-year term of his
employment as Chief Technology Officer.  The issuance of these stock options was
exempt from registration requirements pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities
Act.

      On July 20, 2005,  as  consideration  for service as the  Company's  Chief
Financial  Officer,  the Company  granted Mr. Horne options to purchase  250,000
shares of common  stock with an  exercise  price of $0.25 per share.  200,000 of
these options are vested and the remaining  50,000 were cancelled.  The issuance
of these stock  options was exempt from  registration  requirements  pursuant to
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

      On  July  20,  2005,  as  consideration   for  service  as  the  Company's
Controller,  the Company granted Jeanne Olsky options to purchase 100,000 shares
of common stock with an exercise  price of $0.25 per share.  These stock options
vest  quarterly  over two years  beginning  September 30, 2005.  50,000 of these
options have vested and the remaining  options were  cancelled  upon Ms. Olsky's
resignation on December 29, 2005. The issuance of these stock options was exempt
from registration requirements pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

      On July 20, 2005, as consideration for service as the Company's  Corporate
Secretary,  the Company  granted  Ms.  Silverstein  options to purchase  150,000
shares of common  stock with an exercise  price of $0.25 per share.  These stock
options vest quarterly over two years  beginning  September 30, 2005.  37,500 of
these  options have vested and the  remaining  options were  cancelled  upon Ms.
Silverstein's  resignation  on December  29,  2005.  The issuance of these stock
options was exempt from  registration  requirements  pursuant to Section 4(2) of
the Securities Act.

      On September 19, 2005, the Company  purchased the  iCodemedia  Assets from
Mr. Gatch, the Company's Chief  Technology  Officer.  As  consideration  for the
iCodemedia  Assets,  the Company  issued Mr.  Gatch  1,000,000  shares of common
stock.  The issuance of these  shares to Mr. Gatch was exempt from  registration
requirements  pursuant  to  Section  4(2) of the  Securities  Act and  Rule  506
promulgated  thereunder.  The  issuance of these  stock  options was exempt from
registration requirements pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

      On  September  30, 2005,  the Company  granted Jay Rifkin,  the  Company's
current Chief Executive  Officer,  options to purchase  4,400,000  shares of the
Company's  common stock with an exercise  price of $0.85 per share,  which stock
options vest  annually over a period of three years from the date of closing the
Acquisition.  The issuance of these stock  options was exempt from  registration
requirements  pursuant to Section  4(2) of the  Securities  Act. The issuance of
these  stock  options  was exempt  from  registration  requirements  pursuant to
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.
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      On September 30, 2005, the Company  granted Cesar Chatel,  as President of
Rebel Crew Films,  options to purchase  800,000  shares of the Company's  common
stock  with an  exercise  price of $0.85 per share,  which  stock  options  vest
annually over a period of three years from the date of closing the  Acquisition.
The issuance of these stock  options was exempt from  registration  requirements



pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

      On September 30, 2005, the Company  granted Oscar Carreno,  as Director of
Sales of Rebel Crew Films,  options to purchase  150,000 shares of the Company's
common stock with an exercise price of $0.85 per share, which stock options vest
annually  over a period of four years from the date of closing the  Acquisition.
The issuance of these stock  options was exempt from  registration  requirements
pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

      On  September  30,  2005,  the Company  granted Ian Monsod,  as Manager of
Operations  of Rebel Crew  Films,  options  to  purchase  125,000  shares of the
Company's  common stock with an exercise  price of $0.85 per share,  which stock
options vest  annually  over a period of four years from the date of closing the
Acquisition.  The issuance of these stock  options was exempt from  registration
requirements pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

      On December 29, 2005, the Company  granted Alan Morelli,  as consultant to
the Company,  warrants to purchase  250,000 shares of the Company's common stock
with an exercise price of $0.145 per share,  which warrants vested  immediately.
These warrants were issued to Mr. Morelli as compensation for advisory  services
rendered to the Company in connection  with  structuring  the  Acquisition.  The
issuance  of these  stock  options  was exempt  from  registration  requirements
pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

      On December 29, 2005,  the Company issued Rebel  Holdings,  LLC 19,086,372
shares of common stock as compensation for its 90% equity interest in Rebel Crew
Films. Jay Rifkin,  the Company's current Chief Executive Officer and a director
nominee,  is the sole managing member of Rebel Holdings,  LLC. 3,600,000 of such
shares are held in escrow pending satisfaction of certain performance milestones
through March 31, 2007. This issuance was exempt from registration  requirements
pursuant  to  Section  4(2) of the  Securities  Act  and  Rule  506  promulgated
thereunder.

      On December 29, 2005, the Company issued Cesar Chatel  2,120,708 shares of
common stock as  compensation  for his 10% equity  interest in Rebel Crew Films.
Mr. Chatel is President of Rebel Crew Films.  400,000 of such shares are held in
escrow pending satisfaction of certain performance  milestones through March 31,
2007.  This  issuance  was exempt  from  registration  requirements  pursuant to
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 promulgated thereunder.

      On December 29, 2005 the Company  issued a  $556,306.53  principal  amount
secured  convertible  note to Rebel Holdings,  LLC in exchange for a $556,306.53
loan  receivable  owed by Rebel Crew Films to Rebel  Holdings,  LLC. The secured
convertible  note is  convertible  into  500,000  shares of common  stock of the
Company at the rate of $1.112614 per share. As described above, Jay Rifkin,  the
Company's present Chief Executive Officer and a director nominee of the Company,
is the sole managing member of Rebel Holdings, LLC.

      On December 29, 2005,  the Company  granted  Alan  Morelli,  as a director
nominee of the  Company,  options to purchase  350,000  shares of the  Company's
common stock with an exercise  price equal to the closing price of the Company's
common stock of $1.50 per share, which stock options vest annually over a period
of three years from the date Mr.  Morelli's board  appointment is effective.  In
the event that Mr.  Morelli,  for whatever  reason,  declines the appointment to
serve as a director on the Company's Board of Directors, then these options will
be automatically  cancelled. The issuance of these stock options was exempt from
registration requirements pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

      On December 29, 2005,  the Company  granted  David M. Kaye,  as a director
nominee of the  Company,  options to purchase  350,000  shares of the  Company's
common stock with an exercise  price equal to the closing price of the Company's
common stock of $1.50 per share, which stock options vest annually over a period
of three years from the date Mr. Kaye's board  appointment is effective.  In the
event that Mr. Kaye, for whatever reason, declines the appointment to serve as a
director  on the  Company's  Board of  Directors,  then  these  options  will be
automatically  cancelled.  The  issuance of these stock  options was exempt from
registration requirements pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.
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                  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS

      On October 25,  2005,  the  Company  engaged the firm of Peterson & Co. to
serve as its  independent  registered  public  accountants  for the fiscal  year
ending June 30, 2006. On October 27, 2005,  the Company  notified Jones Simkins,
P.C.  ("Jones  Simkins") that it was terminating  Jones Simkins'  services.  The
decision to change  accountants  was  recommended  and approved by the Company's
Board of Directors.

      During the two fiscal  years  ended June 30,  2005 and 2004,  and  through
October 27, 2005, (i) there were no disagreements  between the Company and Jones
Simkins on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement
disclosure  or  auditing  scope  or  procedure  which,  if not  resolved  to the
satisfaction  of Jones Simkins would have caused Jones Simkins to make reference
to the matter in its reports on the  Company's  financial  statements,  and (ii)
except  for Jones  Simkins'  report on the  Company's  June 30,  2004  financial
statements  dated  September  1, 2004 which  included an  explanatory  paragraph
wherein they expressed substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue
as a going concern, Jones Simkins' reports on the Company's financial statements
did not contain an adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion,  or was modified as
to  uncertainty,  audit scope or  accounting  principles.  During the two fiscal
years ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 and through  October 27, 2005,  there were no
reportable events as the term described in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-B.

      During the two fiscal  years  ended June 30,  2005 and 2004,  and  through
October 27, 2005,  the Company has not consulted  with Peterson & Co.  regarding
either:



      1.    The   application   of   accounting   principles   to  any  specific
            transaction,  either  completed  or  proposed,  or the type of audit
            opinion   that  might  be  rendered  on  the   Company's   financial
            statements,  and neither a written report was provided to Peterson &
            Co. nor oral advice was provided that  Peterson & Co.  concluded was
            an important factor considered by the Company in reaching a decision
            as to the accounting, auditing or financial reporting issue; or
      2.    Any matter  that was either  subject of  disagreement  or event,  as
            defined in Item  304(a)(1)(iv)  of  Regulation  S-B and the  related
            instruction to Item 304 of Regulation S-B, or a reportable event, as
            that term is explained in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-B.

                    INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

      The Company's Bylaws require that the Company  indemnify and hold harmless
officers,  directors  and former  officers  and  directors  for any  obligations
arising by reason of being or having been  directors or officers of the Company,
except in relation to matters as to which any such director or officer or former
director  or  officer  or person is  adjudged  to be liable  for  negligence  or
misconduct in the performance of duty. Such  indemnification is not exclusive of
any other rights to which those  indemnified  may be entitled,  under any Bylaw,
agreement, vote of stockholders, or otherwise.

      Insofar as  indemnification  for liabilities  arising under the Securities
Act may be permitted to directors,  officers or persons  controlling us pursuant
to the foregoing provisions,  or otherwise, the Company has been advised that in
the opinion of the Securities and Exchange  Commission,  such indemnification is
against  public  policy as expressed in the  Securities  Act and is,  therefore,
unenforceable.

ITEM 9.01 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND EXHIBITS

(a) Financial statements of business acquired.

      The following financial statements of Rebel Crew Films appear on pages F-1
      through F-19 at the end of this report and such  financial  statements are
      herein incorporated by reference:

       Balance  Sheets as of  September  30,  2005 and  December  31,  2004
       (unaudited)  Statements of Operations  for the three and nine months
       ended September 30, 2005 and 2004 (unaudited)

       Statements  of Cash Flows for the nine months  ended  September  30,
       2005 and 2004 (unaudited)

       Notes to September 30, 2005 financial statements
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       Independent Auditor's Report
       Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003
       Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003
       Statements of Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) for the years ended
       December 31, 2004 and 2003 Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended
       December 31, 2004 and 2003 Notes to December 31, 2004 financial
       statements

 (b) Pro forma financial information.

         Not applicable.

 (c) Exhibits

Exhibit Number                            Description
- ------------------    ----------------------------------------------------------
2.1                     Stock Purchase  Agreement  dated as of December 20, 2005
                        among Digicorp,  Rebel Crew Films, Inc., Rebel Holdings,
                        LLC and Cesar Chatel  (Incorporated  by reference to the
                        Company's   Form  8-K  filed  with  the  Securities  and
                        Exchange Commission on December 21, 2005)

2.2                     Letter Agreement dated December 20, 2005 among Digicorp,
                        Rebel Crew Films,  Inc.,  Rebel Holdings,  LLC and Cesar
                        Chatel  (Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form
                        8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
                        December 21, 2005)

2.3                     Purchaser  and  Company  Disclosure  Schedules  to Stock
                        Purchase  Agreement  dated as of December 20, 2005 among
                        Digicorp,  Rebel Crew Films,  Inc., Rebel Holdings,  LLC
                        and Cesar Chatel

2.4                     Lock Up Agreements  of Sellers in connection  with Stock
                        Purchase  Agreement  dated as of December 20, 2005 among
                        Digicorp,  Rebel Crew Films,  Inc., Rebel Holdings,  LLC
                        and Cesar Chatel

2.5                     Escrow  Agreement  dated  December 29, 2005 by and among
                        Digicorp,   Rebel   Holdings,   LLC,  Cesar  Chatel  and
                        Sichenzia Ross Friedman Ference LLP as Escrow Agent

3.1                     Articles of Incorporation  (Incorporated by reference to
                        the Company's registration statement on Form 10-SB (File
                        No.  000-33067)  filed with the  Securities and Exchange
                        Commission on August 9, 2001)



3.2                     Bylaws  (Incorporated  by  reference  to  the  Company's
                        registration   statement   on  Form   10-SB   (File  No.
                        000-33067)   filed  with  the  Securities  and  Exchange
                        Commission on August 9, 2001)

3.3                     Amendment No. 1 to Bylaws  (Incorporated by reference to
                        the  Company's  Form 8-K filed with the  Securities  and
                        Exchange Commission on July 21, 2005)

4.1                     Secured  Convertible  Note due  December 19, 2010 in the
                        principal  amount of  $556,306.53  issued to Rebel  Crew
                        Holdings, LLC

4.2                     Promissory  Note  due  June  30,  2006 in the  principal
                        amount  of  $73,000  issued  to Jay  Rifkin  9.1  Voting
                        Agreement  dated  December  29,  2005 by and  among  Jay
                        Rifkin and the  stockholders  of Digicorp  listed on the
                        signature pages thereto

10.1                    Securities Purchase Agreement dated December 29, 2005 by
                        and among Rebel Holdings, LLC and Digicorp

10.2                    Assignment  Agreement  dated  December  29,  2005 by and
                        among  Rebel  Holdings,  LLC,  Digicorp  and Rebel  Crew
                        Films, Inc.

10.3                    Security  Agreement dated December 29, 2005 by and among
                        Digicorp and Rebel Crew Holdings, LLC

10.4                    Digicorp   Stock  Option  and   Restricted   Stock  Plan
                        (Incorporated  by  reference to the  Company's  Form 8-K
                        filed with the  Securities  and Exchange  Commission  on
                        December 22, 2005)

10.5                    Employment  Agreement  dated  September 20, 2005,  among
                        Digicorp and Philip Gatch  (Incorporated by reference to
                        the  Company's  Form 8-K filed with the  Securities  and
                        Exchange Commission on September 22, 2005)

10.6                    Employment  Agreement effective as of September 30, 2005
                        by and between Digicorp and Jay Rifkin

10.7                    Standard Industrial/Commercial  Multi-Tenant Lease dated
                        July 18, 2005  between The Welk  Group,  Inc.  and Rebel
                        Crew Films, Inc.
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10.8                    Videogram License Agreement dated August 19, 2003 by and
                        between Rebel Crew Films and BCI Eclipse, LLC

10.9                    Videogram  License Agreement dated March 29, 2004 by and
                        between Rebel Crew Films and BCI Eclipse Company, LLC

10.10                   Videogram  License  Agreement  dated May 26, 2004 by and
                        between Rebel Crew Films and BCI Eclipse Company, LLC

10.11                   License  Agreement dated November 15, 2002 between Rebel
                        Crew    Films   and   VAS    Entertainment/Rise    Above
                        Entertainment

10.12                   License  Agreement dated December 31, 2002 between Rebel
                        Crew    Films   and   VAS    Entertainment/Rise    Above
                        Entertainment

16.1                    Letter on change in certifying  accountant dated October
                        31,  2005 from  Jones  Simkins,  P.C.  (Incorporated  by
                        reference  to the  Company's  Form  8-K  filed  with the
                        Securities and Exchange  Commission on October 31, 2005)
                        21.1 Subsidiaries
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                                   SIGNATURES

      Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of
1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

                                      Digicorp

Dated: January 5, 2006                By:  /s/ Jay Rifkin
                                          --------------------------------------
                                      Name:    Jay Rifkin
                                      Title:   Chief Executive Officer
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                             REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.
================================================================================

Condensed Balance Sheets (Unaudited)
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                        September 30,    DECEMBER 31,
                                                            2005            2004
                                                        -------------   --------------

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

<S>                                                       <C>            <C>
Cash and cash equivalents                                 $    3,404     $    7,856
Accounts receivable, net                                      27,290             --
Inventories                                                   36,243             --
Other current assets                                          10,568             --
                                                          ----------     ----------

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS                                          77,505          7,856

Property and equipment, net                                   13,637             --
Intangible assets, net                                       428,300        188,125
                                                          ----------     ----------

TOTAL ASSETS                                              $  519,442     $  195,981
                                                          ==========     ==========

- -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                  $   19,386     $    9,700
Due to related party                                         601,307         48,986
Deferred revenue                                              75,411        162,971
                                                          ----------     ----------

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES                                    696,104        221,657

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Common stock, no par value: 100,000 shares authorized;
    100,000 shares issued and outstanding                     14,625         14,625
Accumulated deficit                                         (191,287)       (40,301)
                                                          ----------     ----------

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)                        (176,662)       (25,676)
                                                          ----------     ----------

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)      $  519,442     $  195,981
                                                          ==========     ==========



- -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------
</TABLE>

         The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed
                             financial statements.
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                REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.
================================================================================

Condensed Statements of Operations (Unaudited)

- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                               THREE MONTHS ENDED                NINE MONTHS ENDED
                                                         September 30,      SEPTEMBER 30,  SEPTEMBER 30,     SEPTEMBER 30,
                                                               2005             2004            2005              2004
                                                        -----------------   ------------   ---------------   --------------
REVENUE
<S>                                                     <C>                 <C>            <C>               <C>
Licensing fees                                          $          4,218    $     2,572    $       85,205    $      22,235
Sales                                                             52,046             --            55,128               --
                                                        -----------------     ----------     -------------     ------------

TOTAL REVENUE                                                     56,264          2,572           140,333           22,235

OPERATING EXPENSES
Cost of sales                                                     31,433             --            43,465               --
SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES                     118,495         27,961           247,854           80,889
                                                        -----------------   ------------   ---------------   --------------

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES                                         149,928         27,961           291,319           80,889
                                                        -----------------   ------------   ---------------   --------------
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)                                          (93,664)       (25,389)         (150,986)         (58,654)

OTHER INCOME                                                           --        21,013                 --          75,768
                                                        -----------------   ------------   ---------------   --------------
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES                                (93,664)        (4,376)         (150,986)          17,114

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES                                            --             --                --               --
                                                        -----------------   ------------   ---------------   --------------
NET INCOME (LOSS)                                       $        (93,664)   $    (4,376)   $     (150,986)   $      17,114
                                                        =================   ============   ===============   ==============
BASIC AND DILUTED NET INCOME (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE    $          (0.94)   $     (0.04)   $        (1.51)   $        0.17
                                                        =================   ============   ===============   ==============
WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING                       100,000        100,000           100,000          100,000
                                                        =================   ============   ===============   ==============

- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
</TABLE>

         The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed
                             financial statements.
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                                REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.
================================================================================

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)

- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                                               NINE MONTHS ENDED
                                                                                          September 30,     SEPTEMBER 30,
                                                                                             2005               2004
                                                                                       ----------------   --------------
Cash flows from operating activities:
<S>                                                                                    <C>                <C>
Net income (loss)                                                                      $      (150,986)   $      17,114
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation                                                                                       577               --
Amortization of licenses                                                                        86,825           31,250
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable                                                                            (27,290)              --
Inventories                                                                                    (36,243)          (7,920)
Other current assets                                                                           (10,568)              --
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                                                         9,686          (26,000)
Due to related party                                                                           552,321               --
Deferred revenue                                                                               (87,560)         127,165
                                                                                       ----------------   --------------

          Net cash provided by operating activities                                            336,762          141,609
                                                                                       ----------------   --------------

Cash flows from investing activities:
  Purchases of licenses                                                                       (327,000)        (130,000)
  Purchases of property and equipment                                                          (14,214)               --
                                                                                       ----------------   --------------



          Net cash used in investing activities                                               (341,214)        (130,000)
                                                                                       ----------------   --------------

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents                                            (4,452)          11,609

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period                                                 7,856               --
                                                                                       ----------------   --------------

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period                                             $         3,404    $      11,609
                                                                                       ================   ==============

- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
</TABLE>

         The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed
                             financial statements.
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REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - UNAUDITED
SEPTEMBER 30, 2005
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Rebel Crew Films, Inc. ("the Company") was organized under the laws of the State
of  California  on  August  7,  2002 to  distribute  Latino  home  entertainment
products.  The Company currently  maintains more than 200 Spanish language films
and serves wholesale,  retail,  catalog, and e-commerce accounts.  The Company's
titles can be found at major retail outlets and independent video outlets across
the United States of America and Canada.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2004 and 2005, the Company  generated
revenue  through the direct sales of licensed  content and licensing  agreements
with third parties that distributed the Company's licensed content.  The Company
is expanding  its sales force to focus on direct  sales of its licensed  content
and intends to significantly  reduce or eliminate  future  licensing  agreements
with third parties.

The Company is organized in a single  operating  segment.  All of the  Company's
revenues are generated in the United  States,  and the Company has no long-lived
assets outside the United States.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The  accompanying   condensed  financial  statements  do  not  include  all  the
information and disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted
in the United  States of America.  The  preparation  of financial  statements in
conformity with accounting  principles  generally  accepted in the U.S. requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in
the financial  statements and accompanying  notes. The actual results may differ
from management's estimates.

The interim  condensed  financial  information  is  unaudited,  but reflects all
normal adjustments that are, in the opinion of management,  necessary to provide
a fair  statement of results for the interim  periods  presented.  The condensed
interim  financial  statements  should be read in connection  with the Company's
audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004.

LIQUIDITY

The  accompanying  financial  statements are prepared  assuming the Company is a
going concern which  contemplates  the realization of assets and satisfaction of
liabilities in the normal course of business.  The Company has a working capital
deficiency of $618,599 at September 30, 2005, which includes deferred revenue of
$75,411 and amounts due to related  parties of  $601,307,  as  discussed  below.
During the nine months ended  September 30, 2005, the Company  primarily  relied
upon loans from a related party to fund its operations  and, to a lesser extent,
revenues generated from licensing its film content, on a non-exclusive basis, to
other distributors of Latino home  entertainment  content.  Management  believes
that future  revenues  combined with either loans or direct  equity  investments
into the Company will be sufficient to fund the Company's  operations for the 12
months subsequent to September 30, 2005.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The  Company  generates  revenue  through  either the direct  sales of  licensed
content or through  licensing  agreements  whereby the Company  receives advance
payments as  consideration  for rights granted to third parties that  distribute
the  Company's  licensed  content.  The  Company  may  be  entitled  to  receive
additional  royalty  payments  under the licensing  agreements,  but only to the
extent that  royalties  calculated  under the terms of the licensing  agreements
exceed  the amount of the  advance  payments.  Advance  payments  are  initially
recorded as deferred revenue. The Company recognizes revenue under its licensing
agreements  as  royalties  are  earned  upon  shipment  of  licensed  content to
customers by the sub-licensor. Deferred revenue balances of $75,411 and $162,971
at September  30, 2005 and December 31, 2004,  respectively,  represent  advance
royalty payments that are expected to be earned over the subsequent twelve month
periods. Revenues from direct sales are recorded upon shipment.
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REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES



Accounts  receivables  are  recorded  at the  invoice  amount  and  do not  bear
interest.  Accounts  receivable  at September  30, 2005 are  presented net of an
allowance for doubtful  accounts of $5,000.  The allowance for doubtful accounts
is the  Company's  estimate  of the  amount  of  probable  credit  losses in the
Company's  existing accounts  receivable.  The Company  determines the allowance
based on historical write-off experience.  The Company reviews its allowance for
doubtful  accounts  monthly.  Past due balances are  reviewed  individually  for
collectibility. Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all
means of collection have been exhausted and potential for recovery is considered
remote. The Company does not have any off-balance-sheet  exposure related to its
customers.

INVENTORY

Inventories,  consisting primarily of Spanish language DVD titles, are stated at
the lower of cost (first-in, first-out basis) or market.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property  and  equipment  are  recorded  at  cost  and  depreciated   using  the
straight-line method over the useful lives of the assets, generally from five to
seven years.  Property and  equipment at September 30, 2005 are presented net of
accumulated depreciation of $577. Depreciation expense for the nine months ended
September 30, 2005 was $577.

3. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible  assets consist of capitalized  license fees for licensed content the
Company  acquired from owners  including  producers,  studios and  distributors.
Licensed  content  acquired is capitalized at the time of purchase.  The term of
the  licensed  content  agreements  usually  vary between one to five years (the
"TITLE  Term").  At the end of the Title  Term,  the Company  generally  has the
option of discontinuing distribution of the title or extending the Title Term.

The Company  amortizes  the  capitalized  license fees, on a straight line basis
over the Title Term.  During the nine months ended  September 30, 2005 and 2004,
amortization  expense  related to the licensed  content was $86,825 and $31,250,
respectively.

Licensed content and accumulated amortization at September 30, 2005 and December
31, 2004, consisted of the following:

                                         SEPTEMBER 30,             DECEMBER 31,
                                              2005                     2004

Licensed content                       $      581,000            $     254,000
Less: accumulated amortization               (152,700  )               (65,875)
                                       -----------------         ---------------

   Licensed content, net               $      428,300            $     188,125
                                       =================         ===============

4. INCOME (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE

Income (loss) per common share is based on the weighted average number of common
shares  outstanding.  The  Company  complies  with SFAS No. 128,  "Earnings  Per
Share," which requires dual presentation of basic and diluted earnings per share
on the face of the  statements of  operations.  Basic per share earnings or loss
excludes  dilution and is computed by dividing income (loss) available to common
stockholders by the  weighted-average  common shares outstanding for the period.
Diluted per share  earnings or loss reflects the  potential  dilution that could
occur if convertible preferred stock or debentures, options and warrants were to
be exercised or converted or otherwise  resulted in the issuance of common stock
that then  shared in the  earnings  of the  entity.  For the nine  months  ended
September  30,  2005  and  2004,  there  were  no  potentially  dilutive  shares
outstanding

                                      F-6

REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities at September 30, 2005 and December 31,
2004 are comprised of the following:

                                      SEPTEMBER 30,          DECEMBER 31,
                                          2005                   2004
                                    ------------------     ------------------
   Income taxes payable             $           2,400      $           2,400
   Legal fees                                      --                  4,625
   Other                                       16,986                  2,675

                                    ------------------     ------------------
                                    $          19,386      $           9,700
                                    ==================     ==================

6. COMMITMENT AND CONTINGENCIES

In August 2005 the Company entered into a commercial  lease agreement for office
space.  The lease requires monthly payments of base rent in the amount of $5,890
from August 21, 2005 through  September 30, 2012.  Further,  on each anniversary
date  the  base  rent is  subject  to a 3%  increase  over  the  previous  year.
Approximate future minimum rent payments under this lease are as follows:



<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                       YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
- ---------------    -------------    -------------    -------------    -------------    ----------------      --------------
     2005              2006             2007             2008             2009           THEREAFTER              TOTAL
- ---------------    -------------    -------------    -------------    -------------    ----------------      --------------
<C>                <C>              <C>              <C>              <C>              <C>                   <C>
$       25,500     $     71,400     $     73,500     $     75,700     $     78,000     $       219,400       $     543,500
</TABLE>

7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

At September  30, 2005 and  December  31,  2004,  the Company has a liability of
$568,307 and $48,986,  respectively,  due to Rebel  Holdings,  LLC, a California
limited  liability  company  ("REBEL  HOLDINGS"),  an entity  that  during  2005
acquired  approximately  90% of the outstanding  shares of the Company's  common
stock.  Additionally,  at September 30, 2005 and December 31, 2004,  the Company
has a liability of $33,000 and $0, respectively, due to the sole member of Rebel
Holdings. The liabilities are non-interest bearing, due on demand and secured by
all of the assets of the Company.

8. OTHER INCOME

Other income recognized during 2004 consists primarily of finder's fees received
by the  Company  from  a  distributor  of  the  Company's  licensed  content  as
consideration for the Company's efforts in assisting the distributor in securing
rights to other  third party film  distribution  rights.  No finder's  fees were
received during 2005.

9. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Acquisition

On December 20, 2005, the Company  entered into a Stock Purchase  Agreement with
Digicorp, Inc., a Utah Corporation ("DIGICORP"),  whereby Digicorp will purchase
(the  "ACQUISITION")  all of the issued and outstanding  shares of the Company's
capital stock. Upon closing the Acquisition,  Digicorp would issue approximately
21 million  shares of its common  stock to the  shareholders  of the  Company as
compensation for the issued and outstanding  capital stock of the Company.  Upon
completion   of  the   Acquisition,   shareholders   of  the  Company  will  own
approximately 58% of Digicorp. The Acquisition closed on December 29, 2005.
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REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Promissory Notes

Between  October  2005 and  December  2005,  the  Company  issued  a  series  of
promissory notes in the aggregate  principal amount of $180,000 (the "NOTES") to
Digicorp,  in consideration for loans from Digicorp to the Company in the amount
of $180,000.  The  principal  amount of the Notes and interest at the rate of 5%
per annum is  payable on April 11,  2006.  The  obligations  under the Notes are
collateralized by all of the assets of the Company.

Between October 2005 and December 2005, the Company  borrowed  additional  funds
from the sole member of Rebel Holdings, totaling $40,000, bringing the aggregate
amount owed to the member to $73,000 at December 29, 2005.  In  connection  with
the borrowings, the Company issued a promissory note in the amount of $73,000 to
the member (the "NOTE") on December 29, 2005. The monies loaned by the member to
the Company were utilized to pay for certain  capitalized license agreements and
operating  expenses of the  Company.  The Note has a term of  approximately  six
months and bears 5.0% simple interest.
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                          INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Shareholders of
Rebel Crew Films, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying  balance sheets of Rebel Crew Films,  Inc. (the
"Company")  as of December 31, 2004,  and 2003,  and the related  statements  of
operations,  stockholders  equity  (deficit),  and cash flows for the years then
ended.  These  financial  statements  are the  responsibility  of the  Company's
management.  Our  responsibility  is to express  an  opinion on these  financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the  United  States of  America.  Those  standards  require  that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain  reasonable  assurance  about  whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a
test basis,  evidence  supporting  the amounts and  disclosures in the financial
statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant  estimates  made by  management,  as well as evaluating  the overall
financial  statement  presentation.   We  believe  that  our  audits  provide  a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion,  the financial  statements  referred to above present fairly, in
all material  respects,  the financial  position of Rebel Crew Films, Inc. as of
December  31, 2004,  and 2003,  and the results of its  operations  and its cash
flows  for the  years  then  ended  in  conformity  with  accounting  principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

                                                       /s/ Peterson & Co., LLP



                                                       PETERSON & CO., LLP
San Diego, California
December 29, 2005
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                               REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.
================================================================================

Balance Sheets

- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                            December 31,       DECEMBER 31,
                                                                2004              2003
                                                             ---------         ---------

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

<S>                                                          <C>               <C>
Cash and cash equivalents                                    $   7,856         $      --
                                                             ---------         ---------

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS                                             7,856                --

Intangible assets, net                                         188,125            80,000
                                                             ---------         ---------

TOTAL ASSETS                                                 $ 195,981         $  80,000
                                                             =========         =========
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                     $   9,700         $  27,600
Due to related party                                            48,986                --
Deferred revenue                                               162,971            40,433
                                                             ---------         ---------
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES                                      221,657            68,033

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Common stock, no par value: 100,000 shares authorized;
    100,000 shares issued and outstanding                       14,625            14,625
Accumulated deficit                                            (40,301)           (2,658)
                                                             ---------         ---------

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)                           (25,676)           11,967
                                                             ---------         ---------

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)         $ 195,981         $  80,000
                                                             =========         =========
</TABLE>
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------
   The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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                         REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.
================================================================================

Statements of Operations

- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                           YEARS ENDED
                                                      December 31, DECEMBER 31,
                                                         2004          2003
                                                       ---------    ---------

REVENUE                                                $  27,963    $ 115,896
                                                       ---------    ---------
EXPENSES
SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES             144,434      112,364
                                                       ---------    ---------
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)                                 (116,471)       3,532

OTHER INCOME                                              79,628          800
                                                       ---------    ---------

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES                        (36,843)       4,332

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES                                   800          800
                                                       ---------    ---------

NET INCOME (LOSS)                                      $ (37,643)   $   3,532
                                                       =========    =========

BASIC AND DILUTED NET INCOME (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE   $   (0.38)   $    0.04
                                                       =========    =========



WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING               100,000      100,000
                                                       =========    =========

- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------
   The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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              REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.
================================================================================

Statements of Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2003

- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                  COMMON STOCK                    TOTAL
                               ------------------- ACCUMULATED  SHAREHOLDERS'
                                SHARES     AMOUNT    DEFICIT   EQUITY (DEFICIT)
                               --------   --------   --------    --------

BALANCES, December 31, 2002     100,000   $  5,500   $ (6,190)   $   (690)

Contributed capital                          9,125                  9,125
Net income                           --         --      3,532       3,532
                               --------   --------   --------    --------

BALANCES, December 31, 2003     100,000   $ 14,625   $ (2,658)   $ 11,967

Net loss                             --         --    (37,643)    (37,643)
                               --------   --------   --------    --------

BALANCES, December 31, 2004     100,000   $ 14,625   $(40,301)   $(25,676)
                               ========   ========   ========    ========

- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------
   The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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                                REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.
================================================================================

Statements of Cash Flows

- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                                             YEARS ENDED
                                                                                    December 31,       DECEMBER 31,
                                                                                       2004               2003
                                                                                    ---------          ---------
Cash flows from operating activities:
<S>                                                                                 <C>                <C>
Net income (loss)                                                                   $ (37,643)         $   3,532
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Amortization of licenses                                                               45,875             20,000
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                                              (17,900)            (1,200)
Due to related party                                                                   48,986                 --
Deferred revenue                                                                      122,538             40,433
                                                                                    ---------          ---------

          Net cash provided by operating activities                                   161,856             62,765
                                                                                    ---------          ---------

Cash flows from investing activities:
  Purchases of licenses                                                              (154,000)           (72,000)
                                                                                    ---------          ---------

          Net cash used in investing activities                                      (154,000)           (72,000)
                                                                                    ---------          ---------

Cash flows from financing activities:
  Proceeds from issuance of common stock                                                   --              9,125
                                                                                    ---------          ---------

          Net cash used in financing activities                                            --              9,125
                                                                                    ---------          ---------

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                                    7,856               (110)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period                                           --                110
                                                                                    ---------          ---------

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period                                          $   7,856          $      --
                                                                                    =========          =========
</TABLE>

- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------
   The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2004

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Rebel Crew Films, Inc. ("the Company") was organized under the laws of the State
of  California  on  August  7,  2002 to  distribute  Latino  home  entertainment
products.  The Company currently  maintains more than 200 Spanish language films
and serves wholesale,  retail,  catalog, and e-commerce accounts.  The Company's
titles can be found at major retail outlets and independent video outlets across
the United States of America and Canada.

During 2003 and 2004, the Company generated revenue through licensing agreements
with third parties that distributed the Company's licensed content.  The Company
is expanding  its sales force to focus on direct  sales of its licensed  content
and intends to significantly  reduce or eliminate  future  licensing  agreements
with third parties.

The Company is organized in a single  operating  segment.  All of the  Company's
revenues are generated in the United  States,  and the Company has no long-lived
assets outside the United States.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

LIQUIDITY

The  accompanying  financial  statements are prepared  assuming the Company is a
going concern which  contemplates  the realization of assets and satisfaction of
liabilities in the normal course of business.  The Company has a working capital
deficiency of $213,801 at December 31, 2004,  which  includes  deferred  revenue
balance of $162,971,  as  discussed  below.  During the year ended  December 31,
2004, the Company  primarily  relied upon revenues  generated from licensing its
film content,  on a non-exclusive  basis,  to other  distributors of Latino home
entertainment  content and, to a lesser extent, from loans by a related party to
fund its  operations.  Management  believes that future  revenues  combined with
either loans or direct equity investments into the Company will be sufficient to
fund the Company's operations for the 12 months subsequent to December 31, 2004.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The  financial  statements  have been  prepared in  accordance  with  accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP").  The preparation of
financial  statements  in  conformity  with  GAAP  requires  management  to make
estimates  and  assumptions  that affect the amounts  reported in the  financial
statements and  accompanying  notes.  These  estimates are based on knowledge of
current events and anticipated future events and accordingly, actual results may
differ from those estimates.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Company considers only highly liquid  investments such as money market funds
and  commercial  paper with  maturities  of 90 days or less at the date of their
acquisition as cash and cash equivalents.

The Company  maintains cash in bank and deposit  accounts which,  at times,  may
exceed federally  insured limits.  The Company has not experienced any losses in
such accounts.  The Company believes it is not exposed to any significant credit
risk on cash and cash equivalents.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Licensed  content  acquired  from  owners   including   producers,   studios  or
distributors is capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over the term
of the license agreement, which generally ranges between one and five years. The
carrying values of intangible assets are periodically  reviewed and impairments,
if any, are  recognized  when the expected  future benefit to be derived from an
intangible asset is less than its carrying value.
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REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

As of December 31, 2004, no stock options or other equity  instruments  had been
granted to employees.  For future stock-based  compensation  awards, the Company
intends to adopt the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB")
Statement of Financial  Accounting  Standards  ("SFAS") No. 123(R),  Share-Based
Payment,  that requires  corporations  to account for awards of stock options or
other equity instruments to employees using the fair value method.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company generates revenue through licensing  agreements  whereby the Company
receives advance  payments as consideration  for rights granted to third parties
that distribute the Company's  licensed content.  The Company may be entitled to
receive additional royalty payments under the licensing agreements,  but only to
the extent that royalties calculated under the terms of the licensing agreements
exceed  the amount of the  advance  payments.  Advance  payments  are  initially
recorded as deferred revenue. The Company recognizes revenue under its licensing
agreements  as  royalties  are  earned  upon  shipment  of  licensed  content to
customers by the sub-licensor. Deferred revenue balances of $162,971 and $40,433
at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively,  represent advance royalty payments
that are expected to be earned over the subsequent twelve month periods.



INCOME TAXES

Deferred  income  taxes are  provided  in amounts  sufficient  to give effect to
temporary  differences between financial and tax reporting,  principally related
to net operating loss  carryforwards.  Valuation  allowances are provided to the
extent realization of recorded tax assets is not considered likely.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In September 2004, the Emerging  Issues Task Force ("EITF")  reached a consensus
on EITF  Issue  04-08 The  Effect of  Contingently  Convertible  Instruments  on
Diluted  Earnings per Share,  which  requires the inclusion of shares related to
contingently  convertible  debt  instruments for computing  diluted earnings per
share using the  if-converted  method,  regardless  of whether the market  price
contingency  has been met. EITF 04-08 will be effective  for all periods  ending
after  December 15, 2004 and includes  retroactive  adjustment  to  historically
reported  diluted  earnings per share. The adoption of EITF Issue No. 04-08 does
not  currently  have an impact on the Company's  operating  results or financial
position.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs, an amendment of
ARB No. 43, Chapter 4. SFAS 151 clarifies that abnormal  inventory costs such as
costs  of idle  facilities,  excess  freight  and  handling  costs,  and  wasted
materials  (spoilage) are required to be recognized as current  period  charges.
The provisions of SFAS 151 are effective for fiscal years  beginning  after June
15, 2005. The adoption of SFAS 151 is not expected to have a significant  impact
on the Company's operating results or financial position.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets,
which eliminates the exception for nonmonetary  exchanges of similar  productive
assets and replaces it with a general  exception  for  exchanges of  nonmonetary
assets that do not have commercial substance. SFAS No. 153 will be effective for
nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June 15,
2005.  The  adoption  of SFAS No. 153 is not  expected  to have an impact on the
Company's operating results or financial position.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R),  Share-Based  Payment,  which
establishes  standards for  transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity
instruments  for goods or  services.  This  standard  replaces  SFAS No. 123 and
supercedes APB Opinion No. 25,  Accounting for  Stock-based  compensation.  This
Standard  requires a public  entity to  measure  the cost of  employee  services
received in exchange for an award of equity  instruments based on the grant-date
fair value of the award.  This  eliminates  the  exception  to account  for such
awards using the intrinsic method previously allowable under APB Opinion No. 25.
SFAS No.  123(R)  will be  effective  for  interim or annual  reporting  periods
beginning on or after December 15, 2005.  The impact on the Company's  operating
results or financial  position  based on the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) has not
yet been determined.
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REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible  assets consist of capitalized  license fees for licensed content the
Company  acquired from owners  including  producers,  studios and  distributors.
Licensed  content  acquired is capitalized at the time of purchase.  The term of
the  licensed  content  agreements  usually  vary between one to five years (the
"TITLE  TERM").  At the end of the Title  Term,  the Company  generally  has the
option of discontinuing distribution of the title or extending the Title Term.

The Company  amortizes  the  capitalized  license fees, on a straight line basis
over the  Title  Term.  During  the  years  ended  December  31,  2004 and 2003,
amortization  expense  related to the licensed  content was $45,875 and $20,000,
respectively.

Licensed content and accumulated amortization consisted of the following:

                                                 YEARS ENDED
                                      DECEMBER 31,             DECEMBER 31,
                                          2004                     2003

Licensed content                   $      254,000           $      100,000
Less: accumulated amortization            (65,875)                 (20,000)
                                   -----------------      -----------------

   Licensed content, net           $      188,125           $       80,000
                                   =================      =================

In connection with these agreements, the Company expects to record the following
amortization expense over the next five years:

     FISCAL YEAR ENDED                  AMORTIZATION
- ----------------------------          -----------------

December 31, 2005                     $         58,500
December 31, 2006                     $         58,500
December 31, 2007                     $         58,500
December 31, 2008                     $         12,625
December 31, 2009                     $              --

4. INCOME TAXES



Deferred  income  taxes  reflect  the net tax effects of  temporary  differences
between  carrying  amounts of assets and  liabilities  for  financial  reporting
purposes and the amounts used for tax  purposes.  Significant  components of our
deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

                                                2004        2003
                                             --------    --------
Deferred tax assets
   Federal net operating loss carryforward   $  9,185    $    904
   State net operating loss carryforward        2,175          93
   Deferred revenue                             5,343          --
                                             --------    --------
      Total gross deferred tax asset           16,703         997
      Less valuation allowance                (16,703)       (997)
                                             --------    --------
      Net deferred tax asset                 $     --    $     --
                                             ========    ========
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REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The ultimate  realization  of deferred tax assets depends upon the generation of
future  taxable income during the periods in which those  temporary  differences
become  deductible.  Based upon our loss for the year ended December 31, 2004 we
have  provided a valuation  allowance  in the amount of $16,703,  an increase of
$15,706. The amount of deferred tax asset considered  realizable could change in
the near term if  projected  future  taxable  income is  realized.  Included  in
deferred tax assets is federal and state net  operating  loss carry  forwards of
approximately  $27,000 and $25,000  respectively.  Utilization of operating loss
carryforwards  may be limited if a  cumulative  change in ownership of more than
50% occurs within a three year period.  The net  operating  losses will begin to
expire in 2024 and 2014, respectively.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company's tax provision consists of:
                               2004                    2003
                           -------------          ------------
Current
         Federal           $          --           $        --
         State                       800                   800
Deferred
         Federal                      --                    --
         State                        --                    --
                           -------------          ------------
Total                      $         800           $       800
                           =============          ============
For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, a reconciliation of the federal
statutory tax rate to the Company's effective tax rate is as follows:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                      2004            2003
                                                                   ---------      -----------
<S>                                                                  <C>              <C>
Federal statutory tax rate                                           (34.00)%         34.00%
State and local income taxes, net of federal tax benefit               1.43           12.19
Non deductible items                                                   0.75              --
Valuation allowance                                                   33.99          (27.73)
                                                                   ---------      -----------

              Total effective tax rate                                 2.17%          18.46%
                                                                   =========      ===========
</TABLE>

5. INCOME (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE

Income (loss) per common share is based on the weighted average number of common
shares  outstanding.  The  Company  complies  with SFAS No. 128,  "Earnings  Per
Share," which requires dual presentation of basic and diluted earnings per share
on the face of the  statements of  operations.  Basic per share earnings or loss
excludes  dilution and is computed by dividing income (loss) available to common
stockholders by the  weighted-average  common shares outstanding for the period.
Diluted per share  earnings or loss reflects the  potential  dilution that could
occur if convertible preferred stock or debentures, options and warrants were to
be exercised or converted or otherwise  resulted in the issuance of common stock
that then shared in the earnings of the entity. For the years ended December 31,
2004 and 2003, there were no potentially dilutive shares outstanding

                                      F-17

REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities at December 31, 2004 and 2003 are
comprised of the following:

                                            DECEMBER 31,           DECEMBER 31,
                                               2004                    2003
                                             -------                 -------
Obligations on license agreements            $    --                 $26,000
Income taxes payable                           2,400                   1,600
Legal fees                                   $ 4,625                 $    --
Other                                          2,675                      --



                                             -------                 -------
                                             $ 9,700                 $27,600
                                             =======                 =======

7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

At December  31, 2004 and 2003,  the Company has a liability  of $48,986 and $0,
respectively, due to Rebel Holdings, LLC, a California limited liability company
("REBEL HOLDINGS"), an entity that during 2005 acquired approximately 90% of the
outstanding  shares of the Company's common stock. The liability is non-interest
bearing, is due on demand and is secured by all of the assets of the Company.

8. OPERATING LEASE

During 2004 and 2003 the Company  rented space on a month to month  basis.  Rent
expense  during the years  ended  December  31,  2004 and 2003 was  $11,505  and
$8,700, respectively.

9. OTHER INCOME

Other income recognized during 2004 consists primarily of finder's fees received
by the  Company  from  a  distributor  of  the  Company's  licensed  content  as
consideration for the Company's efforts in assisting the distributor in securing
rights to other third party film distribution rights.

10. CONCENTRATION RISK

During 2003,  one  sub-licensor  accounted  for 100% of  licensing  fee revenues
recognized.   During  2004,  two   sub-licensors   accounted  for  70%  and  30%
respectively, of license fee revenues recognized.

11. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Operating Lease

In August 2005 the Company entered into a commercial  lease agreement for office
space.  The lease requires monthly payments of base rent in the amount of $5,890
from August 21, 2005 through  September 30, 2012.  Further,  on each anniversary
date the base rent is subject to a 3% increase over the previous year.

Acquisition

On December 20, 2005, the Company  entered into a Stock Purchase  Agreement with
Digicorp, Inc., a Utah Corporation ("DIGICORP"),  whereby Digicorp will purchase
(the  "ACQUISITION")  all of the issued and outstanding  shares of the Company's
capital stock. Upon closing the Acquisition,  Digicorp would issue approximately
21 million  shares of its common  stock to the  shareholders  of the  Company as
compensation for the issued and outstanding  capital stock of the Company.  Upon
completion   of  the   Acquisition,   shareholders   of  the  Company  will  own
approximately 58% of Digicorp. The Acquisition closed on December 29, 2005.

Promissory Notes

Between  September 2005 and December  2005, the Company  borrowed funds from the
sole  member  of  Rebel  Holdings,  totaling  $73,000.  In  connection  with the
borrowings, the Company issued a promissory note in the amount of $73,000 to the
member (the "REBEL NOTE") on December 29, 2005.  The monies loaned by the member
to the Company were utilized to pay for certain  capitalized  license agreements
and  operating  expenses  of  the  Company.   The  Rebel  Note  has  a  term  of
approximately six months and bears 5.0% simple interest.
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REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Between  October  2005 and  December  2005,  the  Company  issued  a  series  of
promissory notes in the aggregate  principal amount of $180,000 (the "NOTES") to
Digicorp,  in consideration for loans from Digicorp to the Company in the amount
of $180,000.  The  principal  amount of the Notes and interest at the rate of 5%
per annum is  payable on April 11,  2006.  The  obligations  under the Notes are
collateralized by all of the assets of the Company.

During 2005, the Company borrowed additional funds from Rebel Holdings, totaling
$507,321,  bringing the aggregate  amount owed to Rebel  Holdings to $556,307 at
December 29, 2005.  In  connection  with the  borrowings,  the Company  issued a
convertible  note in the amount of $556,307 to Rebel  Holdings  (the  "NOTE") on
December  29,  2005.  The monies  loaned by Rebel  Holdings to the Company  were
utilized  to pay  for  certain  capitalized  license  agreements  and  operating
expenses of the Company.  The Note has a term of five years from closing,  bears
4.5% simple  interest and is  convertible  into shares of the  Company's  common
stock at a conversion price of $1.112614 per share.
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                         PURCHASER DISCLOSURE SCHEDULES
                                       TO
                            STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

(Prepared in connection with the Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of December
29, 2005 among Digicorp, a Utah Corporation, Rebel Crew Films, Inc., a
California corporation, Rebel Holdings, LLC, a California limited liability
company and Cesar Chatel (the "Stock Purchase Agreement"). Capitalized terms not
defined herein shall have the meaning given to
such terms in the Stock Purchase Agreement.)

                                DECEMBER 29, 2005

                                  SCHEDULE 6.9
                         ABSENCE OF CERTAIN DEVELOPMENTS

      Effective July 20, 2005, the Board of Directors of the Purchaser approved
the Purchaser's Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan (the "Plan"). Under the
Plan, the Purchaser can issue restricted shares of common stock, options to
purchase shares of common stock (both incentive stock options and non-incentive
stock options) and warrants to purchase shares of common stock to employees,
directors and consultants. The number of shares subject to the Plan may not
exceed 15,000,000 shares. The Plan will be administered by the Purchaser's
Compensation Committee. See Form 8-K filed on Dec. 22, 2005 for a copy of the
plan.

      On September 20, 2005, the Purchaser entered into an employment agreement
with Philip Gatch documenting the terms of his employment as the Purchaser's
Chief Technology Officer. The term of the employment continues for 36 months
from September 20, 2005 and automatically renews for successive one-year terms
unless either party delivers to the other party written notice of termination at
least 30 days before the end of the then current term. Mr. Gatch's base
compensation under the agreement is $95,000 in cash per year and $45,000 in a
restricted stock grants each year. Prior to signing the employment agreement,
the Purchaser granted Mr. Gatch options entitling him to purchase 250,000 shares
of the Purchaser's common stock vesting annually over three years with a strike
price of $0.25 per share, which stock options are reflected in the employment
agreement. Mr. Gatch is also eligible to receive an annual bonus determined by
the Purchaser's chief executive officer based on the performance of the
Purchaser. In addition, Mr. Gatch was granted rights for three years to (a) veto
a chief executive officer candidate as a replacement to Milton "Todd" Ault, III,
and (b) veto a decision to sell the Purchaser or any of its core assets or
technologies related to the iCodemedia suite of websites and internet properties
and all related intellectual property (the "iCodemedia Assets") in the event the
Purchaser sells for less than $50,000,000. If Mr. Gatch's employment is
terminated for any reason, the veto rights will be forfeited. The agreement also
contains customary provisions for disability, death, confidentiality,
indemnification and non-competition. If Mr. Gatch voluntarily terminates the
agreement or if the Purchaser terminates the agreement for cause, Mr. Gatch will
not be entitled to any compensation for the period between the effective
termination date and the end of the employment term and all unvested restricted
stock and stock options will be forfeited. If the Purchaser voluntarily
terminates the agreement without cause, the Purchaser must pay Mr. Gatch a cash
sum equal to (a) all accrued base salary through the date of termination plus
all accrued vacation pay and cash bonuses, if any, plus (b) as severance
compensation, 500,000 unrestricted shares of common stock and $250,000 cash. In
the event of a merger, consolidation, sale, or change of control, the surviving
or resulting company is required to honor the terms of the agreement with Mr.
Gatch. See Form 8-K filed on Sept. 22, 2005 for a copy of employment agreement.

                                       2

      In connection with the development of the Icodemedia Assets the Purchaser
has incurred a liability of approx. $152,000 to EAI Technologies.

      On October 25, 2005, the Purchaser engaged the firm of Peterson & Co. to
serve as its independent registered public accountants for the fiscal year
ending June 30, 2006. On October 27, 2005, the Purchaser notified Jones Simkins,
P.C. that it was terminating Jones Simkins' services as the Purchaser's



independent registered public accountants.

      As reported in a Form 8-K filed by the Purchaser on May 24, 2005, on May
18, 2005, the Purchaser sold 2,941,176 shares of common stock and warrants (the
"May Warrants") to purchase an aggregate of 3,000,000 shares of common stock
with exercise prices ranging from $0.25 to $1.50 per share to Bodnar Capital
Management, LLC. On October 27, 2005, the Purchaser entered into an agreement
with Bodnar Capital Management, LLC to cancel the May Warrants in exchange for
the issuance by the Purchaser of a warrant to purchase 500,000 shares of common
stock with a an exercise price of $0.01 per share exercisable for a period of
five years.

      On December 28, 2005, the Purchaser entered into an agreement granting
piggy-back registration rights to Patient Safety Technologies, Inc. and Alan
Morelli with respect to an aggregate of 1,224,000 shares of Purchaser's common
stock. The Purchaser also agreed to redeem and re-issue such 1,224,000 shares of
Purchaser's common stock if the resale of such shares is not registered by June
30, 2005.

      Between September 2005 and October 2005, Jay Rifkin loaned an aggregate
total principal amount of $73,000 to the Company. The Purchaser has agreed to
repay the $73,000 to Mr. Rifkin.

                                       3

                                  SCHEDULE 6.10
                                      TAXES

Taxable years for which the Purchaser has provided tax returns to the Company
and Sellers:

            June 30, 2002
            June 30, 2003
            June 30, 2004

Material Taxes:

            U.S. Corporation Federal Income Tax Return
            Utah Corporation Franchise or Income Tax Return

Claims for Taxes by Taxing Authorities in Jurisdictions where Purchaser does not
File Tax Returns:

      None.
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                                  SCHEDULE 6.11
                                  REAL PROPERTY

      None.

                                       5

                                  SCHEDULE 6.12
                           TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY

      None.

                                       6

                                  SCHEDULE 6.13
                               INTANGIBLE PROPERTY

      Intangible property purchased and or developed that directly relates to
the acquisition of the Icodemedia Assets. In connection with the development of
the Icodemedia Assets the Purchaser has incurred a liability of approx. $152,000
to EAI Technologies.
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                                  SCHEDULE 6.15
                                EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

      Effective July 20, 2005, the Board of Directors of the Purchaser approved
the Purchaser's Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan (the "Plan"). Under the
Plan, the Purchaser can issue restricted shares of common stock, options to
purchase shares of common stock (both incentive stock options and non-incentive
stock options) and warrants to purchase shares of common stock to employees,
directors and consultants. The number of shares subject to the Plan may not
exceed 15,000,000 shares. The Plan will be administered by the Purchaser's
Compensation Committee. See Form 8-K filed on Dec. 22, 2005 for a copy of the
plan.

      On September 20, 2005, the Purchaser entered into an employment agreement
with Philip Gatch documenting the terms of his employment as the Purchaser's
Chief Technology Officer. The term of the employment continues for 36 months
from September 20, 2005 and automatically renews for successive one-year terms
unless either party delivers to the other party written notice of termination at
least 30 days before the end of the then current term. Mr. Gatch's base
compensation under the agreement is $95,000 in cash per year and $45,000 in a
restricted stock grants each year. Prior to signing the employment agreement,
the Purchaser granted Mr. Gatch options entitling him to purchase 250,000 shares
of the Purchaser's common stock vesting annually over three years with a strike
price of $0.25 per share, which stock options are reflected in the employment
agreement. Mr. Gatch is also eligible to receive an annual bonus determined by
the Purchaser's chief executive officer based on the performance of the
Purchaser. In addition, Mr. Gatch was granted rights for three years to (a) veto
a chief executive officer candidate as a replacement to Milton "Todd" Ault, III,
and (b) veto a decision to sell the Purchaser or any of its core assets or
technologies related to the iCodemedia suite of websites and internet properties
and all related intellectual property in the event the Purchaser sells for less
than $50,000,000. If Mr. Gatch's employment is terminated for any reason, the
veto rights will be forfeited. The agreement also contains customary provisions
for disability, death, confidentiality, indemnification and non-competition. If
Mr. Gatch voluntarily terminates the agreement or if the Purchaser terminates
the agreement for cause, Mr. Gatch will not be entitled to any compensation for
the period between the effective termination date and the end of the employment
term and all unvested restricted stock and stock options will be forfeited. If
the Purchaser voluntarily terminates the agreement without cause, the Purchaser
must pay Mr. Gatch a cash sum equal to (a) all accrued base salary through the
date of termination plus all accrued vacation pay and cash bonuses, if any, plus
(b) as severance compensation, 500,000 unrestricted shares of common stock and
$250,000 cash. In the event of a merger, consolidation, sale, or change of
control, the surviving or resulting company is required to honor the terms of
the agreement with Mr. Gatch. See Form 8-K filed on Sept. 22, 2005 for a copy of
employment agreement
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                                  SCHEDULE 6.20
                                    INSURANCE

Workman's Comp Insurance:  Zurich-American Ins. Co., Policy # WC 45-76-489-01

                                 Expires 7/1/06

Health Insurance:  United Health Care, Policy # 184514, Expires 7/1/06
Dental Insurance:  MetLife, Policy #  101125, Expires 7/1/06
Long Term and Short Term Disability: Paid through the State of California
Life Insurance:  MetLife, Policy # 462919, Expires 7/1/06

Executive and Organization Liability Insurance: National Union Fire Ins. Co. of
Pittsburg, PA
Policy # 004941482, Expires 9/29/06

Chubb Group Insurance Companies (Expire on 12/7/06):
General Liability Policy # 35295206
Automobile Liability Policy # 73183432
Excess Liability Umbrella Policy # 79658385
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                                  SCHEDULE 6.23
                                      BANKS

JPMorgan Chase Bank
Attn:  Melissa Nawotniak
726 Madison Avenue
New York, New York, 10021
(212)745-1315
Checking Acct #:  904-117790
Money Market Acct #: 904-118207
Signors:  William B. Horne
          Lynne Silverstein

Bear Stearns Securities Corp.
1 Metrotech Center North
Brooklyn, NY 11201
Account:  130-46006 099
Authorized Signatory:  William B. Horne
                       Jay Rifkin

                                       10

                          COMPANY DISCLOSURE SCHEDULES

                                   SECTION 4.3
                                 CAPITALIZATION

                                      None.

                                        1

                                   SECTION 4.4
                                  SUBSIDIARIES

                                      None.

                                        2

                                   SECTION 4.9
                         ABSENCE OF CERTAIN DEVELOPMENTS

                                      None.

                                        3

                                  SECTION 4.10
                                      TAXES

List of material types of taxes paid and material types of tax returns filed:

Tax Returns filed:
2002
- - US Corporation Income Tax Return - no activity - California Corporation Income
Tax Return - no activity 2003 - - US Corporation Income Tax Return - negative
taxable income - California Corporation Income Tax Return - paid $800 2004 - -
US Corporation Income Tax Return - negative taxable income - California
Corporation Income Tax Return - paid $892



                                        4

                                  SECTION 4.11
                                  REAL PROPERTY

See Property Lease referred to in Section 4.14 of the Company Disclosure
Schedules.

                                        5

                                  SECTION 4.12
                           TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY

No personal property involving personal payments of at least $25,000 a year.

                                       6

                                  SECTION 4.13
                               INTANGIBLE PROPERTY

BRAND MARKS/BRAND NAMES

LICENSES:

REBEL CREW FILMS:
1.    Cine Producciones Molinar S.A. de C.V., dated 10/01/2002
2.    Cinematografica R.A. De C.V., dated  01/06/2003
3.    Dibujos Animados Mexicanos, S.A., dated 04/06/2004
4.    New Latin Image Corp., dated 01/08/2005 (1)
5.    New Latin Image Corp., dated 01/08/2005 (2)
6.    Productora Filmica Real S.A., dated 02/15/2005
7.    Productora Filmica Real S.A. 10/12/2005
8.    Ultra Films Industries, Inc., dated 12/26/2002

REBEL HOLDINGS LLC
1. Mario Moreno Ivanova, dated 02/14/2005 2. New Latin Image Corp. , dated
03/23/2005 3. Rene Cardona Chavez, dated 06/01/2005 4. Ultra Films Industries,
Inc. , dated 08/08/2005

                                        7

                                  SECTION 4.14
                           COMPANY MATERIAL CONTRACTS

PROPERTY LEASE

      A Standard Industrial/Commercial lease was executed between The Welk
Group, Inc. and Rebel Crew Films, Inc on July 18, 2005. The property is located
at 4143 Glencoe Avenue, Marina Del Rey, County of Los Angeles, State of
California with zip code of 90292. The area is approximately 3,800 rentable
square feet, more or less, and includes 8 or 9 parking slots, depending on
striping. The term is 7 years and 2 months commencing August 1, 2005 and ending
Sept. 30, 2012. It will have a base rent of $5,890 per month payable on the
first day of each month commencing August 15, 2005.

DISTRIBUTION CONTRACTS

1. BCI Eclipse, dated 08/19/2003
2. VAS Entertainment/Rise Above Entertainment: Santo Infraterrestre, dated
11/15/2002 3. VAS Entertainment/Rise Above Entertainment: Santo Programs, dated
12/31/2002

                                        8

                                  SECTION 4.15
                                EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

                                      None.



                                        9

                                  SECTION 4.16
                                      LABOR

                                      None.
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                                  SECTION 4.17
                                   LITIGATION

PENDING SETTLEMENTS:

1.    MARIO MORENO IVANOVA

      Insufficient Chain of Title documentation for eight (8) films relating to
the contract: Mario Moreno Ivanova, dated 02/14/2005. Settlement discussions are
ongoing.

2.    SHERMAN AND NATHANSON

      On September 1, 2005, Sherman & Nathanson, P.C. filed a collection action
against the Company seeking to recover $4,927.00, plus interest and attorney's
fees, for legal services allegedly rendered by them for the Company. The Company
has caused the matter to be referred for resolution by binding arbitration and
intends to vigorously contest their claim. It is not possible to provide an
evaluation of the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome at this time, but if the
outcome is unfavorable, it is unlikely that the amount of the potential loss
will exceed $7,500.00.

3.   SPEISER

      On or about April 28, 2005, a transaction was effected pursuant to which
Elliott Speiser, the former owner of 10% of the Company's authorized, issued and
outstanding shares, sold his shares of the Company to Rebel Holdings LLC
("Holdings"). Commencing on or about November 21, 2005, Mr. Speiser has alleged
his signature was forged on the documents pursuant to which he sold his shares
of the Company to Holdings and that a fraud allegedly took place in which Mr.
Chatel participated. No suit on these claims has as yet been filed by Mr.
Speiser. The Company denies and refutes Mr. Speiser's claims and intends to
vigorously contest any suit which Mr. Speiser might file against it or its
agents, including Mr. Chatel. It is not possible to provide an evaluation of the
likelihood of an unfavorable outcome at this time, nor is it possible to provide
an estimate at this time of the amount or range of potential loss.

4. FELIPE MARINO

      A demand was made to Felipe Marino on October 18, 2005 for the immediate
payment of a promissory note for the sum of $1,500 due September 15, 2005.

                                       11

                                  SECTION 4.19
                              ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

                                      None.

                                       12

                                  SECTION 4.20
                                    INSURANCE

LIABILITY INSURANCE:

PRODUCER:
Wheatman Insurance Services LLC
License #0C36866
6345 Balboa Blvd., Suite 285



Encino, CA 91316

INSURER: Hartford Insurance Group

Type of Insurance: Commercial General Liability
Policy Number 72SBAG8174
Effective Date:  8/01/2005 to 8/01/2006

LIMITS:
Each Occurrence = 1,000,000
Damage to Rented Premise = 300,000
Med exp (any one person) = 10,000
Personal & Adv Injury: 1,000,000
General Aggregate: 2,000,000
Products - Comp/OP/AGG : 1,000,000

OTHER TYPE OF INSURANCE: Bus. Personal Property; Business Income
Limits: $30,000/$1,000 deductible; Actual Loss Sustain - 12 months

                                       13

                                  SECTION 4.22
                           RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

1)    Inducement Agreement between Cesar Chatel and Rebel Crew Films with Jay
      Rifkin and Rebel Holdings LLC, dated October 3, 2005.
2)    Stock Purchase Agreement among Jay Rifkin, or nominee, as the Purchaser,
      Rebel Crew Films, Inc., as the Company, and Cesar Chatel and Robert
      Arevalo, as the Shareholders, dated November 30, 2004 (the "Stock Purchase
      Agreement")
3)    First Amendment to Stock Purchase Agreement dated effective January 15,
      2005 (the "First Amendment to Stock Purchase Agreement")
4)    Security Agreement, dated November 30, 2004, executed and delivered
      pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement
5)    Personal Guaranty of Cesar Chatel, dated November 30, 2004, executed and
      delivered pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement
6)    Revised Personal Guaranty of Cesar Chatel, dated November 30, 2004
      executed and delivered pursuant to the First Amendment to Stock Purchase
      Agreement
7)    Personal Guaranty of Robert Arevalo, dated November 30, 2004, executed and
      delivered pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement
8)    Revised Personal Guaranty of Robert Arevalo, dated November 30, 2004,
      executed and delivered pursuant to the First Amendment to Stock Purchase
      Agreement
9)    Sub-Distribution Agreement, dated November 30, 2004 ("the Sub-distribution
      Agreement") between Rebel Crew Films, Inc. and Jay Rifkin executed and
      delivered pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement.
10)   First Amendment to Sub-Distribution Agreement, dated January__, 2005,
      between Rebel Holdings LLC and Rebel Crew Films, Inc.
11)   Second Amendment to Sub-Distribution Agreement, dated January__, 2005,
      between Rebel Holdings LLC and Rebel Crew Films, Inc.
12)   Stock Purchase Agreement, dated April 28, 2005 between Rebel Holdings LLC,
      as Purchaser, and J. Scott Lowry, as Seller
13)   Stock Purchase Agreement, dated April 28, 2005 between Rebel Holdings LLC,
      as Purchaser, and J. Elliot R. Speiser, as Seller
14)   Stock Purchase Agreement, dated May 16, 2005 between Rebel Holdings LLC,
      as Purchaser, and Robert Arevalo, as Seller
15)   Finder's Fee Agreement, dated May 11, 2005 between Rebel Holdings LLC, as
      the Company and Robert Arevalo, as the Finder
16)   Share Purchase Side-Letter signed by Cesar Chatel and Robert Arevalo,
      dated April 7, 2005

                                       14

                                  SECTION 4.23
                                      BANKS

Bank:

Account Name: Rebel Crew Films, Inc.
Account # 724-2253990



WELLS FARGO
13400 Washington Blvd.
Marina Del Rey, CA 90292
Tel: (310) 578 4100
Fax: (310) 578 4104

                                       15



                                    EXHIBIT B
                                LOCK-UP AGREEMENT

      Pursuant to Section 2.1(c)(i) of that certain Stock Purchase Agreement
dated December 20, 2005 by and among Digicorp, a Utah corporation, Rebel Crew
Films, Inc., a California corporation, Rebel Holdings, LLC, a California limited
liability company, and Cesar Chatel (the "Stock Purchase Agreement"), the
undersigned hereby agrees that he, she or it will not, directly or indirectly,
agree or offer to sell, sell, grant an option for the purchase or sale of,
transfer, pledge, assign, hypothecate, distribute or otherwise encumber or
dispose of (other than to donees who agree to be similarly bound) three million
(3,000,000) shares of Purchaser's Common Stock (as defined in the Stock Purchase
Agreement) until one (1) year after the Closing Date (as defined in the Stock
Purchase Agreement) without the prior written consent of Digicorp.

      In order to enable the aforesaid covenants to be enforced, the undersigned
hereby consents to the placing of stop-transfer orders with the transfer agent
of the securities of Digicorp with respect to the above referenced shares
registered in the name of the undersigned or beneficially owned by the
undersigned.

Dated:      December 29, 2005
                                    Signature

                                    REBEL HOLDINGS, LLC

                                    By:  /s/ Jay Rifkin
                                         --------------
                                         Jay Rifkin,
                                         Managing Member

                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    --------------------------------------------

                                    Address

                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    Print Social Security Number
                                    or Taxpayer I.D. Number

                                      B-1

                                LOCK-UP AGREEMENT

      Pursuant to Section 2.1(c)(i) of that certain Stock Purchase Agreement
dated December 20, 2005 by and among Digicorp, a Utah corporation, Rebel Crew
Films, Inc., a California corporation, Rebel Holdings, LLC, a California limited
liability company, and Cesar Chatel (the "Stock Purchase Agreement"), the
undersigned hereby agrees that he, she or it will not, directly or indirectly,
agree or offer to sell, sell, grant an option for the purchase or sale of,
transfer, pledge, assign, hypothecate, distribute or otherwise encumber or
dispose of (other than to donees who agree to be similarly bound) three hundred
thirty-three thousand three hundred thirty-three (333,333) shares of Purchaser's
Common Stock (as defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement) until one (1) year
after the Closing Date (as defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement) without the
prior written consent of Digicorp.

      In order to enable the aforesaid covenants to be enforced, the undersigned
hereby consents to the placing of stop-transfer orders with the transfer agent
of the securities of Digicorp with respect to the above referenced shares
registered in the name of the undersigned or beneficially owned by the
undersigned.

Dated:      December 29, 2005
                                    Signature

                                    By:  /s/ Cesar Chatel
                                         --------------
                                         Cesar Chatel



                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    --------------------------------------------

                                    Address

                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    Print Social Security Number
                                    or Taxpayer I.D. Number

                                      B-2

                                LOCK-UP AGREEMENT

      Pursuant to Section 2.1(c)(ii) of that certain Stock Purchase Agreement
dated December 20, 2005 by and among Digicorp, a Utah corporation, Rebel Crew
Films, Inc., a California corporation, Rebel Holdings, LLC, a California limited
liability company, and Cesar Chatel (the "Stock Purchase Agreement"), the
undersigned hereby agrees that he, she or it will not, directly or indirectly,
agree or offer to sell, sell, grant an option for the purchase or sale of,
transfer, pledge, assign, hypothecate, distribute or otherwise encumber or
dispose of (other than to donees who agree to be similarly bound) six million
(6,000,000) shares of Purchaser's Common Stock (as defined in the Stock Purchase
Agreement) until two (2) years after the Closing Date (as defined in the Stock
Purchase Agreement) without the prior written consent of Digicorp.

      In order to enable the aforesaid covenants to be enforced, the undersigned
hereby consents to the placing of stop-transfer orders with the transfer agent
of the securities of Digicorp with respect to the above referenced shares
registered in the name of the undersigned or beneficially owned by the
undersigned.

Dated:      December 29, 2005

                                    Signature

                                    REBEL HOLDINGS, LLC

                                    By:  /s/ Jay Rifkin
                                         --------------
                                         Jay Rifkin,
                                         Managing Member

                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    --------------------------------------------

                                    Address

                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    Print Social Security Number
                                    or Taxpayer I.D. Number

                                      B-3

                                LOCK-UP AGREEMENT

      Pursuant to Section 2.1(c)(ii) of that certain Stock Purchase Agreement
dated December 20, 2005 by and among Digicorp, a Utah corporation, Rebel Crew
Films, Inc., a California corporation, Rebel Holdings, LLC, a California limited
liability company, and Cesar Chatel (the "Stock Purchase Agreement"), the
undersigned hereby agrees that he, she or it will not, directly or indirectly,
agree or offer to sell, sell, grant an option for the purchase or sale of,
transfer, pledge, assign, hypothecate, distribute or otherwise encumber or
dispose of (other than to donees who agree to be similarly bound) six hundred
sixty-six thousand six hundred sixty-seven (666,667) shares of Purchaser's
Common Stock (as defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement) until two (2) years
after the Closing Date (as defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement) without the
prior written consent of Digicorp.

      In order to enable the aforesaid covenants to be enforced, the undersigned



hereby consents to the placing of stop-transfer orders with the transfer agent
of the securities of Digicorp with respect to the above referenced shares
registered in the name of the undersigned or beneficially owned by the
undersigned.

Dated:      December 29, 2005

                                    Signature

                                    By:  /s/ Cesar Chatel
                                         --------------
                                         Cesar Chatel

                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    --------------------------------------------

                                    Address

                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    Print Social Security Number
                                    or Taxpayer I.D. Number

                                      B-4

                                LOCK-UP AGREEMENT

      Pursuant to Section 2.1(c)(iii) of that certain Stock Purchase Agreement
dated December 20, 2005 by and among Digicorp, a Utah corporation, Rebel Crew
Films, Inc., a California corporation, Rebel Holdings, LLC, a California limited
liability company, and Cesar Chatel (the "Stock Purchase Agreement"), the
undersigned hereby agrees that he, she or it will not, directly or indirectly,
agree or offer to sell, sell, grant an option for the purchase or sale of,
transfer, pledge, assign, hypothecate, distribute or otherwise encumber or
dispose of (other than to donees who agree to be similarly bound) six million
(6,000,000) shares of Purchaser's Common Stock (as defined in the Stock Purchase
Agreement) of which 3,600,000 of the Escrow Performance Shares are a component
of, until three (3) years after the Closing Date (as defined in the Stock
Purchase Agreement) without the prior written consent of Digicorp.

      In order to enable the aforesaid covenants to be enforced, the undersigned
hereby consents to the placing of stop-transfer orders with the transfer agent
of the securities of Digicorp with respect to the above referenced shares
registered in the name of the undersigned or beneficially owned by the
undersigned.

Dated:      December 29, 2005

                                    Signature

                                    REBEL HOLDINGS, LLC

                                    By:  /s/ Jay Rifkin
                                         --------------
                                         Jay Rifkin,
                                         Managing Member

                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    --------------------------------------------

                                    Address

                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    Print Social Security Number
                                    or Taxpayer I.D. Number

                                      B-5

                                LOCK-UP AGREEMENT



      Pursuant to Section 2.1(c)(iii) of that certain Stock Purchase Agreement
dated December 20, 2005 by and among Digicorp, a Utah corporation, Rebel Crew
Films, Inc., a California corporation, Rebel Holdings, LLC, a California limited
liability company, and Cesar Chatel (the "Stock Purchase Agreement"), the
undersigned hereby agrees that he, she or it will not, directly or indirectly,
agree or offer to sell, sell, grant an option for the purchase or sale of,
transfer, pledge, assign, hypothecate, distribute or otherwise encumber or
dispose of (other than to donees who agree to be similarly bound) six hundred
sixty-six thousand six hundred sixty-seven (666,667) shares of Purchaser's
Common Stock (as defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement) of which 400,000 of
the Escrow Performance Shares are a component of, until three (3) years after
the Closing Date (as defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement) without the prior
written consent of Digicorp.

      In order to enable the aforesaid covenants to be enforced, the undersigned
hereby consents to the placing of stop-transfer orders with the transfer agent
of the securities of Digicorp with respect to the above referenced shares
registered in the name of the undersigned or beneficially owned by the
undersigned.

Dated:      December 29, 2005

                                    Signature

                                    By:  /s/ Cesar Chatel
                                         --------------
                                         Cesar Chatel

                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    --------------------------------------------

                                    Address

                                    --------------------------------------------
                                    Print Social Security Number
                                    or Taxpayer I.D. Number

                                      B-6



                                ESCROW AGREEMENT

         THIS ESCROW AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made as of December 29,
2005, by and among Digicorp, a Utah corporation (the "Purchaser"), Rebel
Holdings, LLC, a California limited liability company ("Rebel Holdings"), Cesar
Chatel ("Chatel" and together with Rebel Holdings, the "Sellers"), and Sichenzia
Ross Friedman Ference LLP, a New York limited liability partnership (the "Escrow
Agent").

                              W I T N E S S E T H:
                               - - - - - - - - - -

         WHEREAS, the Purchaser, Rebel Crew Films, Inc., a California
corporation (the "Company") and the Sellers have, as of December 20, 2005,
entered into an agreement (the "Stock Purchase Agreement"), which, among other
matters, provides for the purchase by the Purchaser of all of the outstanding
shares of capital stock of the Company from the Sellers in exchange for
consideration consisting of shares of the Purchaser's common stock, $.001 par
value ("Common Stock"); and

         WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement, the
Purchaser and the Sellers have agreed to escrow 4,000,000 shares of Common Stock
pending satisfaction of a performance milestone in accordance with the terms
hereof.

         NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and the mutual
covenants and agreements herein contained, and in consideration of the parties
thereto entering into the Stock Purchase Agreement, the parties hereto covenant
and agree as follows:

1. Deposit of Stock. Concurrently with the execution and delivery of this
Agreement, the Purchaser shall deliver to the Escrow Agent four million
(4,000,000) shares of Common Stock in the form of two certificates, one issued
in the name of Rebel Holdings representing three million six hundred thousand
(3,600,000) shares of Common Stock and one issued in the name of Chatel
representing four hundred thousand (400,000) shares of Common Stock (the
"Escrowed Stock"). The Escrow Agent shall hold and dispose of the Escrowed Stock
in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

2. Release of Escrowed Stock.

         (a) Release upon Satisfaction or Waiver of Condition. Upon receipt by
the Escrow Agent of a Notice of Satisfaction of Condition, Notice of Partial
Satisfaction or Notice of Waiver of Condition pursuant to Section 2(b) of this
Agreement on or before May 22, 2007 or as soon thereafter as reasonably
practicable, the Escrow Agent shall release the Escrowed Stock in accordance
with such Notice of Satisfaction of Condition, Notice of Partial Satisfaction or
Notice of Waiver of Condition, as applicable, after which this Agreement shall
be deemed terminated and the Escrow Agent shall be deemed released and
discharged from further obligations hereunder.

                                       1

         (b) Condition.

                  (i) The condition for the release of the Escrowed Stock
         subject to Section 2(a) of this Agreement is as follows: if the Company
         generates revenue (determined in accordance with United States
         generally accepted accounting principles) of at least $1,200,000 during
         any twelve (12) month period beginning October 1, 2005 and through
         March 31, 2007 (the "Condition"), then the Escrowed Stock shall be
         released from escrow and delivered to the Sellers. Upon satisfaction of
         the Condition, the Purchaser and the Sellers shall as soon as
         practicable deliver to the Escrow Agent a Notice of Satisfaction of
         Condition signed by the Purchaser and the Sellers instructing the
         Escrow Agent to release the Escrowed Stock to the Sellers.

                  (ii) For each $12,000 (1%) that the Company's revenue is below
         $1,200,000 during any twelve (12) month period beginning October 1,
         2005 and through March 31, 2007, 200,000 (5%) of the Escrowed Stock



         shall be cancelled (90% of which shall be shares of Common Stock issued
         in the name of Rebel Holding and 10% of which shall be shares of Common
         Stock issued in the name of Chatel) and returned to treasury of the
         Purchaser ("Partial Satisfaction"). For purposes of clarification, if,
         for example, the Company generates a maximum of $960,000 of revenue
         during any twelve (12) month period beginning October 1, 2005 and
         through March 31, 2007, then all of the Escrowed Stock would be
         cancelled and returned to treasury of Purchaser. In the event of a
         Partial Satisfaction, the Purchaser and the Sellers shall as soon as
         practicable deliver to the Escrow Agent a Notice of Partial
         Satisfaction signed by the Purchaser and the Sellers specifically
         instructing the Escrow Agent what portion of the Escrowed Stock shall
         be released to the Sellers and what portion of the Escrowed Stock shall
         be released to the Purchaser to be cancelled.

                  (iii) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Condition shall not
         be applicable in the event: (A) Purchaser sells the Company (or sells,
         conveys or otherwise disposes of all of the assets of the Company) on
         or before March 31, 2007 for consideration equal to or greater than
         $1,200,000; and (B) such sale of the Company (or sale, conveyance or
         disposition of all of the assets of the Company) is approved by an
         affirmative vote of all directors designated or elected by Milton
         "Todd" Ault, III pursuant to Section 6.9 of the Stock Purchase
         Agreement (the "Waiver of Condition"). In the event of a Waiver of
         Condition, the Purchaser and the Sellers shall as soon as practicable
         deliver to the Escrow Agent a Notice of Waiver of Condition signed by
         the Purchaser and the Sellers instructing the Escrow Agent to release
         the Escrowed Stock to the Sellers.

         (c) Release of Escrowed Stock if there is a Dispute. If a dispute
arises between the Purchaser and the Sellers in connection with this Agreement,
then either the Purchaser or the Sellers shall within five (5) business days
after the date such dispute arises deliver notice of such dispute ("Notice of
Dispute") to the Escrow Agent, and simultaneously deliver a copy of such Notice
of Dispute to the other parties to this Agreement. If a Notice of Dispute is
received by the Escrow Agent or if no Notice of Satisfaction of Condition,
Notice of Partial Satisfaction or Notice of Waiver of Condition is received by
the Escrow Agent on or before May 22, 2007 or as soon thereafter as reasonably
practicable pursuant to Section 2 of this Agreement, then the Escrow Agent shall
retain custody of the Escrowed Stock until the first to occur of the following:
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                  (i) Receipt by the Escrow Agent of a notice signed by the
         Purchaser and the Sellers containing instructions to the Escrow Agent
         as to the delivery of the Escrowed Stock; or

                  (ii) Receipt by the Escrow Agent of a final order of a court
         of competent jurisdiction resolving the dispute from which no appeal is
         or can be taken;

after which the Escrow Agent shall promptly deliver the Escrowed Stock in
accordance with the notice from the parties or decision of the court, as the
case may be. Upon delivery thereof, this Agreement shall be deemed terminated
and the Escrow Agent shall be deemed released and discharged from further
obligations hereunder.

3. Termination by the Parties. If at any time the Escrow Agent shall receive a
written notice signed by the Purchaser and the Sellers that this Agreement has
been terminated and instructing the Escrow Agent with respect to the disposition
of the Escrowed Stock, the Escrow Agent shall release the Escrowed Stock in
accordance with the instructions contained in such notice, and upon such release
this Agreement shall be deemed terminated and the Escrow Agent shall be deemed
released and discharged from further obligations hereunder.

4. Nature of Duties; No Conflict; Liability. It is understood and agreed that
the duties of the Escrow Agent hereunder are purely ministerial in nature and do
not represent a conflict of interest for the Escrow Agent to act, or continue to
act, as counsel for any party to this Agreement with respect to any litigation
or other matters arising out of this Agreement or otherwise. The Escrow Agent
shall not be liable for any error of judgment, fact, or law, or any act done or
omitted to be done, except for its own willful misconduct or gross negligence or
that of its partners, employees, and agents. The Escrow Agent's determination as



to whether an event or condition has occurred, or been met or satisfied, or as
to whether a provision of this Agreement has been complied with, or as to
whether sufficient evidence of the event or condition or compliance with the
provision has been furnished to it, shall not subject the Escrow Agent to any
claim, liability, or obligation whatsoever, even if it shall be found that such
determination was improper and incorrect; provided that the Escrow Agent and its
partners, employees, and agents shall not have been guilty of willful misconduct
or gross negligence in making such determination.

5. Indemnification. The Purchaser and the Sellers jointly and severally agree to
indemnify the Escrow Agent for, and to hold it harmless against, any loss,
liability, or expense ("Cost") incurred without gross negligence or willful
misconduct on the part of the Escrow Agent, arising out of or in connection with
its entering into this Agreement and carrying out its duties hereunder,
including costs and expenses of defending itself against any claim of liability
in connection herewith or therewith. The right to indemnification set forth in
the preceding sentence shall include the right to be paid by the Purchaser and
the Sellers in respect of Costs as they are incurred (including Costs incurred
in connection with defending itself against any claim of liability in connection
herewith). The Escrow Agent shall repay any amounts so paid if it shall
ultimately be determined by a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction
from which no appeal is or can be taken that the Escrow Agent is not entitled to
such indemnification.
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6. Documents and Instructions. The Escrow Agent may act in reliance upon any
notice, instruction, certificate, statement, request, consent, confirmation,
agreement or other instrument which it believes to be genuine and to have been
signed by a proper person or persons, and may assume that any of the officers of
Purchaser purporting to act on behalf of Purchaser in giving any such notice or
other instrument in connection with the provisions hereof has been duly
authorized to do so. The Escrow Agent acts hereunder as a depository only and
shall not be responsible or liable in any manner whatsoever for the genuineness,
sufficiency, correctness, or validity of any agreement, document, certificate,
instrument, or item deposited with it or any notice, consent, approval,
direction, or instruction given to it, and the Escrow Agent shall be fully
protected, under Sections 4 and 5 above, for all acts taken in accordance with
any written instruction or instrument given to it hereunder, and reasonably
believed by the Escrow Agent to be genuine and what it purports to be.

7. Conflicting Notices, Claims, Demands, or Instructions. If at any time the
Escrow Agent shall receive conflicting notices, claims, demands, or instructions
with respect to the Escrowed Stock, or if for any other reason it shall in good
faith be unable to determine the party or parties entitled to receive the
Escrowed Stock, or any part thereof, the Escrow Agent may refuse to make any
distribution or payment and may retain the Escrowed Stock in its possession
until it shall have received instructions in writing concurred in by all parties
in interest, or until directed by a final order or judgment of a court of
competent jurisdiction from which no appeal is or can be taken, whereupon the
Escrow Agent shall make such disposition in accordance with such instructions or
such order. The Escrow Agent shall also be entitled to commence an interpleader
action in any court of competent jurisdiction to seek an adjudication of the
rights of the Purchaser and the Sellers.

8. Advice of Counsel. The Escrow Agent may consult with, and obtain advice from,
legal counsel in the event of any dispute or question as to the construction of
any of the provisions hereof or its duties hereunder, and it shall incur no
liability and shall be fully protected and indemnified under Section 5 above for
all acts taken, in the absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct, in
accordance with the advice and instructions of such counsel. In the event that
the Escrow Agent retains counsel or otherwise incurs any legal fees by virtue of
any provision of this Agreement, the reasonable fees and disbursements of such
counsel and any other liability, loss or expense which the Escrow Agent may
thereafter suffer or incur in connection with this Agreement or the performance
or attempted performance in good faith of its duties hereunder shall be paid (or
reimbursed to it) by the Purchaser and the Sellers, jointly and severally. In
the event that the Escrow Agent shall become a party to any litigation in
connection with its functions as Escrow Agent pursuant to this Agreement,
whether such litigation shall be brought by or against it, the reasonable fees
and disbursements of counsel of the Escrow Agent including the amounts
attributable to services rendered by partners or associates of Escrow Agent at
the then prevailing hourly rate charged by them and disbursements incurred by



them, together with any other liability, loss or expense which it may suffer or
incur in connection therewith, shall be paid (or reimbursed to it) by the
Purchaser and the Sellers, jointly and severally, unless such loss, liability or
expense is due to the willful breach by the Escrow Agent of its duties
hereunder.

9. Compensation and Expenses. The Escrow Agent agrees to serve without
compensation for its services. Subject to Section 5, all expenses of the Escrow
Agent incurred in the performance of its duties hereunder shall be paid by the
Purchaser.
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10. Resignation of Escrow Agent. The Escrow Agent may resign at any time upon
giving the other parties hereto thirty (30) days' written notice to that effect.
In such event, the successor escrow agent shall be such person, firm, or
corporation as the Purchaser and the Sellers shall mutually select. It is
understood and agreed that the Escrow Agent's resignation shall not be effective
until a successor escrow agent agrees to act hereunder; provided, however, that
in the event no successor escrow agent is appointed and acting hereunder within
thirty (30) days after notice is delivered to the other parties hereto of the
Escrow Agent's resignation, the Escrow Agent may (a) deliver the Escrowed Stock
to a court of competent jurisdiction; or (b) appoint a successor escrow agent
hereunder so long as such successor shall accept and agree to be bound by the
terms of this Agreement (except that any such successor escrow agent shall be
entitled to customary fees which shall be payable by the Purchaser) and shall be
a bank or trust company insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

11. Escrow Agent as Counsel to the Purchaser. The Sellers hereby acknowledge
that the Escrow Agent is counsel to the Purchaser and the Sellers hereby agree
that they will not seek to disqualify the Escrow Agent from acting and
continuing to act as counsel to the Purchaser in the event of a dispute
hereunder or in the course of the defense or prosecution of any claim relating
to the transactions contemplated hereby or by the Stock Purchase Agreement.

12. Notices. All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be
in writing and shall be deemed given when delivered personally, by overnight
commercial delivery service or mailed by certified mail, return receipt
requested, or sent via facsimile (receipt confirmed) to the parties at the
following addresses (or to such other address or facsimile numbers as a party
may have specified by notice given to the other party pursuant to this
provision):

            (a)   If to the Purchaser, to it at the address and facsimile number
                  set forth in or furnished pursuant to the provisions of the
                  Stock Purchase Agreement;

            (b)   If to the Sellers, to them at the address(es) and facsimile
                  number(s) set forth in or furnished pursuant to the provisions
                  of the Stock Purchase Agreement; and

            (c)   If to the Escrow Agent, to it at:

                           Attn: Marc J. Ross, Esq.
                           Sichenzia Ross Friedman Ference LLP
                           1065 Avenue of the Americas
                           New York, NY 10018
                           Facsimile: (212) 930-9725;

or to such other persons or addresses as any party may have furnished in writing
to the other parties. Copies of all communications hereunder shall be sent to
the Escrow Agent.

13. Entire Agreement, Etc. This Agreement contains the entire agreement among
the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement may not be
amended, supplemented, or discharged, and no provision hereof may be modified or
waived, except by an instrument in writing signed by all of the parties hereto.
No waiver of any provision hereof by any party shall be deemed a continuing
waiver of any matter by such party. If a conflict between the terms and
provisions hereof and of the Stock Purchase Agreement occurs, the terms and
provisions hereof shall govern the rights, obligations, and liabilities of the
Escrow Agent.
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14. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure
to the benefit of each of the parties hereto, and their respective heirs,
successors, assigns, distributees, and legal representatives.

15. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each
of which shall be deemed original, but such counterparts together shall
constitute one and the same instrument.

16. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and
enforced in accordance with the law (other than the law governing conflict of
law questions) of the State of New York. Any action to enforce, arising out of,
or relating in any way to any of the provisions of this Agreement may be brought
and prosecuted in such court or courts located within New York County, New York
as is provided by law; and the parties hereto consent to the jurisdiction of the
court or courts located within New York County, New York and to service of
process by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, or by any
other manner provided by law.

17. Additional Documents and Acts. The Purchaser and the Sellers shall, from
time to time, execute such documents and perform such acts as Escrow Agent may
reasonably request and as may be necessary to enable Escrow Agent to perform its
duties hereunder or effectuate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

                            [Signature page follows.]
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         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed or caused this
Agreement to be duly executed as a sealed instrument as of the day and year
first above written.

                                            PURCHASER:

                                            DIGICORP

                                            By:  /s/ William B. Horne
                                                 -------------------------------
                                                  William B. Horne,
                                                  Chief Executive Officer

                                            SELLERS:

                                            REBEL HOLDINGS, LLC

                                            By:  /s/ Jay Rifkin
                                                 -------------------------------
                                                 Jay Rifkin,
                                                 Managing Member

                                            /s/Cesar Chatel
                                            ------------------------------------
                                            Cesar Chatel

                                            ESCROW AGENT:

                                            SICHENZIA ROSS FRIEDMAN FERENCE LLP

                                            By:  /s/ Thomas A. Rose
                                                 -------------------------------
                                                  Thomas A. Rose,
                                                  Partner
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         THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED
         UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT").
         THE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE SOLD, TRANSFERRED OR ASSIGNED IN THE ABSENCE
         OF AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT FOR THE SECURITIES UNDER SAID
         SECURITIES ACT, OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL IN FORM, SUBSTANCE AND SCOPE
         CUSTOMARY FOR OPINIONS OF COUNSEL IN COMPARABLE TRANSACTIONS THAT
         REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED UNDER SAID SECURITIES ACT OR UNLESS SOLD
         PURSUANT TO RULE 144 OR REGULATION S UNDER SAID SECURITIES ACT.

                            SECURED CONVERTIBLE NOTE

Santa Monica, California

 December 29, 2005                                                  $556,306.53

                  FOR VALUE RECEIVED, DIGICORP, a Utah corporation (hereinafter
called the "Borrower"), hereby promises to pay to the order of REBEL CREW
HOLDINGS, LLC or its registered assigns (the "Holder") the sum of Five Hundred
Fifty-Six Thousand Three Hundred Six Dollars and Fifty-Three Cents
($556,306.53), on December 29, 2010 (the "Maturity Date"), plus simple interest
on the unpaid principal balance hereof at the rate of four and one half percent
(4.5%). The issue date of this secured convertible note (the "Note") is December
29, 2005. All payments due hereunder (to the extent not converted into common
stock, $.001 par value per share, of the Borrower (the "Common Stock") in
accordance with the terms hereof) shall be made in lawful money of the United
States of America or, at the option of the Borrower, in whole or in part, in
shares of Common Stock valued at the then applicable Conversion Price (as
defined herein). All payments shall be made at such address as the Holder shall
hereafter give to the Borrower by written notice made in accordance with the
provisions of this Note. Whenever any amount expressed to be due by the terms of
this Note is due on any day which is not a business day, the same shall instead
be due on the next succeeding day which is a business day. As used in this Note,
the term "business day" shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a
day on which commercial banks in the city of New York, New York are authorized
or required by law or executive order to remain closed. Each capitalized term
used herein, and not otherwise defined, shall have the meaning ascribed thereto
in that certain Securities Purchase Agreement, dated December 29, 2005, pursuant
to which this Note was originally issued (the "Purchase Agreement").

         This Note is free from all taxes, liens, claims and encumbrances with
respect to the issue thereof and shall not be subject to preemptive rights or
other similar rights of shareholders of the Borrower and will not impose
personal liability upon the holder thereof. The obligations of the Borrower
under this Note shall be secured by that certain Security Agreement, dated
December 29, 2005, by and between the Borrower and the Holder (the "Security
Agreement").

         The following terms shall apply to this Note:

                          ARTICLE I. CONVERSION RIGHTS

            1.1 Conversion Right. The Holder shall have the right from time to
time, and at any time on or prior to the Maturity Date in respect of the
remaining outstanding principal amount of this Note to convert all or any part
of the outstanding and unpaid principal amount of this Note into fully paid and
non-assessable shares of Common Stock, as such Common Stock exists on the Issue
Date, or any shares of capital stock or other securities of the Borrower into
which such Common Stock shall hereafter be changed or reclassified at the
conversion price of $1.112614 per share (the "Conversion Price"). The number of
shares of Common Stock to be issued upon each conversion (a "Conversion") of
this Note shall be determined by dividing the principal amount of this Note or
portion thereof as indicated in the notice of conversion, in the form attached
hereto as Exhibit A (the "Notice of Conversion"), by the applicable Conversion
Price then in effect on the date specified in the Notice of conversion delivered
to the Borrower by the Holder in accordance with Section 1.3 below; provided
that the Notice of Conversion is submitted by facsimile (or by other means
resulting in, or reasonably expected to result in, notice) to the Borrower
before 5:00 p.m., New York, New York time on such conversion date (the
"Conversion Date").

            1.2 Authorized Shares. The Borrower covenants that during the period



the conversion right exists, the Borrower will reserve from its authorized and
unissued Common Stock a sufficient number of shares, free from preemptive
rights, to provide for the issuance of Common Stock upon the full conversion of
this Note. The Borrower represents that upon issuance, such shares will be duly
and validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. In addition, if the Borrower
shall issue any securities or make any change to its capital structure which
would change the number of shares of Common Stock into which the Note shall be
convertible at the then current Conversion Price, the Borrower shall at the same
time make proper provision so that thereafter there shall be a sufficient number
of shares of Common Stock authorized and reserved, free from preemptive rights,
for conversion of the outstanding Note. The Borrower agrees that its issuance of
this Note shall constitute full authority to its officers and agents who are
charged with the duty of executing stock certificates to execute and issue the
necessary certificates for shares of Common Stock in accordance with the terms
and conditions of this Note.

            1.3 Method of Conversion.

                  (a) Mechanics of Conversion. Subject to Section 1.1, this Note
may be converted by the Holder in whole or in part at any time from time to time
after the Issue Date, by: (i) submitting to the Borrower a Notice of Conversion
(by facsimile or other reasonable means of communication dispatched on the
Conversion Date prior to 5:00 p.m., New York, New York time); and (ii) subject
to Section 1.3(b), surrendering this Note at the principal office of the
Borrower.

                  (b) Surrender of Note Upon Conversion. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary set forth herein, upon conversion of this Note in
accordance with the terms hereof, the Holder shall not be required to physically
surrender this Note to the Borrower unless the entire unpaid principal amount of
this Note is so converted. The Holder and the Borrower shall maintain records
showing the principal amount so converted and the dates of such conversions or
shall use such other method, reasonably satisfactory to the Holder and the
Borrower, so as not to require physical surrender of this Note upon each such
conversion. In the event of any dispute or discrepancy, such records of the
Borrower shall be controlling and determinative in the absence of manifest
error. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any portion of this Note is converted
as aforesaid, the Holder may not transfer this Note unless the Holder first
physically surrenders this Note to the Borrower, whereupon the Borrower will
forthwith issue and deliver upon the order of the Holder a new Note of like
tenor, registered as the Holder (upon payment by the Holder of any applicable
transfer taxes) may request, representing in the aggregate the remaining unpaid
principal amount of this Note. The Holder and any assignee, by acceptance of
this Note, acknowledge and agree that, by reason of the provisions of this
paragraph, following conversion of a portion of this Note, the unpaid and
unconverted principal amount of this Note represented by this Note may be less
than the amount stated on the face hereof.
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                  (c) Delivery of Common Stock Upon Conversion. Upon receipt by
the Borrower from the Holder of a facsimile transmission (or other reasonable
means of communication) of a Notice of Conversion meeting the requirements for
conversion as provided in this Section 1.3, the Borrower shall issue and deliver
or cause to be issued and delivered to or upon the order of the Holder
certificates for the Common Stock issuable upon such conversion within three (3)
business days after such receipt (and, solely in the case of conversion of the
entire unpaid principal amount hereof, surrender of this Note) (such third
business day being hereinafter referred to as the "Deadline") in accordance with
the terms hereof and the Purchase Agreement (including, without limitation, in
accordance with the requirements of Section 3(w) of the Purchase Agreement that
certificates for shares of Common Stock issued on or after the effective date of
the Registration Statement upon conversion of this Note shall not bear any
restrictive legend).

                  (d) Obligation of Borrower to Deliver Common Stock. Upon
receipt by the Borrower of a Notice of Conversion, the Holder shall be deemed to
be the holder of record of the Common Stock issuable upon such conversion, the
outstanding principal amount and the amount of accrued and unpaid interest on
this Note shall be reduced to reflect such conversion, and, unless the Borrower
defaults on its obligations under this Article I, all rights with respect to the
portion of this Note being so converted shall forthwith terminate except the
right to receive the Common Stock or other securities, cash or other assets, as



herein provided, on such conversion. If the Holder shall have given a Notice of
Conversion as provided herein, the Borrower's obligation to issue and deliver
the certificates for Common Stock shall be absolute and unconditional,
irrespective of the absence of any action by the Holder to enforce the same, any
waiver or consent with respect to any provision thereof, the recovery of any
judgment against any person or any action to enforce the same, any failure or
delay in the enforcement of any other obligation of the Borrower to the holder
of record, or any setoff, counterclaim, recoupment, limitation or termination,
or any breach or alleged breach by the Holder of any obligation to the Borrower,
and irrespective of any other circumstance which might otherwise limit such
obligation of the Borrower to the Holder in connection with such conversion. The
Conversion Date specified in the Notice of Conversion shall be the Conversion
Date so long as the Notice of Conversion is received by the Borrower before 5:00
p.m., New York, New York time, on such date.
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                  (e) Delivery of Common Stock by Electronic Transfer. In lieu
of delivering physical certificates representing the Common Stock issuable upon
conversion, provided the Borrower's transfer agent is participating in the
Depository Trust Company ("DTC") Fast Automated Securities Transfer ("FAST")
program, upon request of the Holder and its compliance with the provisions
contained in Section 1.1 and in this Section 1.3, the Borrower shall use its
best efforts to cause its transfer agent to electronically transmit the Common
Stock issuable upon conversion to the Holder by crediting the account of
Holder's Prime Broker with DTC through its Deposit Withdrawal Agent Commission
("DWAC") system.

            1.4 Concerning the Shares. The shares of Common Stock issuable upon
conversion of this Note may not be sold or transferred unless: (a) such shares
are sold pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities
Act; (b) the Borrower or its transfer agent shall have been furnished with an
opinion of counsel (which opinion shall be in form, substance and scope
customary for opinions of counsel in comparable transactions) to the effect that
the shares to be sold or transferred may be sold or transferred pursuant to an
exemption from such registration; or (c) such shares are sold or transferred
pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act (or a successor rule) ("Rule
144"). Except as otherwise provided in the Purchase Agreement (and subject to
the removal provisions set forth below), until such time as the shares of Common
Stock issuable upon conversion of this Note have been registered under the
Securities Act as contemplated by the Registration Rights Agreement or otherwise
may be sold pursuant to Rule 144 without any restriction as to the number of
securities as of a particular date that can then be immediately sold, each
certificate for shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of this Note
that has not been so included in an effective registration statement or that has
not been sold pursuant to an effective registration statement or an exemption
that permits removal of the legend, shall bear a legend substantially in the
following form, as appropriate:

         "THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT BEEN
         REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED. THE SECURITIES
         MAY NOT BE SOLD, TRANSFERRED OR ASSIGNED IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EFFECTIVE
         REGISTRATION STATEMENT FOR THE SECURITIES UNDER SAID SECURITIES ACT, OR
         AN OPINION OF COUNSEL IN FORM, SUBSTANCE AND SCOPE CUSTOMARY FOR
         OPINIONS OF COUNSEL IN COMPARABLE TRANSACTIONS, THAT REGISTRATION IS
         NOT REQUIRED UNDER SAID SECURITIES ACT UNLESS SOLD PURSUANT TO RULE 144
         OR REGULATION S UNDER SAID SECURITIES ACT."

            The legend set forth above shall be removed and the Borrower shall
issue to the Holder a new certificate therefor free of any transfer legend if:
(a) the Borrower or its transfer agent shall have received an opinion of
counsel, in form, substance and scope customary for opinions of counsel in
comparable transactions, to the effect that a public sale or transfer of such
Common Stock may be made without registration under the Securities Act and the
shares are so sold or transferred; or (b) in the case of the Common Stock
issuable upon conversion of this Note, such security is registered for sale by
the Holder under an effective registration statement filed under the Securities
Act or otherwise may be sold pursuant to Rule 144. Nothing in this Note shall
limit the Borrower's obligation under Section 4(c) of the Purchase Agreement or
affect in any way the Holder's obligations to comply with applicable prospectus
delivery requirements upon the resale of the securities referred to herein.
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            1.5 Effect of Certain Events.

                  (a) Adjustment Due to Merger, Consolidation, Etc. If, at any
time when this Note is issued and outstanding and prior to conversion of the
Note, there shall be any merger, consolidation, exchange of shares,
recapitalization, reorganization, or other similar event, as a result of which
shares of Common Stock of the Borrower shall be changed into the same or a
different number of shares of another class or classes of stock or securities of
the Borrower or another entity, or in case of any sale or conveyance of all or
substantially all of the assets of the Borrower other than in connection with a
plan of complete liquidation of the Borrower, then the Holder of this Note shall
thereafter have the right to receive upon conversion of this Note, upon the
basis and upon the terms and conditions specified herein and in lieu of the
shares of Common Stock immediately theretofore issuable upon conversion, such
stock, securities or assets which the Holder would have been entitled to receive
in such transaction had this Note been converted in full immediately prior to
such transaction (without regard to any limitations on conversion set forth
herein), and in any such case appropriate provisions shall be made with respect
to the rights and interests of the Holder of this Note to the end that the
provisions hereof (including, without limitation, provisions for adjustment of
the Conversion Price and of the number of shares issuable upon conversion of the
Note) shall thereafter be applicable, as nearly as may be practicable in
relation to any securities or assets thereafter deliverable upon the conversion
hereof.

                  (b) Adjustment Due to Distribution. If the Borrower shall
declare or make any distribution of its assets (or rights to acquire its assets)
to holders of Common Stock as a dividend, stock repurchase, by way of return of
capital or otherwise (including any dividend or distribution to the Borrower's
shareholders in cash or shares (or rights to acquire shares) of capital stock of
a subsidiary (i.e., a spin-off)) (a "Distribution"), then the Holder of this
Note shall be entitled, upon any conversion of this Note after the date of
record for determining shareholders entitled to such Distribution, to receive
the amount of such assets which would have been payable to the Holder with
respect to the shares of Common Stock issuable upon such conversion had such
Holder been the holder of such shares of Common Stock on the record date for the
determination of shareholders entitled to such Distribution.

                  (c) Notice of Adjustments. Upon the occurrence of each
adjustment or readjustment of the Conversion Price as a result of the events
described in this Section 1.5, the Borrower, at its expense, shall promptly
compute such adjustment or readjustment and prepare and furnish to the Holder of
a certificate setting forth such adjustment or readjustment and showing in
detail the facts upon which such adjustment or readjustment is based. The
Borrower shall, upon the written request at any time of the Holder, furnish to
such Holder a like certificate setting forth: (i) such adjustment or
readjustment; (ii) the Conversion Price at the time in effect; nd (iii) the
number of shares of Common Stock and the amount, if any, of other securities or
property which at the time would be received upon conversion of the Note.
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            1.6 Status as Shareholder. Upon submission of a Notice of Conversion
by a Holder, provided that the Notice of Conversion is submitted by facsimile
(or by other means resulting in, or reasonably expected to result in, notice) to
the Borrower before 5:00 p.m., New York, New York time: (a) the shares covered
thereby shall be deemed converted into shares of Common Stock and; (b) the
Holder's rights as a Holder of such converted portion of this Note shall cease
and terminate, excepting only the right to receive certificates for such shares
of Common Stock and to any remedies provided herein or otherwise available at
law or in equity to such Holder because of a failure by the Borrower to comply
with the terms of this Note.

                          ARTICLE II. CERTAIN COVENANTS

            2.1 Compliance with Laws. So long as the Borrower shall have any
obligation under this Note, the Borrower shall comply, in all material respects
with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and orders, except to the extent
that noncompliance would not have a material adverse effect upon the business,
operations or financial condition of the Borrower, taken as a whole.

            2.2 Preservation of Existence. So long as the Borrower shall have



any obligation under this Note, the Borrower shall maintain and preserve, and
cause each subsidiary, if any, to maintain and preserve, its existence, and
become or remain duly qualified and in good standing in each jurisdiction in
which the failure to be so qualified would have a material adverse effect on the
business, operations or financial condition of the Borrower, taken as a whole.

            2.3 Maintenance of Properties. So long as the Borrower shall have
any obligation under this Note, the Borrower shall maintain and preserve, all of
its properties which are necessary in the proper conduct of its business in good
working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and comply, at all
times with the provisions of all leases to which it is a party as lessee or
under which it occupies property, so as to prevent any forfeiture or material
loss thereof or thereunder.

            2.4 Maintenance of Insurance. So long as the Borrower shall have any
obligation under this Note, the Borrower shall maintain, with responsible and
reputable insurers, insurance with respect to its properties and business, in
such amounts and covering such risks, as is carried generally in accordance with
sound business practice by companies in similar businesses in the same
localities in which the Borrower is situated.

            2.5 Keeping of Records and Books of Account. So long as the Borrower
shall have any obligation under this Note, the Borrower shall keep adequate
records and books of account, with complete entries made in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, reflecting all of its financial and
other business transactions.

            2.6 Compliance with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. So long as
the Borrower shall have any obligation under this Note, the Borrower shall
comply in all respects with the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, including the filing of all reports due thereunder.

            2.7 Reservation of Common Stock. So long as the Borrower shall have
any obligation under this Note, the Borrower shall have authorized and reserved,
free from preemptive rights, a sufficient number of shares of Common Stock to
provide for the conversion of this Note in full in accordance with Section 1.2
of this Note.
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                         ARTICLE III. EVENTS OF DEFAULT

            If any of the following events of default (each, an "Event of
Default") shall occur:

            3.1 Failure to Pay Principal or Interest. The Borrower fails to pay
the principal hereof or interest thereon when due on this Note;

            3.2 Conversion and the Shares. The Borrower fails to issue shares of
Common Stock to the Holder (or announces or threatens that it will not honor its
obligation to do so) upon exercise by the Holder of the conversion rights of the
Holder in accordance with the terms of this Note, fails to transfer or cause its
transfer agent to transfer (electronically or in certificated form) any
certificate for shares of Common Stock issued to the Holder upon conversion of
or otherwise pursuant to this Note as and when required by this Note, or fails
to remove any restrictive legend (or to withdraw any stop transfer instructions
in respect thereof) on any certificate for any shares of Common Stock issued to
the Holder upon conversion of or otherwise pursuant to this Note as and when
required by this Note or Section 4(c) of the Purchase Agreement and any such
failure shall continue uncured for thirty (30) days after the Borrower shall
have been notified thereof in writing by the Holder;

            3.3 Breach of Covenants. The Borrower breaches any material covenant
or other material term or condition contained in 1.2 or Article II of this Note,
or Section 4(c) of the Purchase Agreement and such breach continues for a period
of thirty (30) days after written notice thereof to the Borrower from the
Holder;

            3.4 Breach of Representations and Warranties. Any representation or
warranty of the Borrower made herein or in any agreement, statement or
certificate given in writing pursuant hereto or in connection herewith
(including, without limitation, the Purchase Agreement and the Security
Agreement), shall be false or misleading in any material respect when made and



the breach of which has (or with the passage of time will have) a material
adverse effect on the rights of the Holder with respect to this Note, the
Purchase Agreement or the Security Agreement;

            3.5 Receiver or Trustee. The Borrower or any subsidiary of the
Borrower shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or apply for or
consent to the appointment of a receiver or trustee for it or for a substantial
part of its property or business, or such a receiver or trustee shall otherwise
be appointed;

            3.6 Bankruptcy.

                  (a) Commencement by the Borrower of a voluntary case under the
United States Bankruptcy Code (as now or hereafter in effect) or under the
comparable laws of any jurisdiction; or
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                  (b) Commencement of a proceeding or case in respect of the
Borrower, in any court of competent jurisdiction, seeking: (i) the liquidation,
reorganization, moratorium, dissolution, winding up, or composition or
readjustment of its debts; (ii) the appointment of a trustee, receiver,
custodian, liquidator or the like of it or of all or any substantial part of its
assets in connection with the liquidation or dissolution of the Borrower; or
(iii) similar relief in respect of the Borrower under any law providing for the
relief of debtors, and such proceeding or case described in clause (i), (ii), or
(iii) shall continue undismissed, or unstayed and in effect, for a period of
thirty (30) days; or

            3.7 Delisting of Common Stock. If the Borrower shall fail to
maintain the listing of the Common Stock on at least one of the OTCBB or an
equivalent replacement exchange, the Nasdaq National Market, the Nasdaq SmallCap
Market, the New York Stock Exchange, or the American Stock Exchange; then, upon
the occurrence and during the continuation of any Event of Default specified in
Section 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, or 3.7 which is not cured within thirty (30) days
after receipt by the Borrower of written notice that such an Event of Default
has occurred, at the option of the Holder exercisable through the delivery of
written notice to the Borrower by such Holder (the "Default Notice"), and upon
the occurrence of an Event of Default specified in Section 3.5 or 3.6, the Note
shall become immediately due and payable and all other amounts payable hereunder
shall immediately become due and payable, all without demand, presentment or
notice (only upon the occurrence of an Event of Default specified in Section 3.5
or 3.6), all of which hereby are expressly waived, together with all costs,
including, without limitation, legal fees and expenses, of collection, and the
Holder shall be entitled to exercise all other rights and remedies available at
law or in equity.

                           ARTICLE IV. MISCELLANEOUS

            4.1 Failure or Indulgence Not Waiver. No failure or delay on the
part of the Holder in the exercise of any power, right or privilege hereunder
shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of
any such power, right or privilege preclude other or further exercise thereof or
of any other right, power or privileges. All rights and remedies existing
hereunder are cumulative to, and not exclusive of, any rights or remedies
otherwise available.

            4.2 Notices. Any notice herein required or permitted to be given
shall be in writing and may be personally served or delivered by courier or sent
by United States mail and shall be deemed to have been given upon receipt if
personally served (which shall include telephone line facsimile transmission) or
sent by courier or three (3) days after being deposited in the United States
mail, certified, with postage pre-paid and properly addressed, if sent by mail.
For the purposes hereof, the address of the Holder shall be as shown on the
records of the Borrower; and the address of the Borrower shall be 100 Wilshire
Boulevard, Suite 1750, Santa Monica, California 90401, facsimile number: (310)
752-1486. Both the Holder and the Borrower may change the address for service by
delivery of written notice to the other as herein provided.

            4.3 Amendments. This Note and any provision hereof may only be
amended by an instrument in writing signed by the Borrower and the Holder. The
term "Note" and all reference thereto, as used throughout this instrument, shall
mean this instrument as originally executed, or if later amended or



supplemented, then as so amended or supplemented.
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            4.4 Assignability. This Note shall be binding upon the Borrower and
its successors and assigns, and shall inure to be the benefit of the Holder and
its successors and assigns. Each transferee of this Note must be an "accredited
investor" (as defined in Rule 501(a) of the Securities Act).

            4.5 Governing Law. THIS NOTE SHALL BE ENFORCED, GOVERNED BY AND
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA APPLICABLE TO
AGREEMENTS MADE AND TO BE PERFORMED ENTIRELY WITHIN SUCH STATE, WITHOUT REGARD
TO THE PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICT OF LAWS. THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY SUBMIT TO THE
EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES FEDERAL COURTS LOCATED IN LOS
ANGELES COUNTY, CALIFORNIA WITH RESPECT TO ANY DISPUTE ARISING UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT, THE AGREEMENTS ENTERED INTO IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR THE
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY. BOTH PARTIES IRREVOCABLY WAIVE THE
DEFENSE OF AN INCONVENIENT FORUM TO THE MAINTENANCE OF SUCH SUIT OR PROCEEDING.
BOTH PARTIES AGREE THAT A FINAL NON-APPEALABLE JUDGMENT IN ANY SUCH SUIT OR
PROCEEDING SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE AND MAY BE ENFORCED IN OTHER JURISDICTIONS BY
SUIT ON SUCH JUDGMENT OR IN ANY OTHER LAWFUL MANNER.

            4.6 Denominations. At the request of the Holder, upon surrender of
this Note, the Borrower shall promptly issue new Notes in the aggregate
outstanding principal amount hereof, in the form hereof, in such denominations
as the Holder shall reasonably request.

            4.7 Purchase Agreement. By its acceptance of this Note, the Holder
agrees to be bound by the applicable terms of the Purchase Agreement.

            4.8 Notice of Corporate Events. Except as otherwise provided below,
the Holder of this Note shall have no rights as a Holder of Common Stock unless
and only to the extent that it converts this Note into Common Stock. The
Borrower shall provide the Holder with prior notification of any meeting of the
Borrower's shareholders (and copies of proxy materials and other information
sent to shareholders). In the event of any taking by the Borrower of a record of
its shareholders for the purpose of determining shareholders who are entitled to
receive payment of any dividend or other distribution, any right to subscribe
for, purchase or otherwise acquire (including by way of merger, consolidation,
reclassification or recapitalization) any share of any class or any other
securities or property, or to receive any other right, or for the purpose of
determining shareholders who are entitled to vote in connection with any
proposed sale, lease or conveyance of all or substantially all of the assets of
the Borrower or any proposed liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the
Borrower, the Borrower shall mail a notice to the Holder, at least twenty (20)
days prior to the record date specified therein (or thirty (30) days prior to
the consummation of the transaction or event, whichever is earlier), of the date
on which any such record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend,
distribution, right or other event, and a brief statement regarding the amount
and character of such dividend, distribution, right or other event to the extent
known at such time.
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            4.9 Remedies. The Borrower acknowledges that a breach by it of its
obligations hereunder will cause irreparable harm to the Holder, by vitiating
the intent and purpose of the transaction contemplated hereby. Accordingly, the
Borrower acknowledges that the remedy at law for a breach of its obligations
under this Note will be inadequate and agrees, in the event of a breach or
threatened breach by the Borrower of the provisions of this Note, that the
Holder shall be entitled, in addition to all other available remedies at law or
in equity, and in addition to the penalties assessable herein, to an injunction
or injunctions restraining, preventing or curing any breach of this Note and to
enforce specifically the terms and provisions thereof, without the necessity of
showing economic loss and without any bond or other security being required.

                  [REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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            IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Borrower has caused this Note to be signed in
its name by its duly authorized officer this 29th day of December 2005.



                                                  DIGICORP

                                                   /s/ William B. Horne
                                                  ------------------------------
                                                  William B. Horne
                                                  Chief Executive Officer
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                                    EXHIBIT A

                              NOTICE OF CONVERSION
                    (To be Executed by the Registered Holder
                          in order to Convert the Note)

            The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to convert $__________
principal amount of the Note (defined below) into shares of common stock, par
value $.001 per share ("Common Stock"), of Digicorp, a Utah corporation (the
"Borrower") according to the conditions of the Secured Convertible Note of the
Borrower dated as of December __, 2005 (the "Note"), as of the date written
below. If securities are to be issued in the name of a person other than the
undersigned, the undersigned will pay all transfer taxes payable with respect
thereto and is delivering herewith such certificates. No fee will be charged to
the Holder for any conversion, except for transfer taxes, if any. A copy of the
Note is attached hereto (or evidence of loss, theft or destruction thereof).

            The Borrower shall electronically transmit the Common Stock issuable
pursuant to this Notice of Conversion to the account of the undersigned or its
nominee with DTC through its Deposit Withdrawal Agent Commission system ("DWAC
Transfer").

         Name of DTC Prime Broker:
                                  ----------------------------------------------
         Account Number:
                        --------------------------------------------------------

            In lieu of receiving shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to
this Notice of Conversion by way of a DWAC Transfer, the undersigned hereby
requests that the Borrower issue a certificate or certificates for the number of
shares of Common Stock set forth below (which numbers are based on the Holder's
calculation attached hereto) in the name(s) specified immediately below or, if
additional space is necessary, on an attachment hereto:

         Name:
              ------------------------------------------------------------------
         Address:
                 ---------------------------------------------------------------

            The undersigned represents and warrants that all offers and sales by
the undersigned of the securities issuable to the undersigned upon conversion of
the Notes shall be made pursuant to registration of the securities under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), or pursuant to an
exemption from registration under the Securities Act. The undersigned further
represents that it is an "accredited investor" as such term is defined in Rule
501(a) of Regulation D, promulgated pursuant to the Securities Act.

                  Date of Conversion:
                                     -------------------------------------------
                  Applicable Conversion Price:
                                              ----------------------------------
                  Number of Shares of Common Stock to be Issued Pursuant to
                  Conversion of the Note:
                                         ------------------------------
                  Signature:
                            ----------------------------------------------------
                  Name:
                       ---------------------------------------------------------
                  Address:
                          ---------------------------------------------
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                                 PROMISSORY NOTE

$73,000.00                                                     Santa Monica, CA
                                                               December 29, 2005

      FOR VALUE RECEIVED, Digicorp, Inc. (the "Maker"), a Utah corporation,
HEREBY PROMISES TO PAY to the order of Jay Rifkin (the "Noteholder"), the
principal sum of Seventy Three Thousand Dollars ($73,000.00) plus accrued
interest thereon in lawful money of the United States on June 30, 2006 (the
"Maturity Date").

      The following is a statement of the other terms and conditions to which
this promissory note (the "Note") is subject and to which the Noteholder by the
acceptance of this Note agrees:

      1. Interest Rate. Maker further promises to pay interest on the unpaid
principal balance hereof at the rate of five percent (5%) per annum, such
interest to be paid on the Maturity Date. Interest shall commence accruing on
the issue date and shall be calculated on the basis of a 365-day year and actual
days elapsed. In no event shall the interest charged hereunder exceed the
maximum permitted under the laws of the State of California. However, in the
event of a breach of any provision of this Note, the interest rate shall
increase to a per annum rate equal to eight percent (8%).

      2. Prepayment. The Maker shall have the right, at any time, to prepay
without penalty, in whole or in part, the unpaid principal and interest due on
this Note as of the date of such prepayment.

      3. Application of Payments to Principal and Interest. All payments made
pursuant to this note shall first be applied to accrued but unpaid interest then
outstanding, and then to principal, and interest shall thereupon cease to accrue
upon the principal amount so paid.

      4. No Usury. Notwithstanding any provision of this Note to the contrary,
the rate of interest charged by the Noteholder to the Maker in connection with
this Note shall not exceed the maximum rate permitted by applicable law. To the
extent that any interest otherwise paid or payable by the Maker to the
Noteholder shall have been finally adjudicated to exceed the maximum amount
permitted by applicable law, such interest shall be retroactively deemed to have
been a required repayment of principal (and any such amount paid in excess of
the outstanding principal amount shall be promptly returned to the Maker).

      5. Grant of Security Interest. As collateral security for the prompt and
complete payment and performance when due, whether at the stated maturity, by
acceleration or otherwise, of this Note, the Maker hereby grants to the
Noteholder a security interest in the Maker's Accounts Receivable. Upon
repayment of this Note, the Noteholder shall release the aforesaid security
interest in the pledged Interest.

      6. Default Provisions. In the event this note shall be in default, and
placed with an attorney for collection, then the Maker agrees to pay all
reasonable attorney fees and costs of collection.

      7. Assignment. The Noteholder may not assign either the right to receive
payment under this Note, or any other right conferred upon the Noteholder under
the terms hereof to any other party without the consent of the Maker. Any
transferee or transferees of this Note, by their acceptance hereof, agree to
assume the obligations of the holder of this Note as set forth herein, and shall
be deemed to be the "Noteholder" for all purposes hereunder.

      8. Entire Agreement. This Note contains the entire understanding between
the Maker and the Noteholder (the "Parties") with respect to this Note and
supersedes any prior written or oral agreement between them respecting the
subject matter hereof. The Maker hereby irrevocably consents to the jurisdiction
of the state and federal courts in Los Angeles County, California in connection
with any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Note. If any
term or provision of this Note shall be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable,
the validity of all other terms and provisions hereof shall in no way be
affected thereby.

      9. Governing Law. In the event of any litigation with respect to the



obligations evidenced by this Note, the Maker waives the right to a trial by
jury and all rights of set-off and rights to interpose permissive counterclaims
and cross-claims. This Note shall be governed by and construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of California and shall be binding upon the
successors, assigns, heirs, administrators and executors of the Maker and inure
to the benefit of the Payee, his successors, endorsees, assigns, heirs,
administrators and executors.

      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Note has been executed and delivered on the date
first specified above.

MAKER:

Digicorp, Inc.

- ---------------------------
William B. Horne, CFO

NOTEHOLDER:

Jay Rifkin

- ---------------------------
Jay Rifkin



                                VOTING AGREEMENT

      THIS VOTING AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is entered into as of December
29, 2005, by and among Jay Rifkin ("Rifkin") and the stockholders of Digicorp, a
Utah corporation (the "Company"), listed on the signature pages hereto (the
"Stockholders").

                              W I T N E S S E T H:

      WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, the Company is
entering in to a Stock Purchase Agreement of even date herewith (the "Purchase
Agreement"), pursuant to which the Company has agreed to purchase all of the
outstanding shares of capital stock of Rebel Crew Films, Inc., a California
corporation, from Rebel Holdings, LLC, a California limited liability company,
and Cesar Chatel (the "Sellers"); WHEREAS, as of the date hereof, each of the
Stockholders is the Beneficial Owner (as defined hereinafter) of Existing Shares
(as defined hereinafter) of the common stock, $0.001 par value, of the Company
(the "Company Common Stock"); and

      WHEREAS, as an inducement and a condition to entering into the Purchase
Agreement, the Sellers have requested that the Stockholders enter into this
Agreement.

      NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual promises,
representations, warranties, covenants and agreements contained herein, the
parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, agree as follows:

      Section 1. Certain Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the
following terms have the following meanings:

            (a) "Beneficially Own" or "Beneficial Ownership" with respect to any
securities means having "beneficial ownership" of such securities as determined
pursuant to Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the "Exchange Act"), except for those shares of Company Common Stock which
Stockholders have the right to acquire within 60 days; provided, however, that
for the purposes of this Agreement, the Stockholders shall be deemed to
Beneficially Own only those securities held of record by such Stockholders or
over which such Stockholders have sole voting and dispositive power.

            (b) "Existing Shares" means shares of the Company Common Stock
Beneficially Owned by Rifkin and the Stockholders as of the date hereof.

            (c) "Securities" means the Existing Shares together with any shares
of the Company Common Stock or other securities of the Company acquired by
Rifkin and the Stockholders in any capacity after the date hereof and prior to
the termination of this Agreement whether upon the exercise of options, warrants
or rights, the conversion or exchange of convertible or exchangeable securities,
or by means of purchase, dividend, distribution, split-up, recapitalization,
combination, exchange of shares or the like, gift, bequest, inheritance or as a
successor in interest in any capacity or otherwise.

      Section 2. Representations and Warranties of Rifkin and the Stockholders.
Rifkin (with respect to himself and Securities Beneficially Owned by him) and
each Stockholder (with respect to itself and Securities Beneficially Owned by
them) hereby represents and warrants to one another as follows:
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            (a) Ownership of Shares. As of the date hereof and at all times
prior to the termination of this Agreement, Rifkin and each Stockholder is (and
will be, unless any Existing Shares are transferred pursuant to Section 4(a)
hereof or any Stockholder Options are exercised) the Beneficial Owner of the
Existing Shares and an Company options to purchase shares of Company Common
Stock (the "Stockholder Options") set forth on the signature pages of this
Agreement. As of the date hereof, neither Rifkin nor the Stockholders
Beneficially Own any securities of the Company other than the shares of Company
Common Stock and Stockholder Options set forth on the signature pages of this
Agreement.

            (b) Authority. Rifkin and each Stockholder has the requisite power
to agree to all of the matters set forth in this Agreement, in each case with



respect to all of the Existing Shares with no limitations, qualifications or
restrictions on such power, subject to applicable securities laws and the terms
of this Agreement.

            (c) Power; Binding Agreement. Rifkin and each Stockholder has the
legal capacity and authority to enter into and perform all of their respective
obligations under this Agreement. This Agreement has been duly and validly
executed and delivered by Rifkin and each Stockholder and constitutes a valid
and binding agreement, enforceable against them in accordance with its terms
except that: (i) such enforcement may be subject to applicable bankruptcy,
insolvency or other similar laws, now or hereafter in effect, affecting
creditors' rights generally; and (ii) the remedy of specific performance and
injunctive and other forms of equitable relief may be subject to equitable
defenses and to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding therefor
may be brought.

            (d) No Conflicts. No filing with, and no permit, authorization,
consent or approval of, any governmental entity is necessary for the execution
of this Agreement by Rifkin or any Stockholder and the consummation by Rifkin
and the Stockholders of the transactions contemplated hereby. Except as
contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, none of the execution and delivery of
this Agreement by Rifkin or any Stockholder, the consummation by Rifkin or any
Stockholder of the transactions contemplated hereby or compliance by Rifkin or
any Stockholder with any of the provisions hereof shall (i) conflict with or
result in any breach of any organizational documents applicable to Stockholder,
if applicable, or (ii) violate any order, writ, injunction, decree, judgment,
statute, rule or regulation applicable to Rifkin or any Stockholder or any of
Rifkin's or any Stockholder's properties or assets, except in the case of clause
(ii) where such violations, breaches or defaults would not, individually or in
the aggregate, materially impair the ability of Rifkin or any Stockholder to
perform this Agreement.

            (e) No Encumbrance. Except as permitted by this Agreement, the
Existing Shares are now and, at all times during the term hereof, and the
Securities will be, held by Rifkin and each Stockholder, or by a nominee or
custodian for the benefit of Rifkin and each Stockholder, free and clear of all
liens, charges or encumbrances of any kind or nature ("Liens") except for any
such Liens arising hereunder or under applicable federal and state securities
laws, other than Liens that are not material to performance of this Agreement by
Rifkin or any Stockholder.

            (f) Community Property. All representations and warranties by Rifkin
and each Stockholder made herein are qualified in their entirety by the effects
of applicable community property laws and the laws affecting the rights of
marital partners generally.

      Section 3. Disclosure. Rifkin and each Stockholder hereby agrees to permit
the Company to publish and disclose in any documents and schedules filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, and in any press release or other
disclosure document in which the Company reasonably determines in its good faith
judgment that such disclosure is required by law, including the rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or appropriate, in
connection with the Purchase Agreement and any transactions related thereto,
Rifkin's and each Stockholder's identity and ownership of the Company Common
Stock and the nature of Rifkin's and such Stockholder's commitments,
arrangements and understandings under this Agreement.

                                       2

      Section 4. Transfer And Other Restrictions. Prior to the termination of
this Agreement, Rifkin and each Stockholder agrees not to, directly or
indirectly:

            (a) except pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement or any
related agreement thereto, offer for sale, sell, transfer, tender, pledge,
encumber, assign or otherwise dispose of, or enter into any contract, option or
other arrangement or understanding with respect to or consent to the offer for
sale, sale, transfer, tender, pledge, encumbrance, assignment or other
disposition (collectively, "Transfer") of any or all of the Securities or any
interest therein, except: (i) for Transfers of the Securities in the open
market; (ii) for private block trades of the Securities, provided that under no
circumstances may Rifkin or any Stockholder transfer any Securities pursuant to
this Section 4(a)(ii) (A) to any person or group which is the "beneficial owner"



(as determined pursuant to Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) of 5% or more of
the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock or (B) representing 2% or more of
the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock to any one person or group;
and/or (iii) other Transfers (including distributions of Securities by a
Stockholder to its equity holders) in which each transferee shall have: (A)
executed a counterpart of this Agreement and a proxy in the form attached hereto
as Annex I, and (B) agreed in writing to hold such Securities (or interest in
such Securities) subject to all of the terms and provisions of this Agreement;

            (b) grant any proxy or power of attorney, deposit any of the
Securities into a voting trust or enter into a voting agreement or arrangement
with respect to the Securities except as provided in this Agreement; or

            (c) take any other action for the purpose of making any
representation or warranty contained herein untrue or incorrect or of preventing
or disabling Rifkin or any Stockholder from performing its obligations under
this Agreement.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any Securities
Transferred in a manner permitted by Section 4(a) hereof shall be Transferred
free and clear of any voting restriction and of the Proxy (as defined below), in
each case except to the extent specifically provided by Section 4(a)(iii).

      Section 5. Election of Directors.

            (a) Rifkin and each Stockholder hereby agrees that, during the
period commencing on the date hereof and continuing until termination of this
Agreement in accordance with its terms, the number of authorized directors of
the Company shall initially be set at five (5). At each annual meeting of the
stockholders of the Company, or at any meeting of the stockholders of the
Company at which members of the Company's Board of Directors are to be elected,
or whenever members of the Board are to be elected by written consent, Rifkin
and each Stockholder hereby agrees that, during the period commencing on the
date hereof and continuing until termination of this Agreement in accordance
with its terms, the members of the Company's Board of Directors shall consist
of:

                                    (i) two (2) persons designated by Milton
                  "Todd" Ault, III, which persons shall initially be William B.
                  Horne and Alice Campbell; and

                                    (ii) three (3) persons designated by Rifkin,
                  one of which shall be Rifkin.
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            (b) If after the date hereof and until termination of this Agreement
in accordance with its terms, the number of authorized directors of the Company
shall increase to seven (7), then the Company's Board of Directors shall consist
of:

                                    (i) three (3) persons designated by Milton
                  "Todd" Ault, III; and

                                    (ii) four (4) persons designated by Rifkin,
                  one of which shall be Rifkin.

            (c) If after the date hereof and until termination of this Agreement
in accordance with its terms, the number of authorized directors of the Company
shall be other than five (5) or seven (7), then the Company's Board of Directors
shall consist of:

                                    (i) such persons designated by Rifkin, one
                  of which shall be Rifkin, which persons shall represent a
                  simple majority of the directors; and

                                    (ii) such persons designated by Milton
                  "Todd" Ault, III, which persons shall represent the balance of
                  the Company's Board of Directors.

            (d) Except as otherwise permitted under Section 4(a) hereof, neither
Rifkin nor any Stockholder may enter into any agreement or understanding with
any person the effect of which would be inconsistent with or violative of any



provision contained in this Section 5. Notwithstanding any provision of this
Agreement to the contrary, nothing in this Agreement shall limit or restrict
Rifkin or any Stockholder from acting in the capacity as a director of the
Company (it being understood that this Agreement shall apply to Rifkin and the
Stockholders solely in their capacity as stockholders of the Company).

      Section 6. Irrevocable Proxy. Subject to the agreements and covenants
among Rifkin and the Stockholders contained in Section 5, each Stockholder
agrees to grant and deliver to Rifkin an irrevocable proxy in the form attached
hereto as Annex I (the "Proxy"), which shall be irrevocable to the fullest
extent permitted by applicable law, with respect to voting of the Securities at
any meeting (whether annual or special and whether or not an adjourned or
postponed meeting) of the holders of the Company Common Stock, however called,
or in connection with any written consent of the holders of the Company Common
Stock; provided, however, that, the Proxy shall terminate and be revoked: (a)
with respect to any Securities concurrently with the Transfer of such Securities
in accordance with Section 4(a) without any notice or action by any Stockholder,
the transferee or any other person; or (b) upon termination of this Agreement
pursuant to Section 8 hereof.

      Section 7. Stop Transfer; Legending of Shares.

            (a) Rifkin and each Stockholder agrees and covenants to one another
that they will not request that the Company register the transfer (book-entry or
otherwise) of any certificate or uncertificated interest representing any of the
Securities, unless such transfer is made in compliance with this Agreement.

            (b) In the event of a stock dividend or distribution, or any change
in the Company Common Stock by reason of any stock dividend, split-up,
recapitalization, combination, exchange of shares or similar transaction, the
term "Existing Shares" will be deemed to refer to and include the shares of the
Company Common Stock as well as all such stock dividends and distributions and
any shares into which or for which any or all of the Existing Shares may be
changed or exchanged and appropriate adjustments shall be made to the terms and
provisions of this Agreement. Section 8. Termination. This Agreement shall
terminate upon the earliest to occur of: (a) Rifkin's death, or disability if
Rifkin becomes disabled beyond a period of four (4) months; (b) the agreement of
all parties hereto to terminate this Agreement; (c) any merger, consolidation,
reorganization, sale of substantially all of the assets of the Company, or other
sale of the Company as a result of which securities representing a majority of
the voting power of the Company are held by persons or entities that held less
than a majority of the voting power of the Company prior to such transaction;
(d) the liquidation, dissolution or indefinite cessation of the business
operations of the Company; or (e) the execution by the Company of a general
assignment for the benefit of creditors, the appointment of a receiver or
trustee to take possession of the property and assets of the Company, or the
filing of a petition under applicable bankruptcy laws with respect to the
Company; provided, however, that this Agreement shall earlier terminate with
respect to any Securities Transferred by Rifkin or any Stockholder in accordance
with Section 4(a) hereof upon such Transfer.
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      Section 9. Miscellaneous.

            (a) Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including the Proxy referred
to herein) constitutes the entire agreement and supersedes all other prior
agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the parties, or any
of them, with respect to the subject matter hereof.

            (b) Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall not be assigned by
operation of law or otherwise without the prior written consent of the other
parties hereto. Except as contemplated by Section 8 hereof and with respect to
Securities Transferred by Rifkin or a Stockholder as contemplated by Section
4(a) hereof, this Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and
be enforceable by each party and such party's respective heirs, beneficiaries,
executors, representatives and permitted assigns.

            (c) Amendment and Modification. This Agreement may not be amended,
altered, supplemented or otherwise modified or terminated except upon the
execution and delivery of a written agreement executed by all of the parties
hereto.



            (d) Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be
in writing and shall be deemed given if delivered personally or by overnight
commercial delivery service, or sent via facsimile (receipt confirmed) to the
parties at the following addresses or facsimile numbers (or at such other
address or facsimile numbers for a party as shall be specified by like notice):

                  (i)      If to Rifkin, to:

                           c/o Rebel Crew Films, Inc.
                           4143 Glencoe Avenue
                           Marina Del Rey, CA 90292
                           Facsimile: (866) 897-6525

                           with a copy to:

                           Danzig Kaye Cooper Fiore & Kay, LLP
                           Attn: David M. Kaye, Esq.
                           30A Vreeland Road
                           Florham Park, NJ 07932
                           Facsimile: (973) 443-0609
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                  (ii) If to the Stockholders, to the addresses and facsimile
numbers set forth for such Stockholders on the signature pages hereto.

            (e) Severability. In the event that any provision of this Agreement
or the application thereof, becomes or is declared by a court of competent
jurisdiction to be illegal, void or unenforceable, the remainder of this
Agreement will continue in full force and effect and the application of such
provision to other persons or circumstances will be interpreted so as reasonably
to effect the intent of the parties hereto. The parties further agree to replace
such void or unenforceable provision of this Agreement with a valid and
enforceable provision that will achieve, to the extent possible, the economic,
business and other purposes of such void or unenforceable provision.

            (f) Other Remedies; Specific Performance. Except as otherwise
provided herein, any and all remedies herein expressly conferred upon a party
will be deemed cumulative with and not exclusive of any other remedy conferred
hereby, or by law or equity upon such party, and the exercise by a party of any
one remedy will not preclude the exercise of any other remedy. The parties
hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the
provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their
specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the
parties shall be entitled to seek an injunction or injunctions to prevent
breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions
hereof in any court of the United States or any state having jurisdiction, this
being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in
equity.

            (g) No Waiver; Remedies Cumulative. No failure or delay on the part
of any party hereto in the exercise of any right hereunder will impair such
right or be construed to be a waiver of, or acquiescence in, any breach of any
representation, warranty or agreement herein, nor will any single or partial
exercise of any such right preclude other or further exercise thereof or of any
other right. Except as otherwise provided herein, all rights and remedies
existing under this Agreement are cumulative to, and not exclusive to, and not
exclusive of, any rights or remedies otherwise available and the exercise by a
party of any one remedy will not preclude the exercise of any other remedy.

            (h) No Survival. None of the representations, warranties, covenants
and agreements made in this Agreement shall survive the termination of the
Agreement in accordance with its terms, except for the agreements in this
Section 9.

            (i) No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is not intended to
confer upon any person other than the parties hereto any rights or remedies
hereunder.

            (j) Governing Law and Venue. This Agreement shall be governed and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Utah, without giving
effect to the principles of conflict of law thereof. In addition, each of the
parties hereto: (i) consents to submit itself to the personal jurisdiction of



any state court of competent jurisdiction in the event any dispute arises out of
this Agreement; and (ii) agrees that it will not attempt to deny or defeat such
personal jurisdiction by motion or other request for leave from any such court.

            (k) Descriptive Heading. The descriptive headings used herein are
for reference purposes only and will not affect in any way the meaning or
interpretation of this Agreement.

            (l) Expenses. All costs and expenses incurred in connection with
this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be paid by the
party incurring such expenses.

            (m) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more
counterparts, and by facsimile, all of which shall be considered one and the
same agreement and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have
been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other party, it being
understood that all parties need not sign the same counterpart.

                            [Signature Pages Follow.]
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            IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Rifkin and the Stockholders have caused this
Agreement to be duly executed as of the day and year first written above.

                              RIFKIN:

                              /s/ Jay Rifkin
                               --------------
                              Jay Rifkin

                              STOCKHOLDERS:

                              /s/ Alice Campbell
                               ------------------
                              Alice Campbell

                              Shares Beneficially Owned:

                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock
                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock issuable
                              upon exercise of Company Options

                              Address:

                              Facsimile: (___) ___-____

                              BODNAR CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

                              By: ________________________________
                                    Steven J. Bodnar,
                                    Managing Member

                              Shares Beneficially Owned:

                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock
                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock issuable
                              upon exercise of Company Options

                              Address:

                              Facsimile: (___) ___-____
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                              STOCKHOLDERS (CONT'):

                              /s/ Darrell Grimsley, Jr.
                               -------------------------
                              Darrell Grimsley, Jr.



                              Shares Beneficially Owned:

                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock
                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock issuable
                              upon exercise of Company Options

                              Address:

                              Facsimile: (___) ___-____

                              /s/ Jeanne Olsky
                               ----------------
                              Jeanne Olsky

                              Shares Beneficially Owned:

                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock
                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock issuable
                              upon exercise of Company Options

                              Address:

                              Facsimile: (___) ___-____

                              /s/ Kathryn Queen___________________
                               -----------------
                              Kathryn Queen

                              Shares Beneficially Owned:

                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock
                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock issuable
                              upon exercise of Company Options

                              Address:

                              Facsimile: (___) ___-____
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                              STOCKHOLDERS (CONT'):

                              /s/ Lynne Silverstein
                               ---------------------
                              Lynne Silverstein

                              Shares Beneficially Owned:

                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock
                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock issuable
                              upon exercise of Company Options

                              Address:

                              Facsimile: (___) ___-____

                              /s/ Melanie Glazer
                               ------------------
                              Melanie Glazer

                              Shares Beneficially Owned:

                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock
                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock issuable
                              upon exercise of Company Options

                              Address:

                              Facsimile: (___) ___-____

                              /s/ Milton "Todd" Ault, III
                               ---------------------------



                              Milton "Todd" Ault, III

                              Shares Beneficially Owned:

                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock
                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock issuable
                              upon exercise of Company Options

                              Address:

                              Facsimile: (___) ___-____

                                       9

                              STOCKHOLDERS (CONT'):

                              /s/ Nicholas Soichet
                               ---------------------
                              Nicholas Soichet

                              PATIENT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

                              By:  /s/ Milton "Todd" Ault, III
                                   ---------------------------
                                    Milton "Todd" Ault, III,
                                    Chief Executive Officer

                              Shares Beneficially Owned:

                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock
                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock issuable
                              upon exercise of Company Options

                              Address:

                              Facsimile: (___) ___-____

                              /s/ Philip Gatch
                               ----------------
                              Philip Gatch

                              Shares Beneficially Owned:

                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock
                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock issuable
                              upon exercise of Company Options

                              Address:

                              Facsimile: (___) ___-____
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                              STOCKHOLDERS (CONT'):

                              /s/ Sothi Thillairajah
                               ----------------------
                              Sothi Thillairajah

                              Shares Beneficially Owned:

                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock
                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock issuable
                              upon exercise of Company Options

                              Address:

                              Facsimile: (___) ___-____

                              /s/ Steve Jafarzadeh
                              ---------------------



                              Steve Jafarzadeh

                              Shares Beneficially Owned:

                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock
                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock issuable
                              upon exercise of Company Options

                              Address:

                              Facsimile: (___) ___-____

                              /s/ William B. Horne
                              --------------------
                              William B. Horne

                              Shares Beneficially Owned:

                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock
                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock issuable
                              upon exercise of Company Options

                              Address:

                              Facsimile: (___) ___-____
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                              STOCKHOLDERS (CONT'):

                              SICHENZIA ROSS FRIEDMAN FERENCE LLP

                              By: /s/ Thomas A. Rose
                                   ----------------
                                    Thomas A. Rose,
                                    Partner

                              Shares Beneficially Owned:

                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock
                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock issuable
                              upon exercise of Company Options

                              Address:

                              Facsimile: (___) ___-____

                              /s/ Cesar Chatel
                               -----------------
                              Cesar Chatel

                              Shares Beneficially Owned:

                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock
                              __________ shares of Company Common Stock issuable
                              upon exercise of Company Options

                              Address:

                              Facsimile: (___) ___-____
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                                     ANNEX I
                            FORM OF IRREVOCABLE PROXY

         The undersigned stockholder of Digicorp, a Utah corporation (the
"Company"), hereby irrevocably (to the fullest extent permitted by applicable
law) constitutes and appoints Jay Rifkin ("Rifkin") individually, as the sole
and exclusive agent, attorney and proxy of the undersigned, with full power of
substitution and re-substitution, to the full extent of the undersigned's right,
with respect to the Securities (as defined in the Voting Agreement dated as of



the date hereof (the "Voting Agreement") by and among Rifkin and the
stockholders of the Company listed on the signature pages thereto) which the
undersigned stockholder Beneficially Owns (as defined in the Voting Agreement)
until the termination of the Voting Agreement pursuant to its terms (including
terminations of the Voting Agreement with respect to Securities Transferred (as
defined in the Voting Agreement) in accordance with Section 4(a) thereof).
Capitalized terms used and not defined herein have the respective meanings
ascribed to them in the Voting Agreement. Upon the execution hereof, all prior
proxies given by the undersigned with respect to the matters set forth in
clauses (A), (B) and (C) below are hereby revoked and no subsequent proxies will
be given.

         This Proxy is irrevocable to the fullest extent permitted by applicable
law, is granted pursuant to the Voting Agreement and is granted in consideration
of the Sellers and the Company entering into the Stock Purchase Agreement. This
Proxy is executed and intended to be irrevocable to the fullest extent permitted
by law in accordance with the provisions of Section 16-10a-722 of the Utah Code.
The attorney and proxy named above is empowered to exercise all voting rights
(including, without limitation, the power to execute and deliver written
consents with respect to the Securities) of the undersigned at any time prior to
termination of the Voting Agreement at every annual, special or adjourned
meeting of the stockholders of the Company and in every written consent in lieu
of such meeting, subject to the following:

            (a) As of the date hereof, the number of authorized directors of the
Company shall initially be set at five (5). At each annual meeting of the
stockholders of the Company, or at any meeting of the stockholders of the
Company at which members of the Company's Board of Directors are to be elected,
or whenever members of the Board are to be elected by written consent, until
termination of the Voting Agreement, the members of the Company's Board of
Directors shall consist of:

                                    (i) two (2) persons designated by Milton
                  "Todd" Ault, III, which persons shall initially be William B.
                  Horne and Alice Campbell; and

                                    (ii) three (3) persons designated by Rifkin,
                  one of which shall be Rifkin.

            (b) If after the date hereof and until termination of the Voting
Agreement, the number of authorized directors of the Company shall increase to
seven (7), then the Company's Board of Directors shall consist of:

                                    (i) three (3) persons designated by Milton
                  "Todd" Ault, III; and

                                    (ii) four (4) persons designated by Rifkin,
                  one of which shall be Rifkin.

            (c) If after the date hereof and until termination of the Voting
Agreement, the number of authorized directors of the Company shall be other than
five (5) or seven (7), then the Company's Board of Directors shall consist of:
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                                    (i) such persons designated by Rifkin, one
                  of which shall be Rifkin, which persons shall represent a
                  simple majority of the directors; and

                                    (ii) such persons designated by Milton
                  "Todd" Ault, III, which persons shall represent the balance of
                  the Company's Board of Directors.

      The attorney and proxy named above may exercise this Proxy on any matter
except as provided in clauses (a), (b) and (c) above.

      Any obligation of the undersigned hereunder shall be binding upon the
successors and assigns of the undersigned; provided, however, that this Proxy
shall terminate and be revoked with respect to any Securities Transferred (as
defined in the Voting Agreement) in accordance with Section 4(a) of the Voting
Agreement upon such Transfer without any notice or action by the undersigned,
the transferee or any other person, and shall thereafter have no further force
or effect with respect to such Securities.



      This Proxy is coupled with an interest and is irrevocable to the fullest
extent permitted by law.

Dated: __________, 20__                      Signature of Stockholder:

                                             -----------------------------------

                                       ii



                          SECURITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT

      SECURITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this "Agreement"), dated as of December 29,
2005, by and among Rebel Holdings,  LLC, a California  limited liability company
with  headquarters  located at 6601 Center  Drive West,  Suite 200, Los Angeles,
California  90045  (the  "Company"),  and  Digicorp,  a  Utah  corporation  with
headquarters  located at 100  Wilshire  Boulevard,  Suite  1750,  Santa  Monica,
California (the "Buyer").

      WHEREAS,  the  Company  and the Buyer is  executing  and  delivering  this
Agreement in reliance upon the exemption from securities  registration  afforded
by the rules and regulations as promulgated by the United States  Securities and
Exchange  Commission  (the "SEC") under the  Securities  Act of 1933, as amended
(the "Securities Act");

      WHEREAS,  Buyer  desires to purchase and the Company  desires to issue and
sell, upon the terms and conditions set forth in this  Agreement,  a $556,306.53
loan  receivable  (the  "Loan  Receivable")  from  Rebel  Crew  Films,  Inc.,  a
California corporation ("Rebel Crew Films"), in exchange for the issuance to the
Company of a 4.5%  secured  convertible  note,  in the form  attached  hereto as
Exhibit  "A",  in the  aggregate  principal  amount  of Five  Hundred  Fifty-Six
Thousand  Three Hundred Six Dollars and  Fifty-Three  Cents  ($556,306.53)  (the
"Note"),  convertible into shares of common stock, par value $.001 per share, of
Buyer (the "Common  Stock"),  upon the terms and subject to the  limitations and
conditions set forth in such Note;

      WHEREAS,  simultaneously  herewith,  the  Buyer is  entering  into a Stock
Purchase Agreement (the "Stock Purchase  Agreement") pursuant to which the Buyer
is purchasing all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of Rebel
Crew Films from the  stockholders  of Rebel  Crew Films (the  "Rebel  Crew Films
Stockholders"); and

      WHEREAS,  it is a  condition  to the  obligations  of the Rebel Crew Films
Stockholders  under the Stock Purchase Agreement that this Agreement be executed
and the  parties  hereto  are  willing  to  execute,  and to be  bound  by,  the
provisions of this Agreement.

      NOW THEREFORE,  in consideration of the foregoing and the premises and the
mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter contained, the Company and the Buyer
hereby agree as follows:

            1. PURCHASE AND SALE OF LOAN RECEIVABLE.

                  a.  Purchase  of Loan  Receivable.  On the  Closing  Date  (as
defined  below),  the  Company  shall sell and assign to the Buyer and the Buyer
agrees to purchase from the Company the Loan Receivable.

                  b. Form of Payment.  On the Closing  Date (as defined  below),
the Buyer shall issue and deliver the Note to the Company as  consideration  for
the Loan Receivable.

                  c.  Closing  Date.  Subject to the  satisfaction  (or  written
waiver) of the conditions  thereto set forth in Sections 5 and 6 below, the date
and time of the purchase, sale and assignment of the Loan Receivable pursuant to
this  Agreement  (the "Closing  Date") shall be December 29, 2005, or such other
mutually agreed upon time. The closing of the transactions  contemplated by this
Agreement  (the  "Closing")  shall occur on the Closing Date at such location as
may be agreed to by the parties.

            2. BUYER  REPRESENTATIONS  AND WARRANTIES.  The Buyer represents and
warrants to the Company that:

                  a. Organization and Good Standing.  The Buyer is a corporation
duly  organized,  validly  existing and in good  standing  under the laws of the
State of Utah and has all requisite  corporate power and authority to own, lease
and operate its properties  and to carry on its business as now  conducted.  The
Buyer is duly  qualified or authorized  to do business as a foreign  corporation
and is in good standing under the laws of each  jurisdiction in which it owns or
leases real  property  and each other  jurisdiction  in which the conduct of its
business or the  ownership of its  properties  requires  such  qualification  or



authorization,  except  where the  failure to be so  qualified  would not have a
material  adverse  effect  on  the  business,  properties,  assets,  results  of
operations, or condition (financial or otherwise) ("Material Adverse Effect") on
the Buyer and any subsidiaries taken as a whole.

                  b.  Authorization  of Agreement.  The Buyer has full corporate
power and  authority  to  execute  and  deliver  this  Agreement  and each other
agreement, document, instrument or certificate contemplated by this Agreement or
to be  executed  by  the  Buyer  in  connection  with  the  consummation  of the
transactions  contemplated  hereby and thereby (the "Buyer  Documents"),  and to
consummate  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby and thereby.  The execution,
delivery and  performance by the Buyer of this Agreement and each Buyer Document
have been duly  authorized  by all necessary  corporate  action on behalf of the
Buyer.  This  Agreement has been, and each Buyer Document will be at or prior to
the Closing,  duly  executed and  delivered by the Buyer and  (assuming  the due
authorization,  execution and delivery by the other parties  hereto and thereto)
this  Agreement  constitutes,  and each  Buyer  Document  when so  executed  and
delivered will constitute,  legal,  valid and binding  obligations of the Buyer,
enforceable against the Buyer in accordance with their respective terms, subject
to applicable  bankruptcy,  insolvency,  reorganization,  moratorium and similar
laws affecting  creditors'  rights and remedies  generally,  and subject,  as to
enforceability,  to  general  principles  of  equity,  including  principles  of
commercial  reasonableness,  good faith and fair dealing  (regardless of whether
enforcement is sought in a proceeding at law or in equity).

                  c. Capitalization.

                        (i) The  authorized  capital stock of the Buyer consists
of 50,000,000 shares of common stock,  $.001 par value per share. As of the date
hereof,  there are  14,200,104  shares of Common  Stock of the Buyer  issued and
outstanding.  All of the issued and  outstanding  shares of Common  Stock of the
Buyer were duly authorized for issuance and are validly  issued,  fully paid and
non-assessable.

                        (ii)  Except  as set forth in the  Commission  Documents
(defined below), there is no existing option,  warrant, call, right,  commitment
or other agreement of any character to which the Buyer is a party requiring, and
there are no  securities  of the Buyer  outstanding  which  upon  conversion  or
exchange would require, the issuance,  sale or transfer of any additional shares
of capital  stock or other equity  securities  of the Buyer or other  securities
convertible  into,  exchangeable for or evidencing the right to subscribe for or
purchase  shares of capital stock or other equity  securities of the Buyer.  The
Buyer is not, and to the Buyer's knowledge none of the Buyer's  shareholders is,
a party to any voting trust or other voting agreement with respect to any of the
shares  of  Common  Stock  of the  Buyer  or to any  agreement  relating  to the
issuance,  sale, redemption,  transfer or other disposition of the capital stock
of the Buyer.
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                  d. Subsidiaries. The Buyer has no subsidiaries.

                  e. Corporate Records.

                        (i) The Buyer has delivered to the Company true, correct
and complete  copies of the  articles of  incorporation  (each  certified by the
Secretary of State or other appropriate official of the applicable  jurisdiction
of  organization)  and  bylaws  (each  certified  by  the  secretary,  assistant
secretary or other appropriate officer) or comparable  organizational  documents
of the Buyer.

                        (ii) The  minute  books  of the  Buyer  previously  made
available to the Company contain  complete and accurate  records of all meetings
since December 31, 2004 and accurately reflect all other corporate action of the
stockholders and board of directors (including  committees thereof) of the Buyer
since December 31, 2004. The stock transfer ledger of the Buyer  previously made
available to the Buyer are true, correct and complete.

                  f. Conflicts; Consents of Third Parties.

                        (i) Neither of the  execution  and delivery by the Buyer
of this  Agreement and of the Buyer  Documents,  nor the compliance by the Buyer
with any of the provisions  hereof or thereof will: (i) conflict with, or result



in the breach of, any  provision of the articles of  incorporation  or bylaws of
the Buyer; (ii) conflict with, violate, result in the breach of, or constitute a
default under any note, bond, mortgage,  indenture,  license, agreement or other
obligation to which the Buyer is a party or by which the Buyer or its properties
or assets are bound; or (iii) violate any statute,  rule,  regulation,  order or
decree of any  governmental  body or authority  by which the Buyer is bound;  or
(iv)  result  in the  creation  of any  lien of any  kind  or  nature  upon  the
properties or assets of the Buyer.

                        (ii) No  consent,  waiver,  approval,  order,  permit or
authorization  of, or declaration or filing with, or notification to, any person
or governmental body is required on the part of the Buyer in connection with the
execution  and  delivery  of  this  Agreement  or  the  Buyer  Documents  or the
compliance by Buyer with any of the provisions hereof or thereof.
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                  g. Commission  Documents;  Financial  Statements.  The Buyer's
Common Stock is registered  pursuant to Section 12(b) or 12(g) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the  "Exchange  Act"),  and since December 31,
2004 the Buyer has filed all reports,  schedules,  forms,  statements  and other
documents required to be filed by it with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the "Commission")  pursuant to the reporting  requirements of the Exchange Act,
including pursuant to Sections 13, 14 or 15(d) thereof (all of the foregoing and
all exhibits  included  therein and financial  statement and schedules  thereto,
including filings  incorporated by reference therein being referred to herein as
the  "Commission  Documents").  At the times of their  respective  filings,  the
Buyer's Form 10-QSB for the fiscal  quarter ended  September 30, 2005 (the "Form
10-QSB")  and the  Buyer's  Form  10-KSB for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2005
(the "Form 10-KSB")  complied in all material  respects with the requirements of
the Exchange Act and the rules and  regulations  of the  Commission  promulgated
thereunder,  and the Form 10-QSB and Form 10-KSB at the time of their respective
filings did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact required to be stated  therein or necessary in order to make the
statements  therein,  in light of the circumstances  under which they were made,
not misleading.  As of their respective  dates, the financial  statements of the
Company  included in the  Commission  Documents were complete and correct in all
material respects and complied with applicable  accounting  requirements and the
published rules and regulations of the Commission or other  applicable rules and
regulations with respect thereto.  Such financial  statements have been prepared
in  accordance  with GAAP  applied on a  consistent  basis  during  the  periods
involved (except (a) as may be otherwise indicated in such financial  statements
or the Notes thereto or (b) in the case of unaudited interim statements,  to the
extent  they  may  not  include   footnotes  or  may  be  condensed  or  summary
statements),  and fairly present in all material respects the financial position
of the Buyer as of the dates  thereof  and the  results of  operations  and cash
flows for the periods then ended (subject,  in the case of unaudited statements,
to normal year-end audit adjustments).

            h.  Registration and Listing.  The Buyer's Common Stock is currently
quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board and is in compliance with any continued listing
requirements thereunder.

            i. No Undisclosed  Liabilities or Liens. The Buyer does not have any
indebtedness,  obligations,  liabilities, or Liens of any kind (whether accrued,
absolute,  contingent or  otherwise,  and whether due or to become due) that are
not reflected in the Commission Documents.

            j. Absence of Certain Developments. Except as expressly contemplated
by this  Agreement,  as set forth in the  attached  disclosure  schedules of the
Buyer  (the  "Buyer  Disclosure  Schedules")  or as set forth in the  Commission
Documents, since June 30, 2005:

                        (i) there has not been any  material  adverse  change in
the business,  assets or financial condition of the Buyer nor has there occurred
any event which is reasonably  likely to result in a material  adverse change in
the business, assets or financial condition of the Buyer;

                        (ii) there has not been any damage, destruction or loss,
whether or not covered by insurance,  with respect to the property and assets of
the Buyer having a replacement  cost of more than $25,000 for any single loss or
$50,000 for all such losses;



                        (iii) there has not been any declaration,  setting aside
or payment of any  dividend  or other  distribution  in respect of any shares of
capital stock of the Buyer or any repurchase, redemption or other acquisition by
the Buyer of any outstanding  shares of capital stock or other securities of, or
other ownership interest in, the Buyer;
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                        (iv) the Buyer has not  awarded  or paid any  bonuses to
employees  of the Buyer or agreed to  increase  the  compensation  payable or to
become  payable  by it to any of the  Buyer's  directors,  officers,  employees,
agents or  representatives  or agreed  to  increase  the  coverage  or  benefits
available  under any severance  pay,  termination  pay,  vacation  pay,  company
awards, salary continuation for disability,  sick leave, deferred  compensation,
bonus or other  incentive  compensation,  insurance,  pension or other  employee
benefit  plan,  payment  or  arrangement  made to,  for or with such  directors,
officers,  employees,  agents or representatives (other than normal increases in
the ordinary  course of business  consistent  with past practice and that in the
aggregate  have  not  resulted  in  a  material  increase  in  the  benefits  or
compensation expense of the Buyer);

                        (v)  there  has not  been  any  change  by the  Buyer in
accounting or tax reporting principles, methods or policies;

                        (vi) the Buyer has not entered into any  transaction  or
conducted its business other than in the ordinary  course  consistent  with past
practice;

                        (vii)  the  Buyer has not  failed  to  promptly  pay and
discharge current liabilities except where disputed in good faith by appropriate
proceedings;

                        (viii)  the Buyer has not made any  loans,  advances  or
capital contributions to, or investments in, any person or entity;

                        (ix) the Buyer has not  mortgaged,  pledged or subjected
to any lien  any of its  assets,  or  acquired  any  assets  or sold,  assigned,
transferred,  conveyed, leased or otherwise disposed of any assets of the Buyer,
except for assets acquired or sold, assigned,  transferred,  conveyed, leased or
otherwise  disposed of in the ordinary  course of business  consistent with past
practice;

                        (x) the Buyer has not  discharged or satisfied any lien,
or paid any  obligation  or  liability  (fixed  or  contingent),  except  in the
ordinary  course of business  consistent  with past  practice and which,  in the
aggregate, would not be material to the Buyer;

                        (xi) the Buyer has not canceled or compromised  any debt
or claim or amended, canceled, terminated,  relinquished, waived or released any
contract or right except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past
practice and which, in the aggregate, would not be material to the Buyer;

                        (xii) the Buyer  has not made or  committed  to make any
capital  expenditures  or capital  additions or betterments in excess of $20,000
individually or $40,000 in the aggregate;

                        (xiii) the Buyer has  instituted or settled any material
legal proceeding; and (xiv) the Buyer has not agreed to do anything set forth in
this Section 2(j).
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            k. Taxes.

                        (i)  Except  as  set  forth  in  the  Buyer   Disclosure
Schedules, to the Buyer's knowledge: (i) all material tax returns required to be
filed by or on behalf of the Buyer  have  been  properly  prepared  and duly and
timely filed with the appropriate  taxing  authorities in all  jurisdictions  in
which such tax returns  are  required to be filed  (after  giving  effect to any
valid  extensions  of time in  which  to make  such  filings),  and all such tax
returns  were true,  complete  and correct in all  material  respects;  (ii) all
amounts shown on such tax returns (including interest and penalties) as due from
the Buyer have been fully and timely paid, and adequate reserves or accruals for



taxes have been provided in the Commission  Documents with respect to any period
for which tax returns have not yet been filed or for which taxes are not yet due
and  owing;  and (iii) the Buyer has not  executed  or filed with the IRS or any
other taxing  authority any  agreement,  waiver or other document or arrangement
extending  or having  the effect of  extending  the  period  for  assessment  or
collection of taxes  (including,  but not limited to, any applicable  statute of
limitation),  and no  power  of  attorney  with  respect  to any tax  matter  is
currently in force.

                        (ii) To the Buyer's knowledge, the Buyer has complied in
all material  respects with all applicable laws, rules and regulations  relating
to the payment and  withholding  of taxes and has duly and timely  withheld from
employee  salaries,  wages  and  other  compensation  and has  paid  over to the
appropriate  taxing  authorities all amounts required to be so withheld and paid
over for all periods under all applicable laws.

                        (iii) The Company has received  complete  copies of: (A)
all material federal,  state,  local and foreign income or franchise tax returns
of the Buyer relating to the taxable  periods since January 1, 2002; and (B) any
audit report issued within the last three years  relating to any material  taxes
due from or with respect to the Buyer its income,  assets or operations.  To the
Buyer's knowledge, all income and franchise tax returns filed by or on behalf of
the Buyer for the taxable years ended on the  respective  dates set forth in the
Buyer  Disclosure  Schedules have been examined by the relevant taxing authority
or the statute of limitations with respect to such tax returns has expired.

                        (iv) The Buyer  Disclosure  Schedules  list all material
types of taxes paid and material  types of tax returns  filed by or on behalf of
the Buyer. Except as set forth in the Buyer Disclosure Schedules, to the Buyer's
knowledge,  no claim has been made by a taxing authority in a jurisdiction where
the  Buyer  does not file  tax  returns  such  that it is or may be  subject  to
taxation by that jurisdiction.

                        (v) To the Buyer's knowledge,  no claim has been made by
a taxing  authority in a jurisdiction  where the Buyer does not file tax returns
such that it is or may be
subject to taxation by that jurisdiction.

                        (vi) To the Buyer's knowledge, all deficiencies asserted
or  assessments  made as a result  of any  examinations  by the IRS or any other
taxing  authority of the tax returns of or covering or including  the Buyer have
been fully paid, and there are no other audits or  investigations  by any taxing
authority in progress,  nor to the Buyer's  knowledge has the Buyer received any
notice  from any taxing  authority  that it intends to conduct  such an audit or
investigation.  To the Buyer's knowledge, no issue has been raised by a federal,
state,  local or foreign  taxing  authority in any current or prior  examination
which,  by application of the same or similar  principles,  could  reasonably be
expected to result in a proposed deficiency for any subsequent taxable period.
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                        (vii) To the Buyer's knowledge, the Buyer is not subject
to any private  letter ruling of the IRS or  comparable  rulings of other taxing
authorities.

                        (viii) To the Buyer's knowledge, there are no liens as a
result of any unpaid taxes upon any of the assets of the Buyer.

            l. Real Property.

                        (i) The Buyer Disclosure  Schedules set forth a complete
list of all real  property and  interests in real  property  leased by the Buyer
(individually,  a "Buyer Real Property Lease" and the real properties  specified
in such leases being referred to herein  individually as a "Buyer  Property" and
collectively  as the "Buyer  Properties")  as lessee or lessor.  Buyer  Property
constitutes all interests in real property  currently used or currently held for
use in connection with the business of the Buyer and which are necessary for the
continued  operation  of the  business of the Buyer as the business is currently
conducted.  The Buyer has a valid and enforceable  leasehold interest under each
of the Buyer Real Property Leases, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization,  moratorium  and similar laws  affecting  creditors'  rights and
remedies generally and subject,  as to enforceability,  to general principles of
equity (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding at law or in



equity),  and the Buyer has not  received  any written  notice of any default or
event that with notice or lapse of time, or both,  would constitute a default by
the  Buyer  under  any of the  Buyer  Real  Property  Leases.  All of the  Buyer
Property,  buildings,  fixtures and improvements  thereon owned or leased by the
Buyer are in good  operating  condition  and repair  (subject to normal wear and
tear).  The Buyer has delivered or otherwise  made  available to the Company and
the Sellers true, correct and complete copies of the Buyer Real Property Leases,
together with all amendments, modifications or supplements, if any, thereto.

                        (ii)  The  Buyer  has  all  material   certificates   of
occupancy  and  permits of any  governmental  body  necessary  or useful for the
current  use and  operation  of each  Buyer  Property,  and the  Buyer has fully
complied  with all material  conditions  of the permits  applicable  to them. No
default or  violation,  or event that with the lapse of time or giving of notice
or both would become a default or violation,  has occurred in the due observance
of any permit.

            m. Tangible Personal Property.

                        (i) The Buyer Disclosure  Schedules set forth all leases
of  personal  property  ("Buyer  Personal  Property  Leases")  involving  annual
payments in excess of $25,000 relating to personal property used in the business
of the Buyer to which the Buyer is a party or by which the  properties or assets
of the Buyer is bound.
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                        (ii) The Buyer has a valid leasehold interest under each
of the Buyer  Personal  Property  Leases under which it is a lessee,  subject to
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,  reorganization,  moratorium and similar laws
affecting   creditors'  rights  and  remedies  generally  and  subject,   as  to
enforceability,   to  general   principles  of  equity  (regardless  of  whether
enforcement  is sought in a  proceeding  at law or in  equity),  and there is no
default  under any Buyer  Personal  Property  Lease by the Buyer or, to the best
knowledge of the Buyer,  by any other party  thereto,  and no event has occurred
that with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both would  constitute  a
default thereunder.

                        (iii) The Buyer has good and marketable  title to all of
the items of tangible  personal property  reflected in the Commission  Documents
(except as sold or disposed of  subsequent  to the date  thereof in the ordinary
course of business consistent with past practice), free and clear of any and all
Liens,  other than as set forth in the Commission  Documents.  All such items of
tangible personal property which, individually or in the aggregate, are material
to the  operation  of the business of the Buyer are in good  condition  and in a
state of good  maintenance and repair  (ordinary wear and tear excepted) and are
suitable for the purposes used.

                        (iv) All of the items of tangible personal property used
by the Buyer under the Buyer Personal  Property Leases are in good condition and
repair (ordinary wear and tear excepted) and are suitable for the purposes used.

            n. Intangible  Property.  The Buyer Disclosure  Schedules  contain a
complete and correct list of each patent,  trademark,  trade name,  service mark
and copyright  owned or used by the Buyer as well as all  registrations  thereof
and pending applications  therefor, and each license or other agreement relating
thereto.  Except  as set forth in the Buyer  Disclosure  Schedules,  each of the
foregoing  is owned by the party  shown in such Buyer  Disclosure  Schedules  as
owning the same, free and clear of all Liens and is in good standing and not the
subject of any  challenge.  There have been no claims made and the Buyer has not
received any notice or otherwise  knows or has reason to believe that any of the
foregoing is invalid or conflicts with the asserted rights of others.  The Buyer
possesses all patents, patent licenses, trade names, trademarks,  service marks,
brand marks, brand names, copyrights,  know-how, formulate and other proprietary
and trade rights necessary for the conduct of its business as now conducted, not
subject to any  restrictions  and without any known  conflict with the rights of
others  and the Buyer  has not  forfeited  or  otherwise  relinquished  any such
patent, patent license,  trade name, trademark,  service mark, brand mark, brand
name,  copyright,  know-how,  formulate or other proprietary right necessary for
the conduct of its business as  conducted  on the date hereof.  The Buyer is not
under any obligation to pay any royalties or similar payments in connection with
any license.
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            o. Company Material Contracts. The Commission Documents describe all
of the following contracts,  agreements,  commitments ("Contracts") to which the
Buyer is a party or by which it is  bound  (collectively,  the  "Buyer  Material
Contracts"):  (a) Contracts  with any current  officer or director of the Buyer;
(b) Contracts with any labor union or association  representing  any employee of
the Buyer; (c) Contracts  pursuant to which any party is required to purchase or
sell a stated  portion of its  requirements  or output from or to another party;
(d)  Contracts  for the sale of any of the assets of the Buyer other than in the
ordinary  course of  business  or for the  grant to any  person or entity of any
preferential rights to purchase any of its assets; (e) joint venture agreements;
(f) material Contracts  containing  covenants of the Buyer not to compete in any
line of  business  or with any  person  or entity  in any  geographical  area or
covenants  of any other  person or entity not to  compete  with the Buyer in any
line of business or in any  geographical  area;  (g)  Contracts  relating to the
acquisition  by the Buyer of any operating  business or the capital stock of any
other person or entity; (h) Contracts relating to the borrowing of money; or (i)
any other Contracts,  other than Buyer Real Property  Leases,  which involve the
expenditure of more than $50,000 in the aggregate or $25,000 annually or require
performance by any party more than one year from the date hereof.  Except as set
forth in the Commission Documents, all of the Buyer Material Contracts and other
agreements  are in full force and effect  and are the legal,  valid and  binding
obligation of the Buyer,  enforceable against the Company in accordance with its
terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,  moratorium
and similar laws affecting creditors' rights and remedies generally and subject,
as to  enforceability,  to general  principles of equity  (regardless of whether
enforcement is sought in a proceeding at law or in equity).  Except as set forth
in the Commission Documents, the Buyer is not in default in any material respect
under any Buyer Material  Contracts,  nor, to the knowledge of the Buyer, is any
other party to any Buyer Material Contract in default thereunder in any material
respect. There have been made available to the Company, its affiliates and their
representatives true and complete copies of all of the Buyer Material Contracts.

            p. Employee Benefits.

                        (i) The Buyer Disclosure  Schedules set forth a complete
and correct  list of: (i) all  "employee  benefit  plans," as defined in Section
3(3) of ERISA,  and any other  pension plans or employee  benefit  arrangements,
programs or payroll practices  (including,  without  limitation,  severance pay,
vacation pay, company awards,  salary  continuation for disability,  sick leave,
retirement, deferred compensation,  bonus or other incentive compensation, stock
purchase  arrangements or policies,  hospitalization,  medical  insurance,  life
insurance  and  scholarship  programs)  maintained  by the Buyer or to which the
Buyer  contributes  or is obligated  to  contribute  thereunder  with respect to
employees of the Buyer ("Buyer Employee Benefit Plans");  and (ii) all "employee
pension plans," as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA,  maintained by the Buyer or
any ERISA Affiliate or to which the Buyer or any ERISA Affiliate  contributed or
is obligated to contribute thereunder ("Buyer Pension Plans").

                        (ii) All  contributions  and premiums required by law or
by the terms of any Buyer Employee  Benefit Plan or Buyer Pension Plan which are
defined benefit plans or money purchase plans or any agreement  relating thereto
have been  timely  made  (without  regard to any waivers  granted  with  respect
thereto)  to  any  funds  or  trusts  established  thereunder  or in  connection
therewith,  and no accumulated  funding  deficiencies exist in any of such plans
subject to Section 412 of ERISA.

                        (iii) There has been no  violation of ERISA with respect
to the filing of applicable  returns,  reports,  documents and notices regarding
any of the  Buyer  Employee  Benefit  Plans  or  Buyer  Pension  Plans  with the
Secretary of Labor or the  Secretary of the Treasury or the  furnishing  of such
notices or documents to the  participants or beneficiaries of the Buyer Employee
Benefit Plans or Buyer Pension Plans.
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                        (iv) True,  correct and complete copies of the following
documents,  with respect to each of the Buyer  Employee  Benefit Plans and Buyer
Pension  Plans (as  applicable),  have been  delivered  to the  Company  and the
Sellers: (i) any plans and related trust documents,  and all amendments thereto;
(ii) the most recent Forms 5500 for the past three years and schedules  thereto;
(iii) the most recent financial statements and actuarial valuations for the past



three years; (iv) the most recent IRS determination  letter; (v) the most recent
summary plan descriptions  (including  letters or other documents  updating such
descriptions);  and (vi)  written  descriptions  of all  non-written  agreements
relating to the Buyer Employee Benefit Plans and Buyer Pension Plans.

            q. Labor.

                        (i) The Buyer is not a party to any labor or  collective
bargaining agreement and there are no labor or collective  bargaining agreements
which pertain to employees of the Buyer.

                        (ii) Except as set forth in the Commission Documents, no
employees  of the Buyer are  represented  by any  labor  organization.  No labor
organization  or group of employees  of the Buyer has made a pending  demand for
recognition,  and there are no representation proceedings or petitions seeking a
representation  proceeding  presently  pending or, to the best  knowledge of the
Buyer,  threatened  to be brought or filed,  with the National  Labor  Relations
Board  or other  labor  relations  tribunal.  There  is no  organizing  activity
involving the Buyer pending or, to the best  knowledge of the Buyer,  threatened
by any labor organization or group of employees of the Buyer.

                        (iii)  There  are  no  (i)  strikes,   work   stoppages,
slowdowns,  lockouts or arbitrations or (ii) material  grievances or other labor
disputes pending or, to the best knowledge of the Buyer,  threatened  against or
involving the Buyer.  There are no unfair labor practice charges,  grievances or
complaints  pending or, to the best knowledge of the Buyer,  threatened by or on
behalf of any employee or group of employees of the Buyer.

            r.  Litigation.  To the  knowledge  of the Buyer,  there is no suit,
action, proceeding,  investigation, claim or order pending or overtly threatened
against  the Buyer (or to the  knowledge  of the Buyer,  pending or  threatened,
against  any of the  officers,  directors  or key  employees  of the Buyer  with
respect to their  business  activities on behalf of the Buyer),  or to which the
Buyer is  otherwise  a party,  which,  if  adversely  determined,  would  have a
Material  Adverse  Effect  on  the  Buyer,  before  any  court,  or  before  any
governmental department,  commission, board, agency, or instrumentality;  nor to
the  knowledge of the Buyer is there any  reasonable  basis for any such action,
proceeding, or investigation. The Buyer is not subject to any judgment, order or
decree of any court or governmental agency except to the extent the same are not
reasonably  likely to have a Material  Adverse Effect on the Buyer and the Buyer
is not  engaged  in any legal  action to recover  monies  due it or for  damages
sustained  by it.  There  are no  legal  proceedings  pending  or,  to the  best
knowledge of the Buyer,  threatened  that are  reasonably  likely to prohibit or
restrain the ability of the Buyer to enter into this Agreement or consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby.
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            s.  Compliance with Laws;  Permits.  The Buyer is in compliance with
all laws applicable to the Buyer or to the conduct of the business or operations
of the Buyer or the use of its properties  (including any leased properties) and
assets,  except for such  non-compliances  as would not,  individually or in the
aggregate,  have a  Material  Adverse  Effect  on the  Buyer.  The Buyer has all
governmental  permits and  approvals  from state,  federal or local  authorities
which are required for the Buyer to operate its business as currently conducted,
except  for  those  the  absence  of which  would  not,  individually  or in the
aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect on the Buyer.

            t.  Environmental  Matters.  Except as set  forth in the  Commission
Documents:

                        (i) the  operations of the Buyer are in compliance  with
all Environmental  Laws and all permits issued pursuant to Environmental Laws or
otherwise;

                        (ii) the Buyer has obtained all permits  required  under
all applicable Environmental Laws necessary to operate its business;

                        (iii) the Buyer is not the  subject  of any  outstanding
written  order or Contract  with any  governmental  authority,  person or entity
respecting  Environmental Laws or any violation or potential violations thereof;
and



                        (iv)   the   Buyer   has  not   received   any   written
communication  alleging either or both that the Buyer may be in violation of any
Environmental  Law, or any permit issued pursuant to  Environmental  Law, or may
have any liability under any Environmental Law.

            u. Insurance.  The Buyer  Disclosure  Schedules set forth a complete
and accurate  list of all  policies of insurance of any kind or nature  covering
the Buyer or any of its  employees,  properties  or assets,  including,  without
limitation,  policies of life,  disability,  fire, theft, workers  compensation,
employee fidelity and other casualty and liability insurance.  All such policies
are in full force and effect, and, to the Buyer's knowledge, the Buyer is not in
default  of any  provision  thereof,  except  for such  defaults  as would  not,
individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect on the Buyer.

            v. Inventories; Receivables; Payables.

                        (i) The Buyer has no inventories or accounts receivable.

                        (ii) All accounts  payable of the Buyer reflected in the
Commission  Documents  or arising  after the date thereof are the result of bona
fide  transactions  in the ordinary course of business and have been paid or are
not yet due and payable.

            w. Related Party Transactions. Except as set forth in the Commission
Documents no  employee,  officer,  director or other  affiliate of the Buyer has
borrowed any moneys from or has  outstanding  any  indebtedness or other similar
obligations  to the  Buyer.  Except  as set forth in the  Commission  Documents,
neither  the  Buyer  nor any  affiliate  of the  Buyer:  (a) owns any  direct or
indirect  interest  of any kind  in,  or  controls  or is a  director,  officer,
employee or partner of, or  consultant  to, or lender to or borrower from or has
the right to  participate in the profits of, any person or entity which is (i) a
competitor,  supplier,  customer,  landlord,  tenant,  creditor or debtor of the
Buyer, (ii) engaged in a business related to the business of the Buyer, or (iii)
a  participant  in any  transaction  to which the Buyer is a party;  or (b) is a
party to any Contract with the Buyer.
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            x. Banks.  The Buyer  Disclosure  Schedules  contain a complete  and
correct  list of the  names  and  locations  of all banks in which the Buyer has
accounts or safe deposit  boxes and the names of all persons  authorized to draw
thereon or to have access thereto.  Except as set forth in the Buyer  Disclosure
Schedules, no person holds a power of attorney to act on behalf of the Buyer.

            y. Investment Intention.  The Buyer is acquiring the Loan Receivable
for its own account,  for  investment  purposes  only and not with a view to the
distribution  (as such term is used in  Section  2(11) of the  Securities  Act).
Buyer  understands  that the Loan Receivable has not been  registered  under the
Securities  Act and  cannot be sold  unless  subsequently  registered  under the
Securities Act or an exemption from such registration is available.

            z. Financial  Advisors.  Except for Aegis Equity, LLC, no person has
acted, directly or indirectly,  as a broker, finder or financial advisor for the
Buyer in connection with the transactions  contemplated by this Agreement and no
person is entitled to any fee or commission or like payment in respect thereof.

            aa. No Misrepresentation. No representation or warranty of the Buyer
contained in this Agreement or in any schedule  hereto or in any  certificate or
other  instrument  furnished  by the Buyer to the Sellers  pursuant to the terms
hereof,  contains any untrue  statement  of a material  fact or omits to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements  contained  herein or therein not
misleading.

      3.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY.  The Company represents
and warrants to the Buyer that:

            a.  Organization  and  Qualification.   The  Company  is  a  limited
liability  company duly organized,  validly  existing and in good standing under
the laws of the  jurisdiction in which it is  incorporated,  with full power and
authority  (corporate and other) to own,  lease,  use and operate its properties
and to carry on its business as and where now owned,  leased, used, operated and
conducted.



            b.  Authorization;  Enforcement.  (i) The Company has all  requisite
corporate  power and  authority to enter into and perform this  Agreement and to
consummate  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby and  thereby and to sell and
assign  the Loan  Receivable,  in  accordance  with the terms  hereof;  (ii) the
execution  and  delivery of this  Agreement  and the  consummation  by it of the
transactions  contemplated hereby (including without limitation,  the assignment
of the Loan  Receivable to the Buyer) have been duly authorized by the Company's
Board of Directors and no further consent or authorization  of the Company,  its
Board of Directors,  or its  shareholders is required;  (iii) this Agreement has
been  duly   executed   and   delivered   by  the  Company  by  its   authorized
representative,  and such  authorized  representative  is the true and  official
representative  with  authority to sign this  Agreement and the other  documents
executed in connection herewith and bind the Company accordingly;  and (iv) this
Agreement  constitutes,  and upon  execution  and  delivery  by the  Company  an
instrument of assignment of the Loan  Receivable,  each of such instruments will
constitute,  a legal,  valid and binding  obligation of the Company  enforceable
against the Company in accordance with its terms.
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            c. No Conflicts.  The  execution,  delivery and  performance of this
Agreement and the consummation by the Company of the  transactions  contemplated
hereby will not: (i) conflict  with or result in a violation of any provision of
the Company's articles of organization; (ii) violate or conflict with, or result
in a breach of any provision of, or constitute a default (or an event which with
notice or lapse of time or both could become a default) under, or give to others
any rights of  termination,  amendment,  acceleration  or  cancellation  of, any
agreement,  indenture, patent, patent license or instrument to which the Company
is a party; or (iii) result in a violation of any law, rule, regulation,  order,
judgment or decree  applicable  to the Company or by which any property or asset
of the  Company  is bound or  affected  (except  for such  conflicts,  defaults,
terminations,  amendments, accelerations,  cancellations and violations as would
not,  individually or in the aggregate,  have a Material  Adverse  Effect).  The
Company is not  required to obtain any  consent,  authorization  or order of, or
make any filing or registration with, any court, governmental agency, regulatory
agency, or any third party in order for it to execute, deliver or perform any of
its obligations  under this Agreement or an instrument of assignment of the Loan
Receivable, in accordance with the terms hereof or thereof or to sell and assign
the Loan Receivable in accordance with the terms hereof.  The Company is unaware
of any facts or circumstances which might give rise to any of the foregoing.

            d. Acknowledgment Regarding Buyer's Purchase of Loan Receivable. The
Company  acknowledges and agrees that the Buyer is acting solely in the capacity
of an arm's length purchaser with respect to this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated  hereby.  The Company  further  acknowledges  that the Buyer is not
acting as a  financial  advisor or  fiduciary  of the Company (or in any similar
capacity)  with  respect to this  Agreement  and the  transactions  contemplated
hereby  and any  statement  made by the Buyer or any of its  representatives  or
agents in  connection  with this  Agreement  and the  transactions  contemplated
hereby is not advice or a recommendation  and is merely incidental to the Buyer'
purchase of the Loan  Receivable.  The Company  further  represents to the Buyer
that the Company's  decision to enter into this  Agreement has been based solely
on the independent evaluation of the Buyer.

            e.  Investment  Purpose.  As of the  date  hereof,  the  Company  is
acquiring  the Note for its own account and not with a present  view towards the
public sale or  distribution  thereof,  except  pursuant to sales  registered or
exempted from registration under the Securities Act.
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            f.  Accredited   Investor  Status.  The  Company  is  an  Accredited
Investor,  as that term is defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation  D,  promulgated
pursuant to the Securities Act.

            g. Reliance on Exemptions.  The Company understands that the Note is
being  offered and issued to it in reliance upon  specific  exemptions  from the
registration requirements of United States federal and state securities laws and
that the Buyer is relying  upon the truth and  accuracy  of,  and the  Company's
compliance with, the representations,  warranties,  agreements,  acknowledgments
and  understandings  of the Company set forth herein in order to  determine  the
availability  of such  exemptions and the  eligibility of the Company to acquire
the Note.



            h.  Governmental  Review.  The  Company  understands  that no United
States federal or state agency or any other  government or  governmental  agency
has passed upon or made any recommendation or endorsement of the Note.

            i. Transfer or Re-sale.  The Company understands that: (i) except as
provided pursuant to Section 4(c) of this Agreement,  the sale or re-sale of the
Note and the conversion  shares issuable upon  conversion  thereof have not been
and are not being  registered  under the Securities Act or any applicable  state
securities  laws, and such  securities  may not be  transferred  unless (A) such
securities are sold pursuant to an effective  registration  statement  under the
Securities Act, (B) such  securities are sold pursuant to Rule 144,  promulgated
under  the  Securities  Act (or a  successor  rule)  ("Rule  144"),  or (C) such
securities  are sold  pursuant to  Regulation S under the  Securities  Act (or a
successor rule)  ("Regulation  S"); (ii) any sale of the Note and the conversion
shares issuable upon conversion thereof made in reliance on Rule 144 may be made
only in accordance with the terms of said Rule and further,  if said Rule is not
applicable,  any re-sale of such  securities  under  circumstances  in which the
seller  (or the  person  through  whom the sale is made)  may be deemed to be an
underwriter  (as  that  term is  defined  in the  Securities  Act)  may  require
compliance  with some other  exemption under the Securities Act or the rules and
regulations of the SEC  thereunder;  and (iii) neither the Company nor any other
person is under any  obligation  to register the Note or the  conversion  shares
issuable  upon  conversion  thereof  under  the  Securities  Act  or  any  state
securities  laws or to comply  with the terms and  conditions  of any  exemption
thereunder  (in each  case,  other than  pursuant  to the  Section  4(c) of this
Agreement).

            j. Legends.  The Company  understands  that the Note and, until such
time as the  conversion  shares  issuable  upon  conversion  thereof  have  been
registered  under the  Securities  Act as  contemplated  by Section 4(c) of this
Agreement or otherwise  may be sold pursuant to Rule 144 or Regulation S without
any  restriction as to the number of securities as of a particular date that can
then be immediately sold, the conversion shares may bear a restrictive legend in
substantially  the  following  form  (and a  stop-transfer  order  may be placed
against transfer of the certificates for such securities):

     "The  securities  represented  by this  certificate  have  not  been
     registered  under  the  Securities  Act of  1933,  as  amended.  The
     securities  may not be sold,  transferred or assigned in the absence
     of an effective registration statement for the securities under said
     Act,  or an  opinion  of  counsel,  in  form,  substance  and  scope
     customary for opinions of counsel in comparable  transactions,  that
     registration  is not required under said Act or unless sold pursuant
     to Rule 144 or Regulation S under said Act."
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      The legend set forth  above  shall be removed  and the Buyer shall issue a
certificate  without such legend to the holder of any security  upon which it is
stamped,  if, unless otherwise required by applicable state securities laws, (a)
such security is registered for sale under an effective  registration  statement
filed under the  Securities Act or otherwise may be sold pursuant to Rule 144 or
Regulation  S without any  restriction  as to the number of  securities  as of a
particular  date that can then be  immediately  sold. The Company agrees to sell
the Note and the conversion shares issuable upon conversion  thereof,  including
those represented by a certificate(s) from which the legend has been removed, in
compliance with applicable prospectus delivery requirements, if any.

            k. No Brokers. The Company has taken no action which would give rise
to any  claim by any  person  for  brokerage  commissions,  transaction  fees or
similar  payments  relating to this Agreement or the  transactions  contemplated
hereby.

            l. No Misrepresentation.  No representation or warranty of the Buyer
contained in this Agreement or in any schedule  hereto or in any  certificate or
other  instrument  furnished  by the Buyer to the Sellers  pursuant to the terms
hereof,  contains any untrue  statement  of a material  fact or omits to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements  contained  herein or therein not
misleading.

      4. COVENANTS.



            a. Best Efforts. The parties shall use their best efforts to satisfy
timely each of the conditions described in Sections 5 and 6 of this Agreement.

            b.  Form D; Blue Sky  Laws.  The Buyer  agrees to file a Form D with
respect to the Note as required under Regulation D, promulgated  pursuant to the
Securities Act. The Buyer shall, on or before the Closing Date, take such action
as the Buyer shall  reasonably  determine  is  necessary to qualify the Note for
sale to the Company  pursuant to this Agreement under  applicable  securities or
"blue sky" laws of the states of the  United  States (or to obtain an  exemption
from such qualification).

            c. Registration Rights.

                        (i) As promptly as  possible,  but in any event no later
than ninety (90) days  following the Closing  Date,  the Buyer shall prepare and
file with the SEC a  registration  statement (the  "Registration  Statement") on
Form SB-2 (or other  applicable  form)  covering  the resale of the Common Stock
issuable upon conversion of the Note (the "Registrable  Securities").  The Buyer
shall use its best  efforts to cause the  Registration  Statement to be declared
effective by the SEC as promptly as possible  after the filing thereof and shall
use its best efforts to keep the Registration  Statement  continuously effective
under the Securities Act until the earlier of: (i) the date when all Registrable
Securities  covered by such Registration  Statement have been sold publicly;  or
(ii) the date  when all  Registrable  Securities  may be sold  pursuant  to Rule
144(k) (the "Effectiveness Period").
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                        (ii)  In  connection   with  the  Buyer's   registration
obligations  hereunder,  the Buyer shall: (A) prepare and file with the SEC such
amendments,  including post-effective  amendments, to the Registration Statement
and the prospectus used in connection  therewith as may be necessary to keep the
Registration  Statement  continuously effective as to the applicable Registrable
Securities for the Effectiveness  Period; (B) cause the related prospectus to be
amended  or  supplemented  by  any  required  prospectus  supplement,  and as so
supplemented or amended to be filed pursuant to Rule 424  promulgated  under the
Securities  Act; (C) respond as promptly as reasonably  possible to any comments
received  from  the  SEC  with  respect  to the  Registration  Statement  or any
amendment  thereto;  and (D) comply in all material respects with the provisions
of the  Securities  Act and the Exchange Act with respect to the  disposition of
all Registrable  Securities  covered by the  Registration  Statement  during the
applicable  period in accordance with the intended methods of disposition by the
Company  set  forth  in the  Registration  Statement  as so  amended  or in such
prospectus as so supplemented.

                        (iii) The Buyer shall  promptly  deliver to the Company,
without charge, as many copies of the final prospectus or final prospectuses and
each amendment or supplement thereto as the Company may reasonably request.

                        (iv) The  Buyer  shall  cooperate  with the  Company  to
facilitate  the timely  preparation  and delivery of  certificates  representing
Registrable   Securities  to  be  delivered  to  a  transferee   pursuant  to  a
Registration  Statement,  which  certificates  shall  be  free,  to  the  extent
permitted by law, of all  restrictive  legends,  and to enable such  Registrable
Securities  to be in such  denominations  and  registered  in such  names as the
Company may request.

                        (v) The Buyer shall pay all fees and  expenses  incident
to the performance of or compliance with this Section 4(c),  including:  (A) all
registration and filing fees and expenses,  including  without  limitation those
related  to  filings  with  the  SEC and in  connection  with  applicable  state
securities  or "blue sky" laws;  and (B) printing  expenses  (including  without
limitation expenses of printing  certificates for Registrable  Securities and of
printing prospectuses requested by the Sellers).

                        (vi)  Subject  to the  last  sentence  of  this  Section
4(c)(vi), if at any time prior to the expiration of the Effectiveness Period the
Buyer shall determine to file with the SEC a registration  statement relating to
an offering  for its own account or the account of others  under the  Securities
Act of any of its equity securities (other than on Form S-4 or Form S-8 or their
then equivalents relating to equity securities to be issued solely in connection
with an acquisition of any entity or business or equity  securities  issuable in
connection  with employee  benefit  plans),  the Buyer shall send to the Company



written notice of such  determination and, if within fifteen (15) days after the
effective  date of such  notice,  the Company  shall so request in writing,  the
Buyer  shall  include  in such  registration  statement  all or any  part of the
Registrable  Securities  the  Company  requests  to be  registered.  No right to
registration  of  Registrable  Securities  under this Section  4(c)(vi) shall be
construed to limit any  registration  required  under  Section  4(c)(i)  hereof.
Notwithstanding  anything to the contrary  set forth  herein,  the  registration
rights of the Company  pursuant to this Section 4(c)(vi) shall only be available
in the event the Buyer fails to timely file,  obtain  effectiveness  or maintain
effectiveness  of any  Registration  Statement  to be filed  pursuant to Section
4(c)(i) in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
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            d.  Authorization and Reservation of Shares.  The Buyer shall at all
times have  authorized,  and reserved for the purpose of issuance,  a sufficient
number of  shares of Common  Stock to  provide  for the full  conversion  of the
outstanding Note and issuance of the conversion  shares in connection  therewith
(based on the  conversion  price of the Note in effect from time to time) and as
otherwise  required  by the Note.  The  Company  shall not  reduce the number of
shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance upon conversion of the Note without
the consent of the Company.  If at any time the number of shares of Common Stock
authorized  and  reserved  for  issuance is below that which is required for the
full  conversion of the Note, the Buyer will promptly take all corporate  action
necessary to authorize  and reserve a  sufficient  number of shares,  including,
without  limitation,  calling a special  meeting of  shareholders  to  authorize
additional shares to meet the Company's obligations under this Section 4(d).

      5.  CONDITIONS TO THE COMPANY'S  OBLIGATION TO SELL. The obligation of the
Company  hereunder  to sell and assign  the Note to the Buyer at the  Closing is
subject  to the  satisfaction,  at or  before  the  Closing  Date of each of the
following conditions,  provided that these conditions are for the Company's sole
benefit and may be waived by the Company at any time in its sole discretion:

            a. The Buyer shall have executed this  Agreement,  and delivered the
same to the Company.

            b. The  Buyer  shall  have  delivered  the Note in  accordance  with
Section 1(b) above.

            c. The representations and warranties of the Buyer shall be true and
correct in all material  respects as of the date when made and as of the Closing
Date as though made at that time (except for representations and warranties that
speak as of a specific date), and the Buyer shall have performed,  satisfied and
complied in all material respects with the covenants,  agreements and conditions
required by this  Agreement to be  performed,  satisfied or complied with by the
Buyer at or prior to the  Closing  Date.  The  Company  shall  have  received  a
certificate  or  certificates,  executed by the chief  executive  officer of the
Buyer,  dated as of the Closing  Date,  to the  foregoing  effect and as to such
other matters as may be reasonably requested by the Company.

            d.  No  litigation,  statute,  rule,  regulation,  executive  order,
decree,  ruling or injunction shall have been enacted,  entered,  promulgated or
endorsed by or in any court or governmental  authority of competent jurisdiction
or  any   self-regulatory   organization   having  authority  over  the  matters
contemplated  hereby which prohibits the consummation of any of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

      6. CONDITIONS TO THE BUYER'S OBLIGATION TO PURCHASE. The obligation of the
Buyer  hereunder  to  purchase  the  Note  at  the  Closing  is  subject  to the
satisfaction, at or before the Closing Date of each of the following conditions,
provided  that these  conditions  are for the  Buyer's  sole  benefit and may be
waived by the Buyer at any time in its sole discretion:

                                       17

            a. Rebel Crew Films and the Rebel Crew Films Stockholders, including
the Company,  shall have executed the Stock  Purchase  Agreement and all related
agreements and delivered the same to the Buyer.

            b. The Company shall have executed this  Agreement and delivered the
same to the Buyer.



            c. The Company  shall have  delivered  to the Buyer a duly  executed
form of assignment, in such form and substance as is acceptable to the Buyer and
the Buyer's counsel,  to transfer  ownership and right to the Loan Receivable to
the Buyer.

            d. The  representations  and warranties of the Company shall be true
and  correct  in all  material  respects  as of the date when made and as of the
Closing  Date as  though  made at such  time  (except  for  representations  and
warranties  that  speak  as of a  specific  date)  and the  Company  shall  have
performed,  satisfied and complied in all material  respects with the covenants,
agreements and conditions required by this Agreement to be performed,  satisfied
or complied with by the Company at or prior to the Closing Date. The Buyer shall
have received a certificate or certificates,  executed by the managing member of
the Company,  dated as of the Closing Date,  to the  foregoing  effect and as to
such other matters as may be reasonably requested by the Buyer.

            e.  No  litigation,  statute,  rule,  regulation,  executive  order,
decree,  ruling or injunction shall have been enacted,  entered,  promulgated or
endorsed by or in any court or governmental  authority of competent jurisdiction
or  any   self-regulatory   organization   having  authority  over  the  matters
contemplated  hereby which prohibits the consummation of any of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

      7. GOVERNING LAW; MISCELLANEOUS.

            a. Governing Law. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE ENFORCED,  GOVERNED BY AND
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE  WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA  APPLICABLE TO
AGREEMENTS MADE AND TO BE PERFORMED  ENTIRELY WITHIN SUCH STATE,  WITHOUT REGARD
TO THE  PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICT OF LAWS.  THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY SUBMIT TO THE
EXCLUSIVE  JURISDICTION  OF THE  UNITED  STATES  FEDERAL  COURTS  LOCATED IN LOS
ANGELES  COUNTY,  CALIFORNIA  WITH  RESPECT TO ANY  DISPUTE  ARISING  UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT,   THE  AGREEMENTS   ENTERED  INTO  IN  CONNECTION   HEREWITH  OR  THE
TRANSACTIONS  CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY. BOTH PARTIES IRREVOCABLY WAIVE THE
DEFENSE OF AN INCONVENIENT  FORUM TO THE MAINTENANCE OF SUCH SUIT OR PROCEEDING.
BOTH  PARTIES  AGREE THAT A FINAL  NON-APPEALABLE  JUDGMENT  IN ANY SUCH SUIT OR
PROCEEDING  SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE  AND MAY BE ENFORCED IN OTHER  JURISDICTIONS  BY
SUIT ON SUCH JUDGMENT OR IN ANY OTHER LAWFUL MANNER.
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            b.  Counterparts;  Signatures  by Facsimile.  This  Agreement may be
executed in one or more counterparts,  each of which shall be deemed an original
but all of which shall  constitute  one and the same  agreement and shall become
effective when  counterparts have been signed by each party and delivered to the
other party.  This Agreement,  once executed by a party, may be delivered to the
other party hereto by facsimile transmission of a copy of this Agreement bearing
the signature of the party so delivering this Agreement.

            c. Headings.  The headings of this Agreement are for  convenience of
reference only and shall not form part of, or affect the interpretation of, this
Agreement.

            d.  Severability.  In the event that any provision of this Agreement
is invalid or  unenforceable  under any applicable  statute or rule of law, then
such  provision  shall be deemed  inoperative to the extent that it may conflict
therewith  and shall be deemed  modified to conform with such statute or rule of
law. Any provision hereof which may prove invalid or unenforceable under any law
shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision hereof.

            e. Entire Agreement;  Amendments. This Agreement and the instruments
referenced  herein contain the entire  understanding of the parties with respect
to the matters covered herein and therein and, except as specifically  set forth
herein or therein,  neither the Company nor the Buyer makes any  representation,
warranty,  covenant or undertaking with respect to such matters. No provision of
this  Agreement  may be waived or amended other than by an instrument in writing
signed by the party to be charged with enforcement.

            f. Notices.  Any notices required or permitted to be given under the
terms of this  Agreement  shall be sent by certified or registered  mail (return
receipt requested) or delivered personally or by courier (including a recognized
overnight  delivery  service) or by facsimile  and shall be effective  five days
after being placed in the mail, if mailed by regular United States mail, or upon
receipt, if delivered personally or by courier (including a recognized overnight



delivery  service)  or by  facsimile,  in each case  addressed  to a party.  The
addresses for such communications shall be:

                           If to the Company:

                                    Rebel Holdings, LLC
                                    Attention:  Jay Rifkin
                                    6601 Center Drive West
                                    Suite 200
                                    Los Angeles, California
                                    Facsimile:  (310) 499-4334
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                           With a copy to:

                                    Danzig Kaye Cooper Fiore & Kay, LLP
                                    Attn: David M. Kaye, Esq.
                                    30A Vreeland Road
                                    Florham Park, New Jersey 07932
                                    Facsimile: (973) 443-0609

                           If to the Buyer:

                                    Digicorp
                                    Attn: William B. Horne
                                    100 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1750
                                    Santa Monica, CA 90401
                                    Facsimile: (310) 752-1486

                           With copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

                                    Sichenzia Ross Friedman Ference LLP
                                    1065 Avenue of the Americas
                                    21st Floor
                                    New York, New York 10018
                                    Attention:  Marc J. Ross, Esq.
                                    Facsimile:  (212) 930-9725

      Each  party  shall  provide  notice  to the other  party of any  change in
address.

            g. Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and
inure to the benefit of the parties and their  successors  and assigns.  Neither
the  Company  nor the  Buyer  shall  assign  this  Agreement  or any  rights  or
obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the other.

            h. Third Party  Beneficiaries.  This  Agreement  is intended for the
benefit of the parties  hereto and their  respective  permitted  successors  and
assigns, and is not for the benefit of, nor may any provision hereof be enforced
by, any other person.

            i.  Non-Survival.  The parties  hereto hereby agree that none of the
representations   and   warranties   contained  in  this  Agreement  or  in  any
certificate,  document or  instrument  delivered in connection  herewith,  shall
survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement, and the Closing hereunder.

            j. Further  Assurances.  The Company and the Buyer each shall do and
perform,  or cause to be done and  performed,  all such further acts and things,
and  shall  execute  and  deliver  all  such  other  agreements,   certificates,
instruments and documents, as the other party may reasonably request in order to
carry out the intent and  accomplish  the  purposes  of this  Agreement  and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
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            k. No Strict Construction.  The language used in this Agreement will
be deemed to be the  language  chosen by the  parties  to express  their  mutual
intent, and no rules of strict construction will be applied against any party.

            l.  Remedies.  The  Company  and the Buyer each  acknowledge  that a



breach by it of its  obligations  hereunder will cause  irreparable  harm to the
other party by vitiating the intent and purpose of the transaction  contemplated
hereby. Accordingly,  the Company and the Buyer each acknowledge that the remedy
at law for a breach of its  obligations  under this Agreement will be inadequate
and each  agrees,  in the  event of a breach or  threatened  breach by it of the
provisions  of this  Agreement,  that the  other  party  shall be  entitled,  in
addition to all other available  remedies at law or in equity,  to an injunction
or  injunctions  restraining,  preventing or curing any breach of this Agreement
and to  enforce  specifically  the  terms and  provisions  hereof,  without  the
necessity of showing  economic loss and without any bond or other security being
required.

                  [REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Buyer and the Company have caused this
Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first above written.

                                             DIGICORP

                                               /s/ William B. Horne
                                              ----------------------------------
                                             William B. Horne
                                             Chief Executive Officer

                                             REBEL HOLDINGS, LLC

                                              /s/ Jay Rifkin
                                             -----------------------------------
                                             Jay Rifkin
                                             Managing Member



                              ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT

      This Assignment  Agreement (the  "Assignment")  is made as of December 29,
2005 by and among Rebel Holdings, LLC, a California limited liability company as
assignor  (the   "Assignor"),   Digicorp,   a  Utah   corporation   as  assignee
("Assignee"),  and  Rebel  Crew  Films,  Inc.,  a  California  corporation  (the
"Company").

                                   WITNESSETH:

      WHEREAS,  simultaneously with executing this Assignment,  the Assignor and
the Assignee are entering into a Securities  Purchase  Agreement  (the "Purchase
Agreement")  pursuant  to  which  Assignee  is  purchasing  a  $556,306.53  loan
receivable  (the "Loan  Receivable")  of Assignor which is owed to Assignor from
the  Company  in  exchange  for  the  issuance  by  Assignee  to  Assignor  of a
$556,306.53 principal amount convertible note; and

      WHEREAS,  pursuant  to the  terms  hereof  and the  terms of the  Purchase
Agreement, the parties hereto are entering into this Assignment.

      NOW,  THEREFORE,  in  consideration  of and for the  mutual  promises  and
covenants contained herein, and for other good and valuable  consideration,  the
receipt of which is hereby  acknowledged,  the parties  hereto  hereby  agree as
follows:

      1. All  capitalized  terms not  defined  herein  shall  have the  meanings
ascribed to such terms in the Purchase Agreement.

      2. For value  received,  Assignor  assigns and  transfers  to Assignee all
rights to the Loan Receivable, subject to all the conditions and terms contained
in the Purchase  Agreement.  A copy of the Purchase Agreement is attached hereto
as Exhibit A and made a part hereof by reference.

      3. This  Assignment  shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with
the laws of the State of  California  without  giving  effect to the conflict of
laws rules thereof or the actual domiciles of the parties.

      4. This  Assignment may be executed in one or more  counterparts,  each of
which  shall be  deemed  an  original  and all of  which  taken  together  shall
constitute a single Assignment.
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      IN WITNESS  WHEREOF,  the parties have executed this  Assignment as of the
day and year first written above.

                                          ASSIGNOR:

                                          REBEL HOLDINGS, LLC

                                                /s/ Jay Rifkin
                                          --------------------------------------
                                          Jay Rifkin
                                          Managing Member

                                          ASSIGNEE:

                                          DIGICORP

                                           /s/ William B. Horne
                                          --------------------------------------
                                          William B. Horne
                                          Chief Executive Officer



                             CONSENT OF THE COMPANY

         The Company identified in the above Assignment hereby consent to that
Assignment.

Dated: December 29, 2005                  REBEL CREW FILMS, INC.

                                          /s/ Cesar Chatel
                                          --------------------------------------
                                          Cesar Chatel
                                          President
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                                    Exhibit A
                               Purchase Agreement



                               SECURITY AGREEMENT

      SECURITY AGREEMENT (this  "Agreement"),  dated as of December 29, 2005, by
and among  Digicorp,  a Utah  corporation  (the  "Company"),  and the Rebel Crew
Holdings,  LLC  and its  respective  endorsees,  transferees  and  assigns  (the
"Secured Party").

                              W I T N E S S E T H:

      WHEREAS,  pursuant  to a  Securities  Purchase  Agreement,  dated the date
hereof,  between Company and the Secured Party (the "Purchase  Agreement"),  the
Company  has  agreed to issue to the  Secured  Party and the  Secured  Party has
agreed to purchase from the Company a 4.5% Secured  Convertible  Note,  due five
years from the date of issue (the "Note"),  which is convertible  into shares of
the Company's Common Stock, par value $.001 per share (the "Common Stock");

      WHEREAS,  simultaneously  herewith,  the Company is entering  into a Stock
Purchase  Agreement  (the  "Stock  Purchase  Agreement")  pursuant  to which the
Company is purchasing all of the issued and outstanding  shares of capital stock
of Rebel Crew Films, Inc., a California  corporation ("Rebel Crew Films"),  from
the stockholders of Rebel Crew Films (the "Rebel Crew Films Stockholders"); and

      WHEREAS,  in order to induce the Rebel Crew  Films  Stockholders  to enter
into the Stock  Purchase  Agreement  and to induce the Secured Party to purchase
the Note,  the Company  has agreed to execute  and deliver to the Secured  Party
this  Agreement  for the benefit of the Secured Party and to grant to it a first
priority  security  interest  in certain  property  of the Company to secure the
prompt  payment,  performance  and  discharge  in full  of all of the  Company's
obligations under the Note.

      NOW,  THEREFORE,  in consideration of the agreements  herein contained and
for other good and valuable consideration,  the receipt and sufficiency of which
is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

      1. Certain  Definitions.  As used in this  Agreement,  the following terms
shall  have  the  meanings  set  forth in this  Section  1.  Terms  used but not
otherwise  defined in this  Agreement  that are  defined in Article 9 of the UCC
(such as  "general  intangibles"  and  "proceeds")  shall  have  the  respective
meanings given such terms in Article 9 of the UCC.

            (a) "Collateral"  means the collateral in which the Secured Party is
granted a security  interest  by this  Agreement  and which  shall  include  the
following,  whether presently owned or existing or hereafter  acquired or coming
into existence,  and all additions and accessions  thereto and all substitutions
and  replacements  thereof,  and all  proceeds,  products and accounts  thereof,
including,  without  limitation,  all proceeds  from the sale or transfer of the
Collateral  and of  insurance  covering  the  same  and of any  tort  claims  in
connection therewith:

            (i) All Goods of the Company,  including,  without limitations,  all
      machinery,  equipment,  computers,  motor vehicles,  trucks, tanks, boats,
      ships,  appliances,  furniture,  special and general tools, fixtures, test
      and quality  control  devices and other equipment of every kind and nature
      and wherever situated,  together with all documents of title and documents
      representing the same, all additions and accessions thereto,  replacements
      therefor, all parts therefor, and all substitutes for any of the foregoing
      and all other  items  used and  useful in  connection  with the  Company's
      businesses and all improvements thereto (collectively, the "Equipment");

                  (ii) All Inventory of the Company;

            (iii) All of the Company's contract rights and general  intangibles,
      including,  without limitation,  all partnership interests, stock or other
      securities, licenses, distribution and other agreements, computer software
      development rights,  leases,  franchises,  customer lists, quality control
      procedures, grants and rights, goodwill,  trademarks, service marks, trade
      styles, trade names,  patents,  patent applications,  copyrights,  deposit
      accounts,   and   income   tax   refunds   (collectively,   the   "General
      Intangibles");



            (iv)  All  Receivables  of  the  Company   including  all  insurance
      proceeds,  and  rights to  refunds or  indemnification  whatsoever  owing,
      together with all instruments,  all documents of title representing any of
      the foregoing,  all rights in any merchandising,  goods, equipment,  motor
      vehicles  and trucks which any of the same may  represent,  and all right,
      title, security and guaranties with respect to each Receivable,  including
      any right of stoppage in transit; and

            (v) All of the Company's  documents,  instruments and chattel paper,
      files, records, books of account,  business papers,  computer programs and
      the products and proceeds of all of the foregoing  Collateral set forth in
      clauses (i)-(iv) above; and

            (vi) All of the capital  stock of any  corporation  or other  entity
      owned by the Company.

            (b) "Obligations" means all of the Company's  obligations under this
Agreement  and the  Note,  in each  case,  whether  now or  hereafter  existing,
voluntary or involuntary, direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, liquidated
or  unliquidated,  whether or not jointly owed with  others,  and whether or not
from time to time  decreased or  extinguished  and later  decreased,  created or
incurred,  and all or any portion of such  obligations or  liabilities  that are
paid,  to the  extent all or any part of such  payment  is avoided or  recovered
directly  or  indirectly  from the  Secured  Party as a  preference,  fraudulent
transfer  or  otherwise  as  such  obligations  may  be  amended,  supplemented,
converted, extended or modified from time to time.

            (c) "UCC" means the Uniform  Commercial Code, as currently in effect
in the State of California.
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      2. Grant of Security  Interest.  As an inducement for the Secured Party to
purchase the Note and to secure the complete and timely payment, performance and
discharge in full,  as the case may be, of all of the  Obligations,  the Company
hereby, unconditionally and irrevocably, pledges, grants and hypothecates to the
Secured Party, a continuing  security interest in, a continuing first lien upon,
an  unqualified  right to possession  and  disposition of and a right of set-off
against,  in each  case  to the  fullest  extent  permitted  by law,  all of the
Company's right,  title and interest of whatsoever kind and nature in and to the
Collateral (the "Security Interest").

      3. Representations,  Warranties,  Covenants and Agreements of the Company.
The Company  represents  and warrants  to, and  covenants  and agrees with,  the
Secured Party as follows:

            (a) The Company has the requisite  corporate  power and authority to
enter into this Agreement and otherwise to carry out its obligations thereunder.
The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the
filings  contemplated  therein have been duly authorized by all necessary action
on the part of the  Company and no further  action is  required by the  Company.
This Agreement  constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company
enforceable  in  accordance  with its  terms,  except as  enforceability  may be
limited by bankruptcy,  insolvency,  reorganization,  moratorium or similar laws
affecting the enforcement of creditor's rights generally.

            (b) The  Company  represents  and  warrants  that it has no place of
business or offices where its  respective  books of account and records are kept
(other than  temporarily  at the offices of its  attorneys  or  accountants)  or
places where Collateral is stored or located,  except as set forth on Schedule A
attached hereto;

            (c) The  Company is the sole  owner of the  Collateral  (except  for
non-exclusive  licenses  granted  by the  Company  in  the  ordinary  course  of
business), free and clear of any liens, security interests, encumbrances, rights
or claims,  and is fully  authorized  to grant the  Security  Interest in and to
pledge the  Collateral.  There is not on file in any  governmental or regulatory
authority, agency or recording office an effective financing statement, security
agreement, license or transfer or any notice of any of the foregoing (other than
those  that have  been  filed in favor of the  Secured  Party  pursuant  to this
Agreement)  covering  or  affecting  any of the  Collateral.  So  long  as  this
Agreement  shall be in  effect,  the  Company  shall not  execute  and shall not



knowingly  permit to be on file in any such office or agency any such  financing
statement  or other  document  or  instrument  (except  to the  extent  filed or
recorded in favor of the Secured Party pursuant to the terms of this Agreement).

            (d)  No  part  of  the   Collateral   has  been  judged  invalid  or
unenforceable.  No written claim has been  received  that any  Collateral or the
Company's use of any  Collateral  violates the rights of any third party.  There
has been no adverse  decision to the Company's  claim of ownership  rights in or
exclusive  rights to use the Collateral in any  jurisdiction or to the Company's
right to keep and maintain such  Collateral in full force and effect,  and there
is no proceeding  involving said rights pending or, to the best knowledge of the
Company,   threatened  before  any  court,  judicial  body,   administrative  or
regulatory agency, arbitrator or other governmental authority.

            (e) The Company shall at all times maintain its books of account and
records  relating to the  Collateral at its principal  place of business and its
Collateral at the locations set forth on Schedule A attached  hereto and may not
relocate  such books of account  and records or  tangible  Collateral  unless it
delivers to the  Secured  Party at least 30 days prior to such  relocation:  (i)
written notice of such  relocation  and the new location  thereof (which must be
within  the  United  States);  and  (ii)  evidence  that  appropriate  financing
statements and other necessary  documents have been filed and recorded and other
steps have been taken to perfect the Security Interest to create in favor of the
Secured  Party valid,  perfected  and  continuing  first  priority  liens in the
Collateral.
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            (f) This  Agreement  creates in favor of the  Secured  Party a valid
security interest in the Collateral  securing the payment and performance of the
Obligations and, upon making the filings described in the immediately  following
sentence,  a perfected  first  priority  security  interest in such  Collateral.
Except for the filing of financing  statements  on Form UCC-1 under the UCC with
the jurisdictions  indicated on Schedule B, attached hereto, no authorization or
approval of or filing with or notice to any governmental authority or regulatory
body  is  required  either:  (i)  for  the  grant  by  the  Company  of,  or the
effectiveness  of, the Security  Interest  granted  hereby or for the execution,
delivery and  performance  of this  Agreement  by the  Company;  or (ii) for the
perfection  of or  exercise  by the  Secured  Party of its rights  and  remedies
hereunder.

            (g) On the date of  execution  of this  Agreement,  the Company will
deliver to the Secured Party one or more  executed UCC  financing  statements on
Form  UCC-1  with  respect  to  the  Security   Interest  for  filing  with  the
jurisdictions  indicated  on  Schedule  B,  attached  hereto  and in such  other
jurisdictions as may be requested by the Secured Party.

            (h) The execution,  delivery and  performance of this Agreement does
not conflict with or cause a breach or default, or an event that with or without
the passage of time or notice,  shall constitute a breach or default,  under any
agreement  to which the Company is a party or by which the Company is bound.  No
consent (including,  without limitation,  from stock holders or creditors of the
Company) is required  for the Company to enter into and perform its  obligations
hereunder.

            (i) The Company  shall at all times  maintain the liens and Security
Interest  provided for hereunder as valid and perfected first priority liens and
security  interests in the  Collateral  in favor of the Secured Party until this
Agreement  and the  Security  Interest  hereunder  shall  terminate  pursuant to
Section 11. The  Company  hereby  agrees to defend the same  against any and all
persons.  The Company shall safeguard and protect all Collateral for the account
of the Secured Party. At the request of the Secured Party, the Company will sign
and  deliver to the  Secured  Party at any time or from time to time one or more
financing  statements  pursuant to the UCC (or any other applicable  statute) in
form  reasonably  satisfactory  to the  Secured  Party  and will pay the cost of
filing the same in all public  offices  wherever  filing is, or is deemed by the
Secured Party to be, necessary or desirable to effect the rights and obligations
provided for herein.  Without  limiting the  generality  of the  foregoing,  the
Company shall pay all fees,  taxes and other  amounts  necessary to maintain the
Collateral and the Security Interest hereunder, and the Company shall obtain and
furnish to the  Secured  Party from time to time,  upon  demand,  such  releases
and/or  subordinations of claims and liens which may be required to maintain the
priority of the Security Interest hereunder.



            (j) The Company will not transfer,  pledge,  hypothecate,  encumber,
license  (except  for  non-exclusive  licenses  granted  by the  Company  in the
ordinary course of business), sell or otherwise dispose of any of the Collateral
without the prior written consent of the Secured Party.
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            (k) The Company shall keep and preserve its Equipment, Inventory and
other  tangible  Collateral  in good  condition,  repair and order and shall not
operate or locate any such  Collateral  (or cause to be  operated or located) in
any area excluded from insurance coverage.

            (l) The Company  shall,  within ten (10)  business days of obtaining
knowledge thereof,  advise the Secured Party promptly,  in sufficient detail, of
any  substantial  change in the  Collateral,  and of the occurrence of any event
which would have a material  adverse effect on the value of the Collateral or on
the Secured Party's security interest therein.

            (m) The Company  shall  promptly  execute and deliver to the Secured
Party such further deeds, mortgages, assignments, security agreements, financing
statements or other instruments, documents, certificates and assurances and take
such  further  action as the  Secured  Party  may from  time to time  reasonably
request to perfect, protect or enforce its security interest in the Collateral.

            (n)  The   Company   shall   permit  the   Secured   Party  and  its
representatives  and agents to inspect the  Collateral at any time,  and to make
copies of  records  pertaining  to the  Collateral  as may be  requested  by the
Secured Party from time to time.

            (o)  The  Company  will  take  all  steps  reasonably  necessary  to
diligently pursue and seek to preserve,  enforce and collect any rights, claims,
causes of action and accounts receivable in respect of the Collateral.

            (p)  The  Company  shall  promptly   notify  the  Secured  Party  in
sufficient detail upon becoming aware of any attachment,  garnishment, execution
or  other  legal  process  levied  against  any  Collateral  and  of  any  other
information  received by the Company that may materially affect the value of the
Collateral,  the  Security  Interest  or the rights and  remedies of the Secured
Party hereunder.

            (q) All information heretofore,  herein or hereafter supplied to the
Secured  Party by or on behalf of the Company with respect to the  Collateral is
accurate and complete in all material respects as of the date furnished.

      4. Defaults. The following events shall be "Events of Default":

            (a) The  occurrence  of an Event of Default (as defined in the Note)
under the Note;

            (b) Any  representation or warranty of the Company in this Agreement
shall prove to have been incorrect in any material respect when made; and

            (c) The  failure by the  Company  to  observe or perform  any of its
obligations  hereunder  for  thirty  (30) days after  receipt by the  Company of
notice of such failure from the Secured Party.
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      5. Duty To Hold In Trust.  Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default and
at any time  thereafter,  the Company shall,  upon receipt by it of any revenue,
income or other sums subject to the Security Interest,  whether payable pursuant
to the Note or otherwise,  or of any check,  draft,  note,  trade  acceptance or
other instrument  evidencing an obligation to pay any such sum, hold the same in
trust for the Secured  Party and shall  forthwith  endorse and transfer any such
sums or  instruments,  or both,  to the  Secured  Party for  application  to the
satisfaction of the Obligations.

      6. Rights and  Remedies  Upon  Default.  Upon  occurrence  of any Event of
Default and at any time  thereafter,  the Secured  Party shall have the right to
exercise all of the remedies  conferred  hereunder  and under the Note,  and the
Secured  Party shall have all the rights and  remedies of a secured  party under
the UCC and/or any other  applicable law (including the Uniform  Commercial Code



of  any  jurisdiction  in  which  any  Collateral  is  then  located).   Without
limitation, the Secured Party shall have the following rights and powers:

            (a) The Secured Party shall have the right to take possession of the
Collateral  and, for that  purpose,  enter,  with the aid and  assistance of any
person,  any premises where the  Collateral,  or any part thereof,  is or may be
placed and remove the same,  and the Company shall  assemble the  Collateral and
make it available to the Secured  Party at places which the Secured  Party shall
reasonably  select,  whether at the Company's  premises or  elsewhere,  and make
available to the Secured Party,  without rent,  all of the Company's  respective
premises and facilities  for the purpose of the Secured Party taking  possession
of, removing or putting the Collateral in saleable or disposable form.

            (b) The Secured  Party shall have the right to operate the  business
of the Company using the  Collateral  and shall have the right to assign,  sell,
lease or otherwise dispose of and deliver all or any part of the Collateral,  at
public or private sale or otherwise,  either with or without special  conditions
or stipulations, for cash or on credit or for future delivery, in such parcel or
parcels  and at such time or times and at such  place or  places,  and upon such
terms and conditions as the Secured Party may deem commercially reasonable,  all
without (except as shall be required by applicable statute and cannot be waived)
advertisement  or demand upon or notice to the Company or right of redemption of
the Company,  which are hereby  expressly  waived.  Upon each such sale,  lease,
assignment  or other  transfer  of  Collateral,  the Secured  Party may,  unless
prohibited by applicable law which cannot be waived, purchase all or any part of
the Collateral being sold, free from and discharged of all trusts, claims, right
of redemption and equities of the Company, which are hereby waived and released.

      7. Applications of Proceeds. The proceeds of any such sale, lease or other
disposition of the Collateral  hereunder shall be applied first, to the expenses
of retaking,  holding, storing,  processing and preparing for sale, selling, and
the like  (including,  without  limitation,  any  taxes,  fees and  other  costs
incurred  in  connection  therewith)  of  the  Collateral,   to  the  reasonable
attorneys'  fees and expenses  incurred by the Secured  Party in  enforcing  its
rights hereunder and in connection with collecting, storing and disposing of the
Collateral,  and then to satisfaction of the Obligations,  and to the payment of
any other  amounts  required by  applicable  law,  after which the Secured Party
shall pay to the  Company any surplus  proceeds.  If, upon the sale,  license or
other  disposition of the Collateral,  the proceeds  thereof are insufficient to
pay all amounts to which the Secured Party is legally entitled, the Company will
be liable for the  deficiency.  To the extent  permitted by applicable  law, the
Company waives all claims, damages and demands against the Secured Party arising
out of the repossession,  removal,  retention or sale of the Collateral,  unless
due to the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Secured Party.
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      8. Costs and Expenses.  The Company agrees to pay all out-of-pocket  fees,
costs and expenses  incurred in connection with any filing  required  hereunder,
including without limitation, any financing statements, continuation statements,
partial releases and/or  termination  statements related thereto or any expenses
of any searches reasonably required by the Secured Party. The Company shall also
pay all other claims and charges which in the reasonable  opinion of the Secured
Party  might  prejudice,  imperil  or  otherwise  affect the  Collateral  or the
Security  Interest  therein.  The Company  will also,  upon  demand,  pay to the
Secured  Party the  amount of any and all  reasonable  expenses,  including  the
reasonable fees and expenses of its counsel and of any experts and agents, which
the  Secured  Party may incur in  connection  with (a) the  enforcement  of this
Agreement,  (b) the custody or preservation of, or the sale of, collection from,
or  other  realization  upon,  any of the  Collateral,  or (c) the  exercise  or
enforcement of any of the rights of the Secured Party under the Note.

      9. Responsibility for Collateral.  The Company assumes all liabilities and
responsibility  in connection  with all  Collateral,  and the obligations of the
Company hereunder or under the Note and the Warrants shall in no way be affected
or diminished by reason of the loss, destruction,  damage or theft of any of the
Collateral or its unavailability for any reason.

      10. Security  Interest  Absolute.  All rights of the Secured Party and all
Obligations  of the  Company  hereunder,  shall be absolute  and  unconditional,
irrespective of: (a) any lack of validity or  enforceability  of this Agreement,
the Note or any agreement entered into in connection with the foregoing,  or any
portion  hereof or  thereof;  (b) any  change  in the  time,  manner or place of



payment  or  performance  of,  or in  any  other  term  of,  all  or  any of the
Obligations, or any other amendment or waiver of or any consent to any departure
from  the  Note or any  other  agreement  entered  into in  connection  with the
foregoing; (c) any exchange,  release or nonperfection of any of the Collateral,
or any release or amendment or waiver of or consent to departure  from any other
collateral for, or any guaranty,  or any other  security,  for all or any of the
Obligations;  (d) any action by the Secured Party to obtain,  adjust, settle and
cancel in its sole discretion any insurance claims or matters made or arising in
connection  with the  Collateral;  or (e) any  other  circumstance  which  might
otherwise constitute any legal or equitable defense available to the Company, or
a discharge of all or any part of the Security  Interest  granted hereby.  Until
the  Obligations  shall have been paid and performed in full,  the rights of the
Secured Party shall continue even if the  Obligations are barred for any reason,
including,  without  limitation,  the running of the statute of  limitations  or
bankruptcy.  The  Company  expressly  waives  presentment,  protest,  notice  of
protest,  demand, notice of nonpayment and demand for performance.  In the event
that at any time any transfer of any  Collateral or any payment  received by the
Secured Party  hereunder  shall be deemed by final order of a court of competent
jurisdiction to have been a voidable  preference or fraudulent  conveyance under
the bankruptcy or insolvency laws of the United States, or shall be deemed to be
otherwise  due to any party  other than the  Secured  Party,  then,  in any such
event, the Company's  obligations  hereunder shall survive  cancellation of this
Agreement, and shall not be discharged or satisfied by any prior payment thereof
and/or  cancellation  of this  Agreement,  but shall  remain a valid and binding
obligation  enforceable in accordance with the terms and provisions  hereof. The
Company  waives all right to require  the Secured  Party to proceed  against any
other person or to apply any Collateral  which the Secured Party may hold at any
time, or to marshal assets, or to pursue any other remedy.
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      11. Term of  Agreement.  This  Agreement and the Security  Interest  shall
terminate  on the date on which  all  payments  under the Note have been made in
full  and all  other  Obligations  have  been  paid  or  discharged.  Upon  such
termination,  the  Secured  Party,  at the  request  and at the  expense  of the
Company,  will join in executing any  termination  statement with respect to any
financing statement executed and filed pursuant to this Agreement.

      12. Power of Attorney; Further Assurances.

            (a) The Company  authorizes the Secured Party, and does hereby make,
constitute and appoint it, and its respective  officers,  agents,  successors or
assigns  with full  power of  substitution,  as the  Company's  true and  lawful
attorney-in-fact, with power, in its own name or in the name of the Company, to,
after the  occurrence  and during the  continuance  of an Event of Default:  (i)
endorse any notes, checks, drafts, money orders, or other instruments of payment
(including  payments  payable under or in respect of any policy of insurance) in
respect of the  Collateral  that may come into  possession of the Secured Party;
(ii) to sign and endorse any UCC financing statement or any invoice,  freight or
express bill,  bill of lading,  storage or warehouse  receipts,  drafts  against
debtors, assignments, verifications and notices in connection with accounts, and
other  documents  relating to the Collateral;  (iii) to pay or discharge  taxes,
liens,  security interests or other encumbrances at any time levied or placed on
or threatened  against the  Collateral;  (iv) to demand,  collect,  receipt for,
compromise,  settle and sue for monies due in respect of the Collateral; and (v)
generally,  to do, at the  option of the  Secured  Party,  and at the  Company's
expense,  at any  time,  or from  time to time,  all acts and  things  which the
Secured  Party  deems  necessary  to  protect,  preserve  and  realize  upon the
Collateral  and the  Security  Interest  granted  therein in order to effect the
intent of this  Agreement  and the Note,  all as fully  and  effectually  as the
Company  might or could  do;  and the  Company  hereby  ratifies  all that  said
attorney shall  lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.  This power of
attorney is coupled  with an interest and shall be  irrevocable  for the term of
this  Agreement  and  thereafter  as long  as any of the  Obligations  shall  be
outstanding.

            (b)  On  a  continuing  basis,  the  Company  will  make,   execute,
acknowledge,  deliver, file and record, as the case may be, in the proper filing
and recording places in any jurisdiction,  including,  without  limitation,  the
jurisdictions  indicated on Schedule B, attached hereto,  all such  instruments,
and take all such action as may reasonably be deemed necessary or advisable,  or
as reasonably  requested by the Secured Party, to perfect the Security  Interest
granted  hereunder  and  otherwise  to carry out the intent and purposes of this



Agreement,  or for assuring  and  confirming  to the Secured  Party the grant or
perfection of a security interest in all the Collateral.

            (c) The Company hereby irrevocably appoints the Secured Party as the
Company's  attorney-in-fact,  with full  authority in the place and stead of the
Company and in the name of the Company, from time to time in the Secured Party's
discretion,  to take any action and to execute any instrument  which the Secured
Party may deem  necessary  or  advisable  to  accomplish  the  purposes  of this
Agreement,  including  the  filing,  in its  sole  discretion,  of  one or  more
financing or continuation statements and amendments thereto,  relative to any of
the Collateral without the signature of the Company where permitted by law.
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            (d)  The  Company  shall  execute  such  additional  agreements  and
documents necessary or advisable to accomplish the purposes of this Agreement.

      13.  Notices.  All  notices,  requests,  demands and other  communications
hereunder shall be in writing,  with copies to all the other parties hereto, and
shall be deemed to have been duly given when:  (a) if  delivered  by hand,  upon
receipt, (b) if sent by facsimile, upon receipt of proof of sending thereof, (c)
if sent by nationally recognized overnight delivery service (receipt requested),
the next  business day or (d) if mailed by  first-class  registered or certified
mail, return receipt requested,  postage prepaid, four days after posting in the
U.S. mails, in each case if delivered to the following addresses:

If to the Company:                       Digicorp
                                         100 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1750
                                         Santa Monica, California 90401
                                         Attention:  Chief Executive Officer
                                         Facsimile: (310) 752-1486

With a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

                                         Sichenzia Ross Friedman Ference LLP
                                         1065 Avenue of the Americas, 21st Floor
                                         New York, New York 10018
                                         Attention:  Marc J. Ross, Esq.
                                         Facsimile: (212) 930-9725

If to the Secured Party:                 Rebel Holdings, LLC
                                         6601 Center Drive West, Suite 200
                                         Los Angeles, California 90045
                                         Attention: Jay Rifkin
                                         Facsimile: (310) 499-4334

With a copy to:                          Danzig Kaye Cooper Fiore & Kay, LLP
                                         30A Vreeland Road
                                         Florham Park, New Jersey 07932
                                         Attention: David M. Kaye, Esq.
                                         Facsimile: (973) 443-0609

      14.  Other  Security.  To the  extent  that  the  Obligations  are  now or
hereafter  secured by property  other than the  Collateral or by the  guarantee,
endorsement or property of any other person, firm,  corporation or other entity,
then the Secured Party shall have the right, in its sole discretion,  to pursue,
relinquish,  subordinate,  modify or take any other action with respect thereto,
without in any way modifying or affecting any of the Secured  Party's rights and
remedies hereunder.
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      15. Miscellaneous.

            (a) No course of dealing  between the Company and the Secured Party,
nor any failure to  exercise,  nor any delay in  exercising,  on the part of the
Secured Party, any right,  power or privilege  hereunder or under the Note shall
operate as a waiver  thereof;  nor shall any single or partial  exercise  of any
right, power or privilege  hereunder or thereunder preclude any other or further
exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege.

            (b) All of the rights and remedies of the Secured Party with respect
to the  Collateral,  whether  established  hereby or by the Note or by any other



agreements,  instruments  or documents or by law shall be cumulative  and may be
exercised singly or concurrently.

            (c) This Agreement  constitutes the entire  agreement of the parties
with respect to the subject matter hereof and is intended to supersede all prior
negotiations,  understandings  and agreements  with respect  thereto.  Except as
specifically set forth in this Agreement,  no provision of this Agreement may be
modified or amended except by a written agreement specifically referring to this
Agreement and signed by the parties hereto.

            (d) In the event that any provision of this  Agreement is held to be
invalid,  prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction for any reason, unless
such provision is narrowed by judicial construction, this Agreement shall, as to
such jurisdiction,  be construed as if such invalid, prohibited or unenforceable
provision  had been more narrowly  drawn so as not to be invalid,  prohibited or
unenforceable.   If,  notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  any  provision  of  this
Agreement  is  held  to  be  invalid,   prohibited  or   unenforceable   in  any
jurisdiction,  such provision, as to such jurisdiction,  shall be ineffective to
the  extent  of  such  invalidity,   prohibition  or  unenforceability   without
invalidating the remaining  portion of such provision or the other provisions of
this  Agreement  and without  affecting the validity or  enforceability  of such
provision or the other  provisions of this Agreement in any other  jurisdiction.
(e) No waiver of any breach or default or any right under this  Agreement  shall
be  considered  valid  unless in  writing  and signed by the party  giving  such
waiver,  and no such waiver shall be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach or
default or right, whether of the same or similar nature or otherwise.

            (f) This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of
each party hereto and its successors and assigns.

            (g) Each  party  shall take such  further  action  and  execute  and
deliver such further  documents as may be necessary or  appropriate  in order to
carry out the provisions and purposes of this Agreement.

            (h) This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of
the State of  California,  except to the  extent  the  validity,  perfection  or
enforcement  of a security  interest  hereunder  in  respect  of any  particular
Collateral  which  are  governed  by a  jurisdiction  other  than  the  State of
California  in which  case such law shall  govern.  Each of the  parties  hereto
irrevocably  submit to the exclusive  jurisdiction  of any  California  State or
United States federal court sitting in the County of Los Angeles over any action
or  proceeding  arising out of or relating  to this  Agreement,  and the parties
hereto  hereby  irrevocably  agree that all claims in respect of such  action or
proceeding  may be heard and  determined  in such  California  State or  federal
court.  The  parties  hereto  agree that a final  judgment in any such action or
proceeding  shall be conclusive  and may be enforced in other  jurisdictions  by
suit on the judgment or in any other manner  provided by law. The parties hereto
further  waive  any  objection  to venue  in the  State  of  California  and any
objection to an action or  proceeding in the State of California on the basis of
forum non conveniens.
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            (i) EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY AGREES TO WAIVE ITS  RESPECTIVE  RIGHTS
TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION  BASED  UPON OR  ARISING  OUT OF
THIS AGREEMENT.  THE SCOPE OF THIS WAIVER IS INTENDED TO BE ALL  ENCOMPASSING OF
ANY DISPUTES THAT MAY BE FILED IN ANY COURT AND THAT RELATE TO THE SUBJECT MATER
OF THIS AGREEMENT,  INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION  CONTRACT CLAIMS,  TORT CLAIMS,
BREACH OF DUTY CLAIMS AND ALL OTHER COMMON LAW AND STATUTORY CLAIMS.  EACH PARTY
HERETO  ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THIS WAIVER IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT FOR EACH PARTY TO
ENTER INTO A BUSINESS  RELATIONSHIP,  THAT EACH PARTY HAS ALREADY RELIED ON THIS
WAIVER IN ENTERING INTO THIS AGREEMENT AND THAT EACH PARTY WILL CONTINUE TO RELY
ON THIS WAIVER IN THEIR RELATED FUTURE DEALINGS. EACH PARTY FURTHER WARRANTS AND
REPRESENTS  THAT IT HAS REVIEWED  THIS WAIVER WITH ITS LEGAL  COUNSEL,  AND THAT
SUCH  PARTY HAS  KNOWINGLY  AND  VOLUNTARILY  WAIVES  ITS RIGHTS TO A JURY TRIAL
FOLLOWING  SUCH  CONSULTATION.   THIS  WAIVER  IS  IRREVOCABLE,   MEANING  THAT,
NOTWITHSTANDING  ANYTHING HEREIN TO THE CONTRARY,  IT MAY NOT BE MODIFIED EITHER
ORALLY OR IN WRITING, AND THIS WAIVER SHALL APPLY TO ANY SUBSEQUENT  AMENDMENTS,
RENEWALS AND SUPPLEMENTS OR MODIFICATIONS  TO THIS AGREEMENT.  IN THE EVENT OF A
LITIGATION,  THIS AGREEMENT MAY BE FILED AS A WRITTEN  CONSENT TO A TRIAL BY THE
COURT.

(j) This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which



when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and, all of which taken
together shall constitute one and the same Agreement. In the event that any
signature is delivered by facsimile transmission, such signature shall create a
valid binding obligation of the party executing (or on whose behalf such
signature is executed) the same with the same force and effect as if such
facsimile signature were the original thereof.

                  [REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Security Agreement
to be duly executed on the day and year first above written.

                                                     DIGICORP

                                                      /s/ William B. Horne
                                                     --------------------------
                                                     William B. Horne
                                                     Chief Executive Officer

                                                     REBEL HOLDINGS, LLC

                                                      /s/ Jay Rifkin
                                                     --------------------------
                                                     Jay Rifkin
                                                     Managing Member
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                                   SCHEDULE A

Principal Place of Business of the Company:

100 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1750
Santa Monica, California 90401

Locations Where Collateral is Located or Stored:

100 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1750
Santa Monica, California 90401

                                       A-1

                                   SCHEDULE B

Jurisdictions:

Utah

                                       B-1



                              EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

      THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is made and entered into as of
September  30,  2005 (the  "Effective  Date") by and  between  Digicorp,  a Utah
corporation, with an office located at 100 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1750, Santa
Monica,  CA 90401 (the "Company") and Jay Rifkin,  an individual with an address
c/o Rebel Crew  Films,  Inc.,  4143  Glencoe  Avenue,  Marina Del Rey,  CA 90292
("Rifkin").

      WHEREAS,  the Company has entered into an agreement to acquire  Rebel Crew
Films Inc. (the "Rebel Acquisition"); and

      WHEREAS,  the  Company  desires  to retain the  services  of Rifkin as the
Company's Chief Executive  Officer and, in the event that the Rebel  Acquisition
is  consummated,  Rifkin  is  willing  to be  employed  by the  Company  in such
capacity.

      NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein,
the parties agree as follows:

      1.  Employment.  Upon the Effective  Date of this  Agreement,  Rifkin will
become the interim President of the Company, subject to termination of the Rebel
Acquisition.  Upon consummation of the Rebel Acquisition,  Rifkin will serve the
Company as its Chief Executive Officer and Rifkin does hereby accept, and Rifkin
hereby agrees to such engagement and employment as the Company's Chief Executive
Officer.  In  addition,  Rifkin  shall  be  elected  to the  Company's  Board of
Directors upon consummation of the Rebel Acquisition and, during the "Employment
Term" (as  defined  below),  shall  also serve as the  Chairman  of the Board of
Directors of the Company.

      2.  Duties.  Rifkin  shall be  responsible  for the  overall  development,
operations and corporate governance of the Company. In addition, Rifkin's duties
shall be such duties and responsibilities as the Company shall specify from time
to time, but only if and to the extent that such duties and responsibilities are
those  customarily  performed by the Chief Executive Officer of a company with a
business  commensurate  with  that  of  the  Company.  Rifkin  shall  have  such
authority,  discretion,  power  and  responsibility,  and shall be  entitled  to
office,  secretarial and other  facilities and conditions of employment,  as are
customary or appropriate to his position. Rifkin shall diligently and faithfully
execute and perform  such  duties and  responsibilities,  subject to the general
supervision  and control of the Company's  Board of  Directors.  Rifkin shall be
responsible and report to the Company's Board of Directors.  Rifkin shall devote
such amount of his time,  attention,  energy,  and skill during normal  business
hours to the  business  and  affairs of the  Company  as he may deem  reasonably
necessary to fulfill his responsibilities hereunder.

Nothing in this Agreement shall preclude Rifkin from devoting reasonable periods
required for:

            (a)  serving  as  a  director  or  member  of  a  committee  of  any
organization or corporation involving no conflict of interest with the interests
of the Company;
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            (b) serving as a consultant in his area of expertise (in areas other
than in connection with the business of the Company), to government, industrial,
business and academic  panels where it does not conflict  with the  interests of
the Company; and

            (c) managing his personal or family  investments  or engaging in any
other  non-competing  business;  provided that such activities do not materially
interfere with the regular performance of his duties and responsibilities  under
this Agreement.

      3.  Efforts of Rifkin.  During his  employment  and while  performing  his
services  hereunder,  Rifkin shall,  subject to the direction and supervision of
the Company's Board of Directors, use his business judgment, skill and knowledge
to  advance  the   Company's   interests   and  to  discharge   his  duties  and
responsibilities hereunder.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall
be construed as preventing Rifkin from investing his assets in any business.



      4.  Employment  Term. The term of this Agreement  shall commence as of the
Effective  Date and  shall,  unless  terminated  pursuant  to Section 12 of this
Agreement,  and continue for a term of three (3) years (the "Initial Term"), and
shall be  automatically  renewed for  successive  one (1) year terms (a "Renewal
Term") unless a party hereto  delivers to the other party written notice of such
party's intention not to renew at least thirty (30) days prior to the end of the
Initial  Term or the  applicable  Renewal  Term,  as the case may be.  The terms
"Initial  Term" and "Renewal  Term" are  collectively  referred to herein as the
"Employment Term."

      5. Compensation of Rifkin.

            (a)  Compensation.  As  compensation  for the  services  provided by
Rifkin under this  Agreement,  the Company shall pay Rifkin a base salary of One
Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($150,000) for the initial year of the Employment
Term (the "Initial Salary").  The parties acknowledge and agree that the Initial
Salary  does  not  represent  a  market  salary  for an  executive  of  Rifkin's
experience and is based upon the Company's early stage.  The Company agrees that
Rifkin's  salary for  subsequent  periods  should  take into  consideration  the
Company's growth and the market compensation for executives of Rifkin's caliber,
including compensation and benefits such as life insurance.  Irrespective of the
Company's growth, Rifkin's base salary shall increase at least 10% in the second
year of the  Employment  Term and at least  10% more for the  third  year of the
Employment  Term. The compensation of Rifkin under this Section shall be paid in
accordance with the Company's usual payroll procedures.

            (b) Stock  Options.  As a signing  bonus,  the  Company  has granted
Rifkin options from the Company's  existing  Stock Option and  Restricted  Stock
Plan to purchase 4,400,000 shares of the Company's common stock with an exercise
price of $0.85 per share (the fair market value on the grant date),  which stock
options shall vest  annually in equal  portions over a period of three (3) years
from the Effective  Date and shall expire five years after the  Effective  Date.
Rifkin acknowledges that such stock options were granted to him by the Company's
Board of  Directors  on  September  30,  2005.  Rifkin shall also be eligible to
receive shares of the Company's  authorized stock and options to purchase shares
of the Company's  authorized  stock from time to time as determined by the Board
of Directors.  Notwithstanding  the three (3) year term vesting of said options,
all of the options shall  immediately  vest on an accelerated  basis, and remain
exercisable  for a period of five (5) years from the Effective Date on the first
to occur of any of the following:  (i) any "change of control" of the Company or
its business including,  without limitation,  if Rifkin ceases to own a majority
of the  Company's  voting  securities,  (ii)  if the  employment  of  Rifkin  is
terminated by the Company  without  "Cause" (as defined below) or by Rifkin with
"Good  Reason"  (as  defined  below),  or (iii) if the  employment  of Rifkin is
terminated  upon the death or  disability  of Rifkin.  In addition,  the Company
hereby agrees to register its existing Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan on
a Form S-8 registration statement as soon as the Company is eligible to use such
form so Rifkin may,  subject to Rule 144 under the  Securities  Act of 1933,  as
amended,  exercise the above  options and freely sell the shares of common stock
obtained thereby in the public market.
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            (c) Bonus. In addition to the  compensation  under Sections 5(a) and
5(b) hereof,  Rifkin shall be eligible to receive an annual bonus  determined by
the Board of Directors based on the performance of the Company.

      6.  Benefits.  Rifkin shall also be entitled to participate in any and all
Company  benefit plans in effect from time to time for employees of the Company.
Such  participation  shall  be  subject  to the  terms  of the  applicable  plan
documents and shall include, without limitation health, vision, dental, life and
disability  insurance.  Rifkin shall also be entitled to receive a car allowance
as shall be reasonably determined by the Board of Directors.

      7. Vacation, Sick Leave and Holidays. Rifkin shall be entitled to four (4)
weeks of paid vacation during the first year of the Employment Term and five (5)
weeks per year  thereafter.  In addition,  Rifkin shall be entitled to such sick
leave  and  holidays  at full  pay in  accordance  with the  Company's  policies
established and in effect from time to time.

      8. Business Expenses.  The Company shall promptly reimburse Rifkin for all
reasonable  out-of-pocket  business  expenses  incurred in  performing  Rifkin's



duties and responsibilities hereunder in accordance with the Company's policies,
provided Rifkin promptly  furnishes to the Company adequate records of each such
business  expense.  Rifkin shall be entitled to  reimbursement  for  first-class
airfare and hotel for Company travel.

      9. Location of Rifkin's  Activities.  Rifkin's principal place of business
in the performance of his duties and  obligations  under this Agreement shall be
at a place no more than twenty (20) miles from the current  Santa Monica  office
of the Company.  Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, and subject to Rifkin's
availability,  Rifkin will engage in such travel as may be reasonably  necessary
or appropriate in furtherance of his duties hereunder.

      10. Confidentiality.  Rifkin recognizes that the Company has and will have
business affairs,  products,  future plans,  trade secrets,  customer lists, and
other vital  information  which is  valuable  to the  Company  because it is not
public  and not  required  by  applicable  law to be made  public  (collectively
"Confidential  Information")  that are valuable  assets of the  Company.  Rifkin
agrees  that he shall  not at any time or in any  manner  divulge,  disclose  or
communicate  any  Confidential  Information  to any third  party  (other than to
attorneys and advisors for the Company and/or Rifkin)  without the prior written
consent of the Company's Board of Directors.
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      11. Non-Competition. Rifkin acknowledges that he has gained, and will gain
extensive  knowledge in the  business  conducted by the Company and has had, and
will have, extensive contacts with customers of the Company. Accordingly, Rifkin
agrees that he shall not compete with the Company,  during the  Employment  Term
and, if the Company terminates his employment with Cause or if Rifkin terminates
his employment  without Good Reason,  then for an additional one (1) year period
immediately after such termination of Rifkin's  employment and shall not, during
such period,  make public  statements  in  derogation  of the  Company.  For the
purposes of this Section 11,  competing  with the Company shall mean engaging as
principal  owner,  officer,  partner,  consultant,  advisor,  either alone or in
association  with others,  in the operation of any entity  engaged in a business
which is similar to and competes  with the "Company  Business".  As used herein,
"Company  Business"  means the  distribution  of video  content  through  retail
marketing channels and peripheral hardware storage devices.

      12.  Termination.  Notwithstanding  any  other  provisions  hereof  to the
contrary,  Rifkin's  employment  hereunder  shall  terminate under the following
circumstances:

            (a) Voluntary  Termination by Rifkin. Rifkin shall have the right to
voluntarily  terminate this  Agreement and his employment  hereunder at any time
during the Employment Term.

            (b) Termination by Rifkin with "Good Reason".  Rifkin shall have the
right to  terminate  this  Agreement  and his  employment  hereunder  with "Good
Reason" at any time during the  Employment  Term. As used herein,  "Good Reason"
shall mean (i)  material  breach of this  Agreement  by the  Company  including,
without limitation,  any diminution in title,  office,  rights and privileges of
Rifkin or failure to receive base salary  payments on a timely basis pursuant to
Section 5(a) of this  Agreement;  (ii)  relocation  of the  principal  place for
Rifkin to provide his services  hereunder to any location  more than twenty (20)
miles away from 100 Wilshire  Boulevard,  Santa Monica,  California 90401; (iii)
failure of the Company to maintain in effect directors' and officers'  liability
insurance  covering Rifkin in compliance  with Paragraph  17(c) below;  (iv) any
assignment or transfer by the Company of any of its rights or obligations  under
this Agreement;  or (v) any change in control of the Company including,  without
limitation,  if Rifkin shall cease to own a majority of the voting securities of
the Company.

            (c)  Voluntary  Termination  by the  Company  Without  "Cause".  The
Company  shall  have the  right to  voluntarily  terminate  this  Agreement  and
Rifkin's employment hereunder at any time after the Initial Term. Termination of
Rifkin's employment pursuant to this Section 12(c) shall not be effective unless
the Company  shall have first  given  Rifkin a written  notice  thereof at least
thirty  (30) days  prior to the  annual  anniversary  of the  Effective  Date of
Rifkin's employment under this Agreement.

            (d)  Termination  for  Cause.  The  Company  shall have the right to
terminate  this  Agreement  and  Rifkin's  employment  hereunder at any time for



"Cause".  As used in this  Agreement,  "Cause"  shall  mean  (i)  continual  and
repeated  willful  refusal  by Rifkin to  substantially  implement  or adhere to
lawful policies or material directives of the Company's Board of Directors, (ii)
material  breach by Rifkin of this  Agreement,  (iii)  Rifkin's  conviction of a
felony that may have a material adverse impact on the Company's  reputation,  or
(iv) the criminal  misappropriation  by Rifkin of funds from or resources of the
Company.  Cause shall not be deemed to exist unless the Company shall have first
given Rifkin a written notice thereof  specifying in reasonable detail the facts
and circumstances  alleged to constitute "Cause" and thirty (30) days after such
notice such conduct  has, or such  circumstances  have,  as the case may be, not
ceased or been remedied.
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            (e)  Termination  Upon Death or for  Disability.  This Agreement and
Rifkin's employment hereunder shall automatically  terminate upon Rifkin's death
or upon written notice to Rifkin and  certification of Rifkin's  disability by a
qualified  physician or a panel of qualified  physicians  if Rifkin is unable to
perform the duties  contained in this  Agreement for a period beyond twelve (12)
months.

            (f)  Effect of  Termination.  In the event that this  Agreement  and
Rifkin's  employment is  voluntarily  terminated  by Rifkin  pursuant to Section
12(a) without Good Reason,  or in the event the Company  voluntarily  terminates
this Agreement pursuant to Section 12(c) or for Cause pursuant to Section 12(d),
all obligations of the Company and all duties,  responsibilities and obligations
of Rifkin under this Agreement shall cease. Upon such  termination,  the Company
shall:  (i) pay Rifkin such  compensation  pursuant to Section 5(a) equal to all
accrued  compensation  through the date of termination plus all accrued vacation
pay,  reimbursement  and bonuses,  if any; and (ii)  provide,  at the  Company's
expense,  coverage  (A) to  Rifkin  under  the  life,  accident  and  disability
insurance  policies  available to the senior executive  officers of the Company,
and (B) to  Rifkin  and his  dependents  under the  health,  dental  and  vision
insurance plans available to the Company's senior  executive  officers and their
dependents,  in each  case for a period of three  (3)  months  after the date of
termination  or, in the event any of such life,  accident,  disability,  health,
dental or vision  insurance  are not  continued  or Rifkin is not  eligible  for
coverage thereunder due to his termination of employment,  the Company shall pay
for the premiums for equivalent  coverage,  in any event,  for a period of three
(3)  months  after the date of  termination.  In the  event  this  Agreement  is
terminated by the Company  without Cause or by Rifkin with Good Reason,  or upon
the death or disability of Rifkin,  Rifkin shall be entitled to all compensation
pursuant to Section 5 for the period between the effective  termination  date to
the end of the  Employment  Term  pursuant  to  Section  4, plus all  applicable
vacation pay,  reimbursement and bonuses and the same insurance/health  benefits
described above,  but for the entire  remainder of the Employment Term.  Payment
will be made to Rifkin or Rifkin's appointed trustee.

      13. Resignation as Officer. In the event that Rifkin's employment with the
Company is terminated  for any reason  whatsoever,  Rifkin agrees to immediately
resign as an Officer of the Company,  absent some other agreement by the parties
to the contrary.

      14.  Governing  Law,  Jurisdiction  and  Venue.  This  Agreement  shall be
governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California
without  giving effect to any  applicable  conflicts of law  provisions  and all
actions and proceedings  relating hereto shall be brought  exclusively in courts
of competent jurisdiction located in Los Angeles County, California.

      15. Business  Opportunities.  During the Employment Term, Rifkin agrees to
bring to the attention of the Company's Board of Directors all written  business
proposals  that  come to  Rifkin's  attention  and all  business  or  investment
opportunities  of whatever nature that are created or devised by Rifkin and that
are within the scope of the Company Business.
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      16. Employee's  Representations  and Warranties.  Rifkin hereby represents
and  warrants  that he is not  under  any  contractual  obligation  to any other
company,  entity  or  individual  that  would  prohibit  or impede  Rifkin  from
performing his duties and  responsibilities  under this Agreement and that he is
free to enter into and perform the duties and responsibilities  required by this
Agreement.  Rifkin  hereby  agrees to  indemnify  and hold the  Company  and its



officers,  directors,  employees,  shareholders  and agents harmless from losses
they suffer as a result of his breach of the representations and warranties made
by Rifkin in this Section 16.

      17. Indemnification.

            (a) The  Company  agrees  that if  Rifkin  is  made a  party,  or is
threatened to be made a party, to any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil,
criminal,  administrative  or investigative (a  "Proceeding"),  by reason of the
fact that he is or was a  director,  officer or employee of the Company or is or
was  serving at the  request  of the  Company as a  director,  officer,  member,
employee or agent of another corporation,  partnership,  joint venture, trust or
other  enterprise,  including  service with respect to employee  benefit  plans,
whether or not the basis of such  Proceeding  is Rifkin's  alleged  action in an
official  capacity  while serving as a director,  officer,  member,  employee or
agent,  Rifkin  shall be  indemnified  and held  harmless  by the Company to the
fullest  extent  permitted  or  authorized  by  the  Company's   certificate  of
incorporation  or  bylaws  or,  if  greater,  by the laws of the  State of Utah,
against all cost,  expense,  liability and loss (including,  without limitation,
attorney's fees,  judgments,  fines, ERISA excise taxes or penalties and amounts
paid or to be paid in settlement)  reasonably  incurred or suffered by Rifkin in
connection therewith,  and such indemnification shall continue as to Rifkin even
if he has ceased to be a director,  member,  employee or agent of the Company or
other  entity and shall inure to the benefit of Rifkin's  heirs,  executors  and
administrators.  The Company shall advance to Rifkin to the extent  permitted by
law all  reasonable  costs and  expenses  incurred by his in  connection  with a
Proceeding  within 20 days after  receipt by the  Company of a written  request,
with appropriate documentation,  for such advance. Such request shall include an
undertaking by Rifkin to repay the amount of such advance if it shall ultimately
be determined  that he is not entitled to be indemnified  against such costs and
expenses.

            (b)  Neither  the  failure of the  Company  (including  its Board of
Directors,   independent   legal  counsel  or   stockholders)  to  have  made  a
determination prior to the commencement of any proceeding  concerning payment of
amounts  claimed by Rifkin that  indemnification  of Rifkin is proper because he
has met the applicable  standard of conduct,  nor a determination by the Company
(including its Board of Directors,  independent  legal counsel or  stockholders)
that Rifkin has not met such  applicable  standard of  conduct,  shall  create a
presumption that Rifkin has not met the applicable standard of conduct.

            (c) During the Employment Term, the Company shall maintain in effect
directors' and officers'  liability  insurance  covering  Rifkin,  with coverage
reasonably satisfactory to Rifkin.

            (d) Promptly  after  receipt by Rifkin of notice of any claim or the
commencement  of any  action  or  proceeding  with  respect  to which  Rifkin is
entitled to indemnity  hereunder,  Rifkin shall notify the Company in writing of
such claim or the  commencement  of such action or  proceeding,  and the Company
shall: (i) assume the defense of such action or proceeding;  (ii) employ counsel
reasonably  satisfactory  to  Rifkin;  and  (iii)  pay the  reasonable  fees and
expenses of such counsel.  Notwithstanding the preceding sentence,  Rifkin shall
be entitled to employ counsel separate from counsel for the Company and from any
other party in such action if Rifkin  reasonably  determines  that a conflict of
interest exists, which makes representation by counsel chosen by the Company not
advisable. In such event, the reasonable fees and disbursements of such separate
counsel for Rifkin shall be paid by the Company to the extent permitted by law.
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            (e) After the  termination of this Agreement and upon the request of
Rifkin, the Company agrees to reimburse Rifkin for all reasonable travel,  legal
and other out-of-pocket expenses related to assisting the Company to prepare for
or defend against any action, suit, proceeding or claim brought or threatened to
be brought against the Company or to prepare for or institute any action,  suit,
proceeding or claim to be brought or  threatened  to be brought  against a third
party arising out of or based upon the transactions  contemplated  herein and in
providing evidence,  producing documents or otherwise  participating in any such
action,  suit,  proceeding  or claim.  In the event Rifkin is required to appear
after  termination  of this  Agreement  at a judicial or  regulatory  hearing in
connection with Rifkin's  employment  hereunder,  or Rifkin's role in connection
therewith, the Company agrees to pay Rifkin a sum, to be mutually agreed upon by
Rifkin and the Company,  per diem for each day of his appearance and each day of



preparation therefor.

      18. Notices.  All demands,  notices,  and other communications to be given
hereunder,  if any, shall be in writing and shall be sufficient for all purposes
if personally  delivered,  sent by facsimile  (with  confirmation of receipt) or
sent by a recognized  overnight  courier  service or by United States  certified
mail,  return receipt  requested,  to the address below or such other address or
addresses as such party may hereafter designate in writing to the other party as
herein provided.

Company                                       Rifkin
Digicorp                                      c/o Rebel Crew Films, Inc.
100 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1750            4143 Glencoe Avenue
Santa Monica, CA 90401                        Marina del Rey, CA 90292
                                              With a mandatory copy to:
                                              Susan A. Wolf, Esq.
                                              Ervin, Cohen & Jessup LLP
                                              9401 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 900
                                              Beverly Hills, CA 90212

Any such notice shall be deemed given upon  personal  delivery,  upon receipt if
sent via facsimile,  upon delivery if by a recognized overnight courier service,
or upon receipt as shown on the United States mail return receipt.
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      19. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the
parties and there are no other  promises or conditions  in any other  agreement,
whether  oral or written with respect to the subject  matter  contained  herein.
This  Agreement  supersedes  any prior  written or oral  agreements  between the
parties  regarding the subject matter hereof.  This Agreement may be modified or
amended if the amendment is made in writing and is signed by both parties.  This
Agreement  is for the unique  personal  services of Rifkin to the Company and is
not assignable or delegable,  in whole or in part, by Rifkin or the Company. The
headings contained in this Agreement are for reference only and shall not in any
way affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.  If any provision of
this Agreement  (other than regarding  stock options,  compensation or benefits)
shall be held to be invalid  or  unenforceable  for any  reason,  the  remaining
provisions  shall  continue to be valid and  enforceable.  The failure of either
party to enforce any  provision  of this  Agreement  shall not be construed as a
waiver or limitation of that party's  right to  subsequently  enforce and compel
strict compliance with every provision of this Agreement.  This Agreement may be
executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original,
but all of which together shall  constitute one and the same  instrument and, in
pleading or proving any provision of this  Agreement,  it shall not be necessary
to produce more than one of such counterparts.

      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the day
and year first above written.

DIGICORP:

 /s/ William B. Horne                   /s/ Jay Rifkin
- ------------------------------         -----------------------------------------
William B. Horne,                      Jay Rifkin
Chief Financial Officer
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                                                                    EXHIBIT 21.1

                                  SUBSIDIARIES

      Rebel  Crew  Films,  Inc.,  a  California  corporation  and  wholly  owned
subsidiary of Digicorp.


